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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
In re:
IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V.1
Debtor in a Foreign Proceeding.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Chapter 15
Case No. 20-10666 (MEW)

DECLARATION OF VALERIE P. MARIA
IN SUPPORT OF THE VERIFIED PETITION UNDER CHAPTER 15 FOR
RECOGNITION OF A FOREIGN MAIN PROCEEDING AND
RELATED RELIEF AND EMERGENCY APPLICATION FOR PROVISIONAL RELIEF
I, Valerie P. Maria, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, hereby declare under penalty of perjury
as follows:
1.

I am the court-appointed bankruptcy trustee of IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V.

(“IIG TOF” or the “Fund”) and foreign representative of IIG TOF’s liquidation proceeding in
Curaçao (the “Curaçao Liquidation”) currently pending before the Court of First Instance of
Curaçao (the “Curaçao Court”) pursuant to the Faillissementsbesluit 1931 (as amended, the
“Curaçao Bankruptcy Act”).
2.

I am an individual over 21 years of age and am competent to testify and to provide

this declaration in support of the (i) Verified Petition for Recognition of Foreign Main Proceeding

1

The last four digits of IIG TOF’s company number are (5220). IIG TOF’s registered office is Blenchiweg 23,
Curaçao.
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and Related Relief (the “Verified Petition”), dated March 2, 2020 seeking the Court’s recognition
of the Curaçao Liquidation as a “foreign main proceeding” and for additional relief, under sections
1504, 1507, 1509, 1515, 1517, 1520 and 1521 of title 11 of the United States Code (the
“Bankruptcy Code”) and (ii) Emergency Application for Provisional Relief Pursuant to Sections
1519 and 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, dated March 2, 2020 (the “Provisional Relief
Application”).
3.

I have personal knowledge of the statements set forth in this Declaration or such

statements are based upon my personal knowledge of IIG TOF’s operations and financial
condition, my review of relevant records and documents, and from my conversations with relevant
personnel. Where I have been informed by others, the information is true to the best of my
knowledge and belief and I state the source of that information.
4.

I am a qualified attorney at law with over 16 years of relevant experience in

Curaçao. Previously, I was at Ernst & Young and primarily worked on corporate insolvency
matters. From 2013 until 2016, I was a deputy judge member of the Joint Court of Justice of
Aruba, Curaçao, Sint Maarten, and of Bonaire, Sint Eustatius, and Saba. I am the founder of VPM
Law, a Curaçao-based law firm that handles commercial cases before the Joint Court of Justice of
Aruba, Curaçao, Sint Maarten, and of Bonaire, Sint Eustatius, and Saba.
5.

I am qualified to serve as a bankruptcy trustee for bankruptcies commenced under

the Curaçao Bankruptcy Act and have been appointed to act as bankruptcy trustee in numerous
complex bankruptcies of Curaçao companies, including Plaza Hotel Management B.V. and
MOMA Foodstore Curaçao B.V. My office is located at Chuchubiweg 17 in Willemstad, Curaçao.
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IIG TOF Generally
6.

IIG TOF was incorporated as an open-ended investment company with limited

liability organized under the laws of Curaçao on December 27, 1996. IIG TOF was formed and
operates pursuant to Articles of Association.
7.

Prior to its entry into bankruptcy, IIG TOF’s registered office was at Blenchiweg

23, Willemstad, Curaçao.
8.

As set forth in the Fund’s Amended and Restated Confidential Information

Memorandum dated November 2013 (the “Offering Memo”), IIG TOF’s investment objective
was to provide high value returns by investing in financial instruments, such as debt and assetbacked securities, issued in connection with global trade finance transactions through a
professionally managed portfolio. Under normal market conditions, IIG TOF sought to achieve
its investment objective by investing primarily in short-term financial instruments issued in
connection with trade finance transactions on a global basis, with a particular focus on the Latin
American market.
9.

IIG TOF’s shareholders consist of qualified institutional investors, such as pension

funds, insurers, and hedge funds.
10.

IIG TOF’s creditors likewise span numerous jurisdictions, including Curaçao, the

United States, Europe, the Cayman Islands, and other offshore jurisdictions.
11.

IIG TOF entered into an investment advisory agreement dated August 1, 1998 with

The International Investment Group LLC (the “Investment Advisor”), pursuant to which the
Investment Advisor agreed to manage IIG TOF’s investments in accordance with the Fund’s
investment policies. The Investment Advisor was tasked with, among other things, (a) developing
IIG TOF’s investment strategy; (b) managing and reinvesting the Fund’s assets; (c) initiating
purchase and sale orders on behalf of the Fund; (d) procuring research and statistical data to IIG
-3-
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TOF in relation to investing; and (e) supervising the acquisition and disposition of investments on
behalf of the Fund. The Investment Advisor is incorporated in New Jersey, headquartered in New
York, New York, and was registered as an investment advisor with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). The Investment Advisor’s founders and principals are David Hu
(“Hu”) and Martin Silver (“Silver”).
12.

Prior to the Curaçao Liquidation, corporate activities for IIG TOF, including its

annual shareholder meetings, occurred in Curaçao. Curaçao was home to at least one of the Fund’s
board members, Cates Management, N.V. (“Cates”), a limited liability company organized under
Curaçao law, which acted on behalf of the IIG TOF through Ms. Ruby Cato, a Curaçao resident.
Events Giving Rise to IIG TOF’s Financial Distress
13.

According to my investigation into IIG TOF’s books and records, the Fund has

been in a state of financial decline for several years. IIG TOF last provided audited financial
information for the year ending December 31, 2013, which showed assets of $711,301,642 against
liabilities of $468,518,600. A true and correct copy of the Fund’s audited financials for the year
ending December 31, 2013 is attached hereto as Exhibit A.
14.

Unaudited financial statements indicate that the Fund’s gross and net asset values

have declined since 2013. For example, in 2015, the Fund reported unaudited year-end assets of
$614,699,100 against liabilities of $415,170,300. In 2016, the Fund reported unaudited assets of
$130,900,000 against liabilities of $27,300,000. Finally, as of February 2019, the Fund reported
unaudited assets of $64,700,000 against liabilities of $14,800,000. Although I have begun to
investigate such financial information, I have not yet fully confirmed the accuracy of same.
15.

On December 17, 2015, IIG TOF’s board of directors resolved to suspend paying

investor redemption requests (the “Suspension Resolution”). The Fund’s board cited (a) the
volume of redemption requests from the Fund’s investors (totaling approximately 36% of the
-4-
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Fund’s then-outstanding net asset value); (b) the Fund’s inability to obtain a long term extension
of the May 15, 2014 maturity dates from its $100 million senior credit and loan facilities (the
“Senior Debt”) from lenders the Inter-American Development Bank (“IADB”) and The OPEC
Fund for International Development (“OFID,” and together with IADB, the “Senior Debt
Holders”); and (c) the corresponding need to suspend redemptions until the then-outstanding
balance of principal and interest under the Senior Debt could be paid in full.
16.

At the time of the Suspension Resolution, IIG TOF reported total liabilities,

including the Senior Debt, in the amount of approximately $415,000,000, total assets in the amount
of approximately $615,000,000, and net assets in the amount of approximately $200,000,000, in
each case on an unaudited basis.
17.

In December 2016, the Senior Debt holders commenced a debt recovery action (the

“Senior Debt Litigation”) against IIG TOF in in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York, styled Inter-American Development Bank, et al v. IIG Trade Opportunities
Fund, N.V., (No. 16 9782 (PAE)) (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 9, 2016), seeking to recover the Fund’s thenoutstanding Senior Debt in the amount of $19.5 million.
18.

In July 2018, IIG TOF and the Senior Debt holders reached a settlement pursuant

to which IIG TOF agreed to pay the Senior Debt holders the aggregate amount of $22.4 million to
fully discharge its obligations under the Senior Debt, with payment of $15.4 million made
immediately and remaining amounts to be paid at a later date (the “Senior Debt Settlement
Agreement”).
19.

In November 2018, IIG TOF informed its registered shareholders that it had

retained an independent consultant to assist the Fund in winding down.
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On January 9, 2019, one of IIG TOF’s investors, Aggregator Solutions PLC

(“Aggregator”) filed an involuntary petition before the Curaçao Court to place IIG TOF into
bankruptcy. Aggregator argued that the Suspension Resolution was improper and cited IIG TOF’s
failure since March 2017 to redeem Aggregator’s 30,162.462 Class A shares in IIG TOF as
evidence that IIG TOF was unable to make payments of its debts when due.
21.

On February 13, 2019, IIG TOF and the Senior Debt Holders notified the court in

the Senior Debt Litigation that IIG TOF had made such payments required pursuant to the Senior
Debt Settlement Agreement. On February 20, 2019, each of the Senior Debt Holders and IIG TOF
stipulated and agreed to dismiss the Senior Debt Litigation with prejudice.
22.

On February 22, 2019, IIG TOF noticed an extraordinary general meeting of

shareholders to be held in Curaçao on March 8, 2019. The purpose of the extraordinary meeting
was to approve IIG TOF’s retention of Curaçao counsel to defend it from the involuntary petition
filed by Aggregator, the retention of U.S. counsel to defend the fund in a New York litigation with
Girobank N.V. and Girobank International N.V. (collectively, “Girobank”), and the dissolution
of the Fund through a voluntary liquidation in accordance with the Fund’s constitutive documents
and Curaçao law. IIG TOF did not obtain the requisite level of shareholder approval to commence
a voluntary liquidation.
23.

On March 22, 2019, the Curaçao Court denied Aggregator’s involuntary petition

on the grounds that redemption payments to Aggregator were not due and owing under the Articles
as a result of the Suspension Resolution.
24.

On April 1, 2019, Aggregator appealed the Curaçao Court’s decision to the Curaçao

Court of Appeal. Aggregator argued, among other things, that the Curaçao Court incorrectly
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concluded that the Suspension Resolution rendered payments to Aggregator not due and owing
under Curaçao law.
IIG TOF’s Entrance into Bankruptcy and My Appointment as Trustee
25.

On September 3, 2019, the Curaçao Court of Appeal ruled in favor of Aggregator

and entered a judgment (the “Bankruptcy Order”) declaring IIG TOF bankrupt and appointing
me as a trustee in bankruptcy. A true and correct copy of a certified translation the Bankruptcy
Order is attached hereto as Exhibit B.
26.

The Bankruptcy Order assigned the Honorable Ursula Luydens (the “Supervisory

Judge”) as the supervisory judge tasked with primary responsibility for monitoring and overseeing
my day-to-day actions in the Curaçao Liquidation.
27.

As the court-appointed trustee of IIG TOF, I have complete control over the

management of IIG TOF. I, alone, am empowered to pursue and enforce the rights, claims, and
interests of IIG TOF and act in its name, including in pre-bankruptcy legal proceedings concerning
rights or obligations of the Fund. Upon my appointment, I displaced IIG TOF’s pre-bankruptcy
directors and assumed all management responsibility for IIG TOF.
28.

I am also tasked with inventorying IIG TOF’s assets and liabilities and investigating

the events and circumstances leading to the Curaçao Liquidation. As part of that investigation, I
will need to obtain evidence from parties in the United States and other jurisdictions. At the time
IIG TOF was declared bankrupt, it had no cash or other liquid assets available to it in Curaçao.
29.

On September 6, 2019, I published notice of the Bankruptcy Order in the Official

Curaçao Gazette. IIG TOF’s investors were also advised of the Bankruptcy Order by the Fund’s
administrator, Trident Trust Company (Cayman) Ltd., via the Intralinks system.
30.

On September 11, 2019, I caused additional notice of the Bankruptcy Order to be

published in two local Curaçao newspapers.
-7-
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I also contacted the former directors of IIG TOF, including Ms. Ruby Cato, and the

principals of the Investment Advisor, Silver and Hu, as well as their respective counsel, for access
to IIG TOF’s books and records.
32.

On September 17, 2019, two Cayman-based funds also managed by the Investment

Advisor, IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd. (“GTFF”) and IIG Structured Trade Finance Fund
Ltd. (“STTF,” and together with GTFF, the “Trade Finance Funds”), filed a petition with the
Court of Appeals seated in Curaçao to challenge the Bankruptcy Order.
33.

On October 3, 2019, I published a letter to creditors and other parties updating them

on the status of the Curaçao Liquidation and the existence of the challenge to my appointment by
the Trade Finance Funds on my public website, https://vpm-law.com/iig-trade-opportunitiesfund/, to facilitate communications with interested parties regarding the Curaçao Liquidation.
34.

On November 12, 2019, I obtained approval from the Supervisory Judge to appoint

certain creditors of IIG TOF to serve on a creditors’ committee pursuant to Article 70 of the
Curaçao Bankruptcy Act.
35.

Following discussions with representatives of the Trade Finance Funds, on

November 27, 2019, the Trade Finance Funds agreed to withdraw their challenge to the
Bankruptcy Order issued by the Curaçao Court of Appeals. On that same day, I published notice
of the withdrawal of the challenge by the Trade Finance Funds on my public website.
36.

On December 4, 2019, by order of the Supervisory Judge overseeing the Curaçao

Liquidation, local Curaçao counsel for GTFF and STFF was added as a member of IIG TOF’s
preliminary creditor’s committee.
37.

On December 17, 2019, I filed my first quarterly report with the Curaçao Court in

accordance with the Curaçao Bankruptcy Act. This report set forth, among other items, IIG TOF’s
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assets, creditor picture, litigations, and various actions that I performed through the date of filing
the report in connection with administering and liquidating IIG TOF’s estate.
38.

On January 22, 2020, the Supervisory Judge approved my decision to seek

recognition of the Curaçao Liquidation in the United States under chapter 15 of the Bankruptcy
Code.
39.

I have conducted each of the tasks outlined above from my offices in Curaçao,

which has served as IIG TOF’s de facto headquarters since my appointment on September 3, 2019.
My investigation into IIG TOF’s assets and liabilities as well as the events and circumstances
leading to the Curaçao Liquidation remains ongoing.
The Fund’s New York Assets
40.

IIG TOF’s assets are located in numerous jurisdictions across Latin and South

America, the United States, Curaçao, other Islands in the Caribbean and in Europe. With respect
to the United States, the Fund owns a bank account at Bank Leumi USA (“Bank Leumi”) located
in New York, New York that contains approximately $789,000 (the “Bank Leumi Account”).
Given that IIG TOF has no liquid assets or cash on hand, the funds in the Bank Leumi Account
are a critical source of funds necessary to pay fees and expenses incurred in the ordinary course of
my efforts to protect and preserve IIG TOF’s estate.
41.

The Fund also owns a custody account with the Bank of New York Mellon located

in New York, New York, that contains documents (the “BNYM Custody Account”) and is
entitled to up to approximately $117,000 being held in an escrow account of Chaffetz Lindsey,
LLP, also in New York, New York (the “Escrow Funds”). Prior to filing the Verified Petition, I
caused a retainer in a nominal amount to be wire transferred to an account in the name of Reed
Smith LLP in New York, New York. Reed Smith LLP holds such funds as a security retainer. A

-9-
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true and correct copy of the Retainer Letter is attached hereto as Exhibit K. To date, I have not
uncovered any additional assets held by IIG TOF in the United States outside of the Bank Leumi
Account, BNYM Custody Account, the Client Trust Account, and the Escrow Funds.
Currently Pending New York Litigations
42.

IIG TOF and its former control parties are subject to multiple litigations in New

York. A summary of these litigations, based on my review of relevant materials in each litigation
and conversations with the parties involved therein, is set forth below.
A.

The Girobank Litigation

43.

On November 30, 2018, Girobank—the people’s bank of Curaçao—initiated an

arbitration proceeding, styled Girobank, N.V., et al. v. IIG Trade Opportunities Funds, N.V., et al.,
(ICC Case 24098/JPA) and pending before the International Chamber of Commerce in New York
(the “Girobank Arbitration”) against IIG TOF and certain affiliated parties, including IIG
Capital, LLC (“IIG Capital”) and the Investment Advisor (collectively, the “IIG Parties”), to
recover over $135 million in damages stemming from alleged improper conduct over the IIG
Parties’ purchase of certain controlling shares of Girobank, and the subsequent appointment of Hu
and Silver, as Girobank directors. Girobank is a retail bank organized in Curaçao that provides
banking services in Curaçao to Curaçao residents.
44.

Girobank alleges that, once Hu and Silver took control of Girobank’s controlling

shares as of September 2010, the IIG Parties sold Girobank approximately $93 million of
participation interest in worthless trade financing loans pursuant to a certain Master Participation
Agreement (“MPA”) drafted by Silver and Hu. Girobank claims that, pursuant to the MPA,
Girobank was to share in the proceeds of loans extended by IIG TOF that Girobank elected to
participate in. During several meetings with Girobank representatives, Hu and Silver purportedly
represented that the loans were appropriately vetted and legitimate and that the IIG Parties were
- 10 -
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holding Girobank’s funds “in trust.” Rather than comply with those obligations, Girobank claims
the Investment Advisor (a) used Girobank’s funds to pay investors in hedge funds controlled by
the Investment Advisor and (b) pledged Girobank’s collateral it owned as a result of its
participation interests in the trade finance loans to obtain additional loans.
45.

Girobank further alleges that Hu and Silver breached their fiduciary duties owed as

directors of Girobank and through their machinations, ultimately depleted the assets of IIG TOF.
46.

On April 11, 2019, Girobank commenced a special proceeding styled Girobank

N.V., v. IIG Trade Opportunities Fund, N.V., et al, No. 652135/2019 (the “Girobank Litigation”)
in New York state court to attach and restrain the IIG Parties’ assets in aid of the Girobank
Arbitration. On May 2, 2019, the parties to the Girobank Litigation entered into a court-ordered
stipulation, whereby the IIG Parties, including IIG TOF, agreed not to dispose of or transfer any
of their assets except “in the ordinary course of business,” which includes payment of rent, salaries,
professionals, counsel, and administrative expenses, during the pendency of the Girobank
Arbitration (the “Stipulated Attachment”). A true and correct copy of the Stipulated Attachment
is attached hereto as Exhibit C. My understanding is that Hu and Silver were singularly
responsible for causing each of the IIG Parties to enter into the Stipulated Attachment.
47.

Following commencement of the Curaçao Liquidation on September 3, 2019,

Girobank became subject to a stay of proceedings imposed by operation of the Curaçao
Bankruptcy Act. In or around December 2019, Girobank informed the court in the Girobank
Litigation that Girobank is no longer able to proceed against IIG TOF, but is reserving its rights to
assert claims against IIG TOF in the Curaçao Liquidation. Around that same time, the arbitration
panel in the Girobank Arbitration granted Girobank’s request for a 90 day stay of the arbitration
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until March 2, 2020. On February 4, 2020, the court in the Girobank Litigation marked the matter
disposed.
48.

I am currently engaged in ongoing discussions with Girobank’s representatives

relating to Girobank’s claims against IIG TOF, the Stipulated Attachment, and the effect of same
on the IIG TOF estate.
B.

The SEC Action Against The Investment Advisor

49.

In or around June 2018, the SEC served subpoenas on Hu and Silver seeking

documents and information relating to the Investment Advisor’s policies and asset valuations
relative to several funds managed by the Investment Advisor, including IIG TOF and the Trade
Finance Funds.
50.

On November 21, 2019, the SEC commenced an action styled SEC v. International

Investment Group, LLC, No. 1:19-cv-10796 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 21, 2019) (the “SEC Action”) against
the Investment Advisor. A true and correct copy of the SEC’s complaint against the Investment
Advisor in the SEC Action is attached hereto as Exhibit D. The SEC alleged that the Investment
Advisor, through its principals, Hu and Silver, engaged in deceptive acts to hide losses in its
portfolio, prop up liquidity, and manufacture loans. For example, Hu and Silver were alleged to
have grossly overstated the value of defaulted loans in the IIG TOF portfolio to conceal losses in
the fund. When it became untenable to carry the defaulted loans on IIG TOF’s books, Hu and
Silver allegedly replaced the defaulted loans with fake substitute loans purportedly extended to
borrowers operating in industries controlled by a business associate of the Investment Advisor.
The SEC claimed that the Investment Advisor received inflated management and performance fees
as a result of these purported manipulations.
51.

The SEC alleged additional misconduct by the Investment Advisor with respect to

one of its open-end mutual fund’s that was marketed to retail investors (the “Retail Fund”).
- 12 -
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Specifically, the Investment Advisor recommended that the Retail Fund invest in participation
interests in trade finance loans originated by the Investment Advisor, including a loan to an
Argentine borrower. In or around February 2017, the Argentine borrower defaulted on its $6
million loan obligation. The Investment Advisor purportedly used funds from an account under
its control to satisfy the Argentine borrower’s $6 million obligation, thereby making such borrower
appear creditworthy and deserving of an additional $6 million investment from the Retail Fund.
After the Retail Fund purchased an additional $6 million in participation interests in March 2017,
the Investment Advisor allegedly diverted those monies to reimburse the same account it had
raided. The SEC claimed that Hu and Silver “directed” and “spearheaded” all of the misconduct
alleged in the litigation.
52.

Accordingly, the SEC alleged that the Investment Advisor violated sections 206(1)

and 206(2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940; section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder; and section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933.
53.

On November 26, 2019, the Investment Advisor consented to a Judgment and

Preliminary Asset Freeze Order with the SEC that, among other things, (i) enjoins the Investment
Advisor from future violations of federal securities laws; (ii) imposes a preliminary freeze over
the assets of the Investment Advisor; (iii) ordered the Investment Advisor to pay civil monetary
penalties and disgorgement of ill-gotten gains in an amount to be determined; (iv) revokes the
Investment Advisor’s investment adviser registration with the SEC; and (v) orders a litigation stay
on any lawsuits involving the Investment Advisor (the “Litigation Stay”) or its assets, including
the Girobank Litigation, pending a final determination by the court of the amount of monetary
relief owed by the Investment Advisor (the “SEC Order”). The Investment Advisor further
agreed that it would not argue that it did not commit the securities laws violations alleged by the
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SEC and would not challenge the validity of the SEC Order. A true and correct copy of the SEC
Order is attached hereto as Exhibit E.
54.

On January 28, 2020, the SEC informed the court that the parties to the SEC Action

reached a settlement in principal as to the amount of monetary relief owed by the Investment
Advisor.
55.

On February 27, 2020, Bank Leumi intervened in the SEC Action for purposes of

obtaining relief from that portion of the SEC Order freezing the accounts of the Investment Advisor
and related parties (the “Bank Leumi Intervention Action”). True and correct copies of Bank
Leumi’s motion papers in the SEC Action are attached hereto as composite Exhibit F. Bank
Leumi acted as one of the primary banks for the Investment Advisor (and its affiliates) and the
finance business it managed through (i) multiple investment funds, including IIG TOF, (ii) IIG
Trade Finance, the entity that structured the trade finance loans, and (iii) Trade Finance Trust, the
trust entity that would disburse loan proceeds to the trade finance borrowers and receive the
borrowers’ principal and interest payments on behalf of IIG TOF and the other investment funds.
As such, Bank Leumi has represented that it is holding “over $20 million in deposits” for multiple
entities across the IIG network. I am aware of at least one account at Bank Leumi in the name of
IIG TOF, with a balance of approximately $789,000 and IIG TOF may be entitled to other monies
held at Bank Leumi as well.
56.

In the SEC Action, Bank Leumi claims that IIG Trade Finance is indebted to the

bank in the amount of at least $200,000 on account of an unpaid Line of Credit Note that the bank
extended to IIG Trade Finance in November 2017 at the request of Silver. Bank Leumi further
claims that it holds a perfected, first-priority security interest and lien on all assets of IIG Trade
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Finance, including any “receivables” owed to IIG Trade Finance by IIG TOF or Trade Finance
Trust.
57.

On this basis, Bank Leumi has asked the court in the SEC Action for partial relief

from the SEC Order and to enter an order that, relevant for these purposes, (i) causes the
Investment Advisor to account for all monies due and payable to IIG Trade Finance by IIG TOF,
the other investment funds, and Trade Finance Trust and (ii) authorizes Bank Leumi to take funds
up to the amount of $200,000 from any account maintained at Bank Leumi by IIG TOF, the other
investment funds, and Trade Finance Trust. Bank Leumi has requested this relief despite the fact
that the Investment Advisor no longer has any authority to act on behalf of IIG TOF, let alone
issue an accounting of its obligations. Moreover, Bank Leumi does not identify any outstanding
debt owed by IIG TOF to IIG Trade Finance, beyond declaring that such obligation exists “upon
information and belief.” Initial opposition papers in the Bank Leumi Intervention Action are due
by no later than March 6, 2020.
C.

The IIG Trade Finance Funds’ Litigation

58.

On August 22, 2019, an investor in GTFF presented a petition for involuntary

liquidation to the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands (“Cayman Court”) seeking the winding up
of GTFF. The investor alleged that GTFF failed to satisfy the investor’s redemption notice in
respect of $5 million of its shares in GTFF, thereby turning the investor into a bona fide creditor
of GTFF and demonstrating GTFF’s insolvency.
59.

On September 22, 2019, the directors of STFF passed a resolution appointing

Arthur G. Jakoby as interim liquidator of the fund.
60.

On October 23, 2019, the Cayman Court entered an order directing the winding up

of GTFF and the appointment of Alexander Lawson and Christopher Kennedy (the “GTFF
Liquidators”) as joint official liquidators of GTFF.
- 15 -
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On December 4, 2019, an investor of STFF filed an application with the Cayman

Court seeking an order that STFF be wound up.
62.

On December 27, 2019, the GTFF Liquidators, along with STFF, commenced an

action against IIG TOF styled IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd., et al v. IIG Trade
Opportunities Fund N.V., No. 657724/2019 in New York state court (the “Trade Finance Funds
Litigation”). In that litigation, the Trade Finance Funds seek an entry of judgment pursuant to
section 3213 of the New York Civil Practice Law and Rules (“CPLR”) against IIG TOF in the
amount of $14,339,479.97 (the “Trade Finance Funds Motion”). A true and correct copy of the
Trade Finance Funds Motion is attached hereto as Exhibit G.
63.

Specifically, the Trade Finance Funds allege that on July 17, 2018 they entered into

a $16,000,000 promissory note (the “TOF Cayman Note”) with IIG TOF’s wholly-owned
subsidiary, TOF Cayman SPV (“TOF Cayman”). The TOF Cayman Note was secured by a
security agreement between TOF Cayman and the Trade Finance Funds. Under the TOF Cayman
Note, the Trade Finance Funds allegedly extended $14,339,479.97 in loan proceeds to TOF
Cayman (the “TOF Cayman Loan”). TOF Cayman was required to use the proceeds of the TOF
Cayman Loan to repay the balance of certain obligations owed by TOF Cayman to one of its
creditors, IADB. As partial security for the TOF Cayman Loan, IIG TOF purportedly guaranteed
full repayment of the TOF Cayman Loan pursuant to a separate guarantee agreement also dated
July 17, 2018 (the “IIG TOF Guarantee”). The Trade Finance Funds allege that, despite duly
noticed demands for re-payment, IIG TOF has not paid any principal or interest amounts
purportedly due under IIG TOF Guarantee.
64.

The lending transaction at issue in the Trade Finance Motion is a related party

transaction overseen by Hu and Silver. For example, Hu and Silver were the signatories on the
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TOF Cayman Note for the Trade Finance Funds and TOF Cayman, also signed the Security
Agreement on behalf of those loan parties, were similarly the signatories for both IIG TOF and the
Trade Finance Funds in respect of the IIG TOF Guarantee, and, upon information and belief,
caused the investment guidelines of the Trade Finance Funds to be formally amended in order to
enter into the transaction.
65.

On January 6, 2020, the GTFF Liquidators filed a separate petition with the Cayman

Court seeking the winding up of TOF Cayman as a consequence of its purported non-payment of
the same amounts due under the TOF Cayman Loan.
66.

On January 17, 2020, the GTFF Liquidators filed a chapter 15 Petition for

Recognition of GTFF’s Cayman insolvency proceeding as a foreign main proceeding. A true and
correct copy of the Verified Petition for Recognition of Foreign Insolvency Proceedings and
Application for Additional Relief, filed by the GTFF Liquidators on January 17, 2020, and the
Court’s Order granting Recognition and Relief dated February 19, 2020 is attached hereto as
Exhibit H.
67.

On February 19, 2020, following a recognition hearing, this Court granted the

GTFF Liquidators’ chapter 15 Petition and ordered the following relief: (i) recognizing GTFF’s
Cayman insolvency proceeding as a foreign main proceeding; (ii) granting relief and protection
afforded under sections 1520 and 362 of the Bankruptcy Code to GTFF and its property; (iii)
empowering the GTFF Liquidators to transfer funds or property belonging to GTFF into our out
of the United States, issue subpoenas for the examination of witnesses and/or the production of
documents, take possession of any documents belonging to GTFF, and operate the business of
GTFF and administer the fund’s assets.
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On February 14, 2020, my United States counsel entered into a stipulation with

counsel to GTFF and STFF regarding the Trade Finance Litigation (the “Stipulation”). A true
and correct copy of the Stipulation is attached hereto as Exhibit I. Pursuant to the Stipulation, IIG
TOF has until March 7, 2020 to oppose or otherwise respond to the Trade Finance Motion.
69.

If the Trade Finance Litigation and Bank Leumi Intervention Action are not stayed,

IIG TOF and the Curaçao Liquidation will be irreparably harmed.
70.

First, actions taken by creditors to assert claims against IIG TOF outside of the

Curaçao Liquidation threaten the orderly reconciliation of IIG TOF’s creditor claims in a single
centralized forum. The Curaçao Bankruptcy Act automatically imposes a moratorium on creditors
from filing lawsuits against a bankrupt debtor from and after its declaration of bankruptcy. In
addition, the Curaçao Bankruptcy Act requires the trustee to establish a process pursuant to which
creditors, wherever located, may file their claims against the bankrupt’s estate for determination
by the trustee under the supervision of the Curaçao Court. The Curaçao Bankruptcy Act provides
that the claims validation process should be the exclusive means for unsecured creditors and other
parties-in-interest to assert their claims against a debtor in liquidation. Notwithstanding the
existence of the moratorium and a claims process in connection with the Curaçao Bankruptcy Act,
the Trade Finance Funds and Bank of Leumi commenced the Trade Finance Litigation and Bank
of Leumi Intervention Action. If those parties were to proceed, it would irreparably undermine
Curaçao’s principle of providing equal treatment to creditors holding similar claims through the
adjudication of their claims in a single, centralized forum.
71.

Second, IIG TOF and the Curaçao Liquidation will suffer irreparable harm if I am

forced to respond to the Trade Finance Litigation and Bank of Leumi Intervention Action without
having had a sufficient opportunity to evaluate potential defenses relating to the allegations
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asserted therein. Since my appointment, I have not yet had time to meaningfully confer with Hu
and Silver or the other individuals that negotiated and executed the TOF Cayman Note, IIG TOF
Guarantee, or Security Agreement. I have also been unable to access or review the appropriate
files and correspondence relating to these agreements.
72.

Third, IIG TOF and the Curaçao Liquidation will suffer irreparable harm if I am

forced to expend significant time, energy and costs defending the Trade Finance Litigation and
Bank of Leumi Intervention Action, thereby further depleting an already limited pool of available
resources. Devoting significant time and energy to reviewing materials related to the Trade
Finance Litigation and Bank of Leumi Intervention Action will prevent me from addressing other
pressing matters that would otherwise require my undivided attention, to the detriment of all
creditors of IIG TOF. In addition, instructing U.S. counsel to prepare an emergency response and
continue to defend the Trade Finance Litigation and Bank of Leumi Intervention Action would, in
my judgment, divert funds from the estate’s already limited pool of available resources that would
be better deployed elsewhere to maximize value for all creditors.
73.

I will not have the requisite knowledge or information necessary to evaluate the

allegations and defenses in the Trade Finance Litigation and Bank of Leumi Intervention Action
by this impending deadline. In the event IIG TOF is forced to file its opposition to the Trade
Finance Motion by March 7, and the Bank of Leumi application by March 6, I will be forced to
expend significant time, resources, and costs preparing emergency responses. This will further
deplete an already limited pool of available resources and assets.
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Information Pursuant to Section 1515 of the
Bankruptcy Code and Rule 1007(a)(4) of the Bankruptcy Rules
74.

In compliance with section 1515(c) of the Bankruptcy Code, I hereby declare that

there are two foreign proceedings (as such term is defined in section 101(23) of the Bankruptcy
Code) pending with respect to IIG TOF that are known to me (i) the Curaçao Liquidation; and (ii)
a recognition proceeding that I caused IIG TOF’s counsel in Malta to commence in late February
2020, before the First Hall of the Civil Court in Malta, to obtain recognition of the Curaçao
Liquidation in Malta.
75.

In compliance with Rule 1007(a)(4) of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure

(“Bankruptcy Rules”), a schedule of known and pending actions in the United States in which
IIG TOF is named as a party (the “US Litigations”) is attached hereto as Exhibit J, together with
the disclosures required under Bankruptcy Rule 7007.1. IIG TOF is seeking provisional relief
under section 1519 of the Bankruptcy Code against parties also set forth in Exhibit J.
76.

I am authorized to act on behalf of IIG TOF in defending against or prosecuting the

US Litigations.
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of
the United States of America that the foregoing is true and correct to the best of my information
and belief.
Executed:

Willemstad, Curaçao
March 2, 2020

/s/ Valerie Maria
Ms. Valerie P. Maria LLM
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Investment adviser’s report
To the Shareholders of the IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V.
In 2013, although the overall liquidity available for trade finance increased relative to the historic lows
reached at the peak of the global financial crisis, credit remained scarce as a result of two primary factors:
(1) European banks, the main providers of trade financing worldwide, needing to reduce up to US$4.5
trillion in assets by 2014 and (2) regulatory constraints. According to estimates, over time, the regulatoryinduced reduction in global trade financing could reach significant levels (estimated at approximately
US$200 - US$300 billion) once Basel III is fully implemented.
Further, and unfortunately, the limited liquidity available to the trade finance sector did not reach the small
and medium size enterprises (SME’s), especially in Latin America. According to the Organization for
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), less than 15% of lending in Latin America goes to
SMEs, even though 99% of businesses in the region are SMEs and these businesses generate almost
80% of jobs in the region. One of the reasons identified by the OECD in its 2013 report, “Latin American
Economic Outlook: SME Policies For Structural Change,” is that the growth in multi-service banking and
the concentration of assets in the region’s largest banks have been instrumental in shutting out SMEs.
These businesses worldwide have difficulty gaining access to financing unless they have an established
relationship with a bank, and large multi-service banks, which are the primary providers of liquidity, are
usually less open to building relationships with SMEs.
This situation continues to be a challenge for the IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V. (the “Fund”), as it
seeks to generate additional liquidity. However, despite the tight credit environment, with the help of
Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. acting as placement agent, IIG completed a pioneering securitization of
non-bank Latin America-based trade finance loans, which helped generate significant liquidity for the
Fund. An overwhelming majority (more than 81%) of the Fund’s investors elected to participate in this
Program. Consequently, and at the recommendation of the Fund’s Board of Directors, the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders approved the Fund’s restructuring plans which resulted in the creation of a new
class of shares, the Class A Investor shares, and the former Investors shares were renamed Class B
Investor shares.
We wish to express our heartfelt gratitude to all of our investors for their continued support.
March 20, 2015
The International Investment Group L.L.C.
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Curaçao

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of IIG Trade
Opportunities Fund N.V. and its subsidiaries (together the “Companies”), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position, including the consolidated schedule of investments,
as at December 31, 2013, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in net
assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our qualified audit opinion.
Basis for qualified opinion
As discussed in note 3 to the financial statements, the Companies have an investment in
Girobank N.V. whose fair value has been estimated by management, in the absence of readily
available market prices, at USD52 million at December 31, 2013. The carrying value at
December 31, 2013 includes USD2 million accounted for as the Companies’ share of profit of
Girobank N.V. (“share of profit”) in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year ended December 31, 2013.

KPMG Accountants B.V., a Curaçao limited liability company with
branches elsewhere and member firm of the KPMG network of
independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International
Cooperative ("KPMG International"), a Swiss entity.
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We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the fair value of this
investment and the share of profit, in the absence of audited financial statements of Girobank
N.V. or any other recent financial information relating to this investment. We were unable to
perform sufficient alternative procedures to obtain appropriate evidence about fair value of this
investment and the share of profit. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any
adjustments were necessary to the carrying value of the investment or to the share of profit, as
presented in the accompanying financial statements. Any adjustments to the carrying amount of
the investment in Girobank N.V. or the share of profit at December 31, 2013 would have an
effect on the carrying amount of the investment in equity accounted investees and on net assets
attributable to holders of redeemable shares at December 31, 2013, and total comprehensive
income for the year then ended. The potential impact of any such adjustments has not been
quantified.
Qualified opinion
In our opinion, except for effect of adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be
necessary had we been able to satisfy ourselves as to the carrying value of the above mentioned
investment or the share of profit, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material aspects, the consolidated financial position of the Companies as at December 31, 2013,
and their consolidated financial performance and their consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Emphasis of matter
Without qualifying our opinion we draw attention to the following matters described in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements:
- As mentioned in note 9 (investing activities and associated risks) in which the risks associated
with the financial instruments are discussed, the Companies provide revolving trade finance
facilities to small and medium-sized entities, which generally may be considered relatively
illiquid and high risk. A direct or indirect weakening in the current market conditions may
have further negative effects on the financial situation of borrowers and may further affect
their ability to repay amounts owed to the Companies. Additionally, several of the debt
instruments may be backed by various types of collateral, which are not liquid or for which
independent market valuations are not available.
- As mentioned in note 1 (summary of significant accounting policies), in light of the
Companies’ anticipated liquidity needs and items noted in the preceding paragraph, there is
uncertainty about the ability of the Companies to continue as a going concern. However,
considering the actions taken by the Companies and planned future actions further disclosed
in note 1 (going concern basis) and in note 16 (subsequent events), the accounting principles
applied by management are based on the assumption that the Companies will be able to
continue as a going concern.
Curaçao
March 20, 2015
KPMG Accountants B.V.

Liliana Garcia, CPA
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Consolidated statement of financial position
as at December 31, 2013
2013

2012

(in US dollars)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 2)
Short-term investments (note 1)
Receivable for debt instruments matured
Debt instruments: trade related financing (note 10)
Interest receivable
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale (notes 2, 9)
Investments in equity accounted investees (note 3)
Derivative financial instruments (note 11)
Other assets (note 7)

186,839,530
14,614,952
299,870
376,648,672
22,081,516
45,844,866
52,200,549
863,705
12,007,982

16,832,029
15,114,086
213,038
367,664,960
26,372,690
26,212,281
50,130,549
555,156
1,496,536

Total assets

711,401,642

504,591,325

Liabilities
Term deposits and call accounts (note 1)
Revolving credit facility and loan (note 5)
Debt notes (note 12)
Amounts due to Central Bank of Malta (note 1)
Management and performance fees payable (note 6)
Administrative fees payable
Directors’ fees payable
Deferred income
Redemptions payable
Interest payable
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other current liabilities

80,987,850
100,000,000
187,000,000
12,464,565
21,712,269
254,475
62,500
58,741
58,642,581
3,243,512
3,234,194
857,913

43,713,008
86,000,000
20,278,885
23,800,805
132,072
12,500
81,856
62,216
835,294
2,908,085
373,695

Total liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to
shareholders)

468,518,600

178,198,416

Net assets attributable to (note 4):
10,000 (2012: 10,000) Management non-redeemable shares
544,311.54 (2012: 0) Class A redeemable shares
182,395.02 (2012: 1,065,216.06) Class B redeemable shares
0 (2012: 16,583.22) Class S shares (note 15)

10,000
174,379,727
58,500,608
-

10,000
322,114,326
4,268,583

232,890,335

326,392,909

9,992,707

-

242,883,042

326,392,909

1.00
320.37
320.74
-

1.00
302.39
257.40

Non-controlling interest (note 1)
Total net assets
Net asset value per Management share
Net asset value per Class A share
Net asset value per Class B share
Net asset value per Class S share

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Consolidated schedule of investments
as at December 31, 2013
% of net
assets

Principal

Value

(in US dollars)

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale
Malta government debt securities

18.88%

43,745,432

45,844,866

Total financial assets classified as available-for-sale

18.88%

43,745,432

45,844,866

Discount papers
Frozen Beef, maturity 4/30/2015
Powdered Milk, maturities 12/27/2013¹ – 12/01/2014
Cotton Products, maturities 01/21/2014 – 7/21/2014
Soybean Meal, maturities 12/23/2013¹ – 4/30/2015
Soybean Oil, maturities 8/31/2014 – 4/30/2015
Soybean Pellets, maturity 8/31/2014
Energy, maturity 3/31/2014
Sunflower, maturity 8/31/2014
Tobacco, maturities 03/03/2014 – 03/31/2014
Poultry, maturities 12/30/2013¹ – 03/09/2015
Wheat Pellets, maturities 11/29/2013¹ – 04/01/2014
Glass Products, maturity 03/31/2014
Juice Concentrates, maturities 01/13/2014 – 08/11/2014
Steel Products, maturities 03/31/2014 – 09/01/2014
Biofuel, maturities 08/31/2014 – 04/30/2015
Sugar, maturities 04/07/2014 – 10/03/2014
Fertilizers, maturities 05/12/2014 – 09/08/2014
Dairy Products, maturities 01/06/2014 – 06/30/2014
Chemicals, maturity 03/31/2014
Petrochemicals, maturity 03/31/2014
Ferroalloys, maturity 03/31/2014
Grains, maturity 07/07/2014

12.50%
11.51%
8.91%
8.78%
7.68%
5.13%
4.32%
4.32%
3.04%
2.88%
2.56%
2.32%
1.61%
1.60%
1.59%
1.22%
1.21%
1.21%
0.69%
0.67%
0.56%
0.24%

30,347,486
27,950,115
21,638,802
21,332,587
18,656,692
12,469,942
10,499,999
10,496,188
7,378,477
6,981,536
6,212,160
5,639,738
3,909,412
3,871,621
3,850,921
2,965,370
2,942,101
2,941,799
1,681,180
1,632,858
1,357,550
590,065

30,347,486
27,950,115
21,638,802
21,332,587
18,656,692
12,469,942
10,499,999
10,496,188
7,378,477
6,981,536
6,212,160
5,639,738
3,909,412
3,871,621
3,850,921
2,965,370
2,942,101
2,941,799
1,681,180
1,632,858
1,357,550
590,065

Total discount papers

84.55%

205,346,599

205,346,599

Debt instruments: trade related financing (note 10)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Consolidated schedule of investments
as at December 31, 2013
% of net
assets

Principal

10.41%
7.99%
7.57%
6.93%
6.11%
5.76%
3.58%
3.30%
1.68%

25,286,368
19,405,715
18,375,513
16,839,234
14,848,248
14,000,000
8,684,978
8,024,344
4,084,733

25,286,368
19,405,715
18,375,513
16,839,234
14,848,248
14,000,000
8,684,978
8,024,344
4,084,733

0.86%
0.31%
0.11%
0.03%

2,095,085
741,851
268,407
61,396

2,095,085
741,851
268,407
61,396

54.64%

132,715,872

132,715,872

8.41%
3.71%
1.41%
1.33%
1.03%

20,432,004
9,009,850
3,427,898
3,220,923
2,495,526

20,432,004
9,009,850
3,427,898
3,220,923
2,495,526

Total advances floating rates

15.89%

38,586,201

38,586,201

Total advances

70.53%

171,302,073

171,302,073

155.08%

376,648,672

376,648,672

Value

(in US dollars)

Debt instruments: trade related financing (note 10)
Advances fixed rates
Metals, maturities 03/11/2014 – 03/31/2015
Copper Wire, maturities 07/31/2014 – 03/31/2015
Frozen Shrimps, maturity 12/29/2014
Copper, maturities 07/31/2014 – 03/31/2015
Frozen Seafood, maturities 07/31/2014 – 11/30/2014
Aviation, maturity 07/31/2014
Grains, maturities 06/30/2014 – 03/31/2015
Aluminum, maturities 10/31/2014 – 03/31/2015
Sesame Seeds, maturities 02/03/2014 – 03/31/2014
Sunflower seeds, oil & Meal, maturities 01/15/2014 –
01/31/2014
Corn, maturity 9/1/2014
Poultry, maturities 6/9/2014 – 3/9/2015
Soybean meal, maturity 2/11/2014
Total advances fixed rates
Advances floating rates
Insurance, maturity 12/05/2014
Frozen Shrimp, maturities 07/17/2014 – 10/27/2014
Frozen Seafood, maturities 09/21/2014 – 11/30/2014
Leather, maturity 04/30/2015
Wood products, maturities12/18/2013¹ – 05/05/2014

Debt instruments: trade related financing

¹ Debt instruments with the total amount of US$4.4 million have expired prior to December 31, 2013, of
which a total amount of US$2.0 million have been paid within 30 days after December 31, 2013 and the
remaining of US$2.4 million paid subsequent to that. Interest was accrued through to payment date for
all of these debt instruments.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Consolidated schedule of investments
as at December 31, 2012
% of net
assets**

Principal

Value

Malta government debt securities

8.13%

25,365,003

26,212,281

Total financial assets classified as available-for-sale

8.13%

25,365,003

26,212,281

Discount papers
Frozen Beef, maturity 02/28/2013
Soybean Oil, maturities 01/28/2013 – 08/30/2013
Biofuel, maturities 02/28/2013 – 08/30/2013
Cotton Products, maturities 01/15/2013 – 06/28/2013
Powdered Milk, maturities 01/02/2013 – 08/01/2013
Soybean Meal, maturities 02/28/2013 – 12/23/2013
Cheese products, maturities 01/02/2013 – 09/02/2013
Tobacco, maturities 01/02/2013 – 06/30/2013
Energy, maturity 02/09/2013
Wheat Pellets, maturities 02/13/2013 – 01/28/2014
Fertilizers, maturities 02/18/2013 – 09/16/2013
Poultry, maturities 01/03/2013 – 05/06/2013
Soy Beans, maturities 01/02/2013 – 07/01/2013
Juice Concentrates, maturities 03/01/2013 – 06/24/2013
Logistics, maturities 03/19/2013 – 12/17/2013
Dairy Products, maturities 03/06/2013 – 06/04/2013
Steel Products, maturity 01/31/2013
Sugar, maturities 05/06/2013 – 08/16/2013
Glass Products, maturity 01/31/2013
Chemicals, maturity 01/31/2013
Ferroalloys, maturity 01/31/2013
Corn, maturities 03/12/2013 – 06/10/2013
Petrochemicals, maturity 01/31/2013

10.31%
8.37%
7.11%
7.04%
6.34%
6.15%
5.13%
4.89%
3.26%
2.60%
2.55%
1.77%
1.54%
1.26%
0.95%
0.89%
0.80%
0.70%
0.58%
0.52%
0.39%
0.30%
0.17%

33,225,909
26,970,243
22,917,100
22,692,180
20,434,970
19,796,695
16,511,197
15,740,473
10,499,999
8,366,462
8,215,052
5,689,606
4,952,493
4,058,109
3,056,251
2,877,968
2,587,879
2,243,972
1,872,045
1,681,180
1,251,736
959,811
560,252

33,225,909
26,970,243
22,917,100
22,692,180
20,434,970
19,796,695
16,511,197
15,740,473
10,499,999
8,366,462
8,215,052
5,689,606
4,952,493
4,058,109
3,056,251
2,877,968
2,587,879
2,243,972
1,872,045
1,681,180
1,251,736
959,811
560,252

Total discount papers

73.62%

237,161,582

237,161,582

(in US dollars)

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale

Debt instruments: trade related financing (note 10)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Consolidated schedule of investments
as at December 31, 2012
% of net
assets**

Principal

Value

8.25%

26,576,036

26,576,036

5.96%

19,191,839

19,191,839

5.23%

16,851,211

16,851,211

3.22%
2.70%
2.33%

10,381,446
8,708,220
7,500,000

10,381,446
8,708,220
7,500,000

0.34%

1,081,176

1,081,176

28.03%

90,289,928

90,289,928

5.88%

18,930,448

18,930,448

3.01%

9,691,961

9,691,961

1.02%

3,298,580

3,298,580

1.00%

3,220,924

3,220,924

0.87%

2,815,330

2,815,330

0.50%

1,595,525

1,595,525

0.21%

660,682

660,682

Total advances floating rates

12.49%

40,213,450

40,213,450

Total advances

40.52%

130,503,378

130,503,378

114.14%

367,664,960

367,664,960

(in US dollars)

Debt instruments: trade related financing (note 10)
Advances fixed rates
Copper Wire, 10.17% due 06/28/2013, Peru
Frozen Shrimp, with yields ranging from 10.17% to
13.62% due from 07/17/2013 to 12/29/2013, Panama
Frozen Fish, 9.91% due from 09/30/2013 to 03/31/2015,
Chile
Frozen Seafood, 9.15% due from 02/15/2013 to
02/15/2015, USA
Grains, 6.35% due from 06/30/2014 to 03/31/2015, USA
Aviation, 19.32% due 01/31/2013, Brazil
Poultry, with yields ranging from 12.05% to 12.21% due
from 01/31/2013 to 03/09/2015, Chile
Total advances fixed rates
Advances floating rates
Coffee, 5.44% due 03/31/2013, USA*
Frozen Shrimp, 11.59% due from 02/21/2013 to
07/17/2013, Panama and Switzerland
Tuna Products, 14.13% to 14.84% due from 01/05/2013
to 11/30/2013, Switzerland
Leather, 6.13% due from 01/31/2013 to 07/31/2014,
Italy
Sesame Seeds, 14.74% due from 02/04/2013 to
12/14/2013, USA
Wood products, 10.17% to 11.18% due from
05/10/2013 to 05/26/2013, Japan and Panama
Frozen Seafood, 14.23% due from 08/24/2013 to
11/16/2013, Switzerland

Debt instruments: trade related financing
*
**

Medium to long term revolving facilities were renewed on maturity. Interest rate per annum is a
minimum rate of the higher of 5.35% or 3-month LIBOR and maximum of 15%.
Net assets excluding the value of the Class S shares.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended December 31, 2013
2013

2012

(in US dollars)

Investment income
Interest on debt instruments
Share of profit of equity accounted investee (net of income tax) (note 3)
Other fee and related income
Other income

32,113,420
2,045,000
360,473
1,758,631

35,020,138
4,100,000
246,167
982,664

Total investment income

36,277,524

40,348,969

6,120,047
7,903,858
731,143
54,174
568,578
60,573
10,000
2,054,709
1,552,426

7,350,903
4,703,158
767,428
281,964
741,546
50,000
10,750
2,025,744
2,215,298

Total expenses

19,055,508

18,146,791

Increase in net assets from operations attributable to holders of
Investors redeemable shares and non-controlling interests

17,222,016

22,202,178

785,891

753,997

Total comprehensive income attributable to holders of Investors
redeemable shares and non-controlling interests

18,007,907

22,956,175

Net decrease in net assets from operations attributable to holders of
Class S shares (note 15)

(556,888)

(96,903)

Total comprehensive income for the year

17,451,019

22,859,272

Profit attributable to:
Holders of the Companies
Non-controlling interests
Profit

17,262,309
(40,293)
17,222,016

22,202,178
22,202,178

785,891
(556,888)

753,997
(96,903)

17,451,019

22,859,272

Expenses
Management and performance fees (note 6)
Interest expense and fees on revolving credit facility and loan (note 5)
Administration fees (note 6)
Custodian fees
Professional fees
Directors' fees (note 7)
Curaçao profit tax
Operating and administrative expenses
Other expenses

Other comprehensive income (note 1)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Holders of the Companies
Non-controlling interests
Holders of Class S shares
Total comprehensive income for the year

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Consolidated statement of changes in net assets
for the year ended December 31, 2013
Class A shares

Class B shares

Class S shares

Management
shares

TFF (Minority
interest)

Total

(in US dollars)

Balance at January 1, 2012
Total comprehensive income
Cost of shares repurchased
Distributions (note 4)

-

338,756,851
22,956,175
(39,598,700)
-

4,399,642
(96,903)
(34,156)
-

10,000
-

-

343,166,493
22,859,272
(39,632,856)
-

Balance at December 31, 2012

-

322,114,326

4,268,583

10,000

-

326,392,909

Balance as January 1, 2013
Total comprehensive income
Conversion from Class B shares
Cost of shares repurchased (note 4)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest

614,100
255,669,022
(81,903,395)
-

322,114,326
17,434,100
(255,669,022)
(25,378,796)
-

4,268,583
(556,888)
(3,711,695)
-

10,000
-

(40,293)
10,033,000

326,392,909
17,451,019
(110,993,886)
10,033,000

Balance at December 31, 2013

174,379,727

58,500,608

-

10,000

9,992,707

242,883,042

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended December 31, 2013
2013

2012

(in US dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Total comprehensive income for the year
Adjustments to reconcile total comprehensive income to net cash from
operating activities:
Sale of debt instruments, net
Investment in equity accounted investees
Increase in investments in equity accounted investees
Decrease (increase) in interest receivable
Increase in other assets
Decrease in deferred income
Increase in interest payable
Increase in term deposits and call accounts
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to banks
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses and
fees payable
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities
Increase in derivative financial instruments
Net cash provided by operating activities

17,451,019

22,859,272

(9,070,544)
(25,000)
(2,045,000)
4,291,174
(478,446)
(23,115)
2,408,218
37,274,842
(7,814,320)

(9,097,162)
(4,100,000)
(992,578)
(485,797)
(104,521)
235,651
26,083,746
13,780,414

(1,590,024)
484,218
(308,549)

1,704,513
(381,453)
-

40,554,473

49,502,085

Cash flows from investing activities
Decrease (increase) in short-term investments
(Net) acquisition and disposal of financial assets classified as availablefor-sale

499,134

(2,827,911)

(19,632,585)

(19,106,870)

Net cash used in investing activities

(19,133,451)

(21,934,781)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from loan
Payments made on revolving credit facility
Payment for repurchase of Investors redeemable and Class S shares
Debt notes

25,000,000
(11,000,000)
(52,413,521)
187,000,000

2,000,000
(40,092,819)
-

Net cash used in financing activities

148,586,479

(38,092,819)

Net (decrease) increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

170,007,501

(10,525,515)

16,832,029

27,357,544

186,839,530

16,832,029

36,404,594
(5,255,592)

35,010,224
(4,290,538)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note 2)
Cash flows from operating activities include:
Interest received
Interest paid

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013

(1)

Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies
IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V. (the “Fund") is an open-ended investment company incorporated on
December 27, 1996 under Curaçao law (formerly part of the Netherlands Antilles). The Fund commenced
trading on August 12, 1998. The Fund maintains its registered office at SGG Management (Curaçao) N.V.
(formerly named ANT Management (Curaçao) N.V.), Kaya W.F.G. (Jombi) Mensing 36, Willemstad,
Curaçao. The Fund’s Class B Investors shares were listed on the Irish Stock Exchange up to September
29, 2014.
In 2013, the Fund has three wholly-owned and one partially owned subsidiary. The three wholly-owned
subsidiaries are IIG TOF B.V. (formerly Mauritio TOF B.V.), incorporated in December 1999 in the
Netherlands, TOF Cayman SPV (the “SPV”), incorporated in February 2006 in the Cayman Islands, and
IIG Malta Holdings N.V., which in turn owns IIG Malta Ltd., the ultimate owner of IIG Bank (Malta) Ltd.
(the “Bank”), incorporated in January 2010 in Malta. The partially owned subsidiary is TFF Holdings, Ltd.,
which in turn owns 99.9% of TFF IN Holdco, Ltd., the ultimate owner of Trade Finance Funding I, Ltd.
(“TFF”) through ownership of income notes. TFF was incorporated in May 2013 in the Cayman Islands
(the Fund and its subsidiaries, together the “Companies”).
IIG TOF B.V. was established to make and hold investments on behalf of the Fund, and its transactions
are financed by the Fund. The SPV provides short term international trade financing related to its debt
facility with the Inter-American Development Bank (“IDB”) (see note 5). The Bank was granted a banking
license by the Malta Financial Services Authority and focuses on trade finance. It commenced operations
in April 2010. TFF is a newly established special purpose entity and its operations started in November
2013 for the purpose of funding a portfolio of senior secured first lien trade finance loans to small- and
medium-sized Latin American enterprises (“SMEs”). TFF is a US$220 million Collateralized Loan
Obligation (“CLO”) that was structured, arranged and placed by Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.
The International Investment Group L.L.C., a limited liability company organized under the laws of the
State of New Jersey, acts as the Investment Adviser of the Fund, and is a registered Investment Adviser
under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the directors on March 20, 2015.
Statement of compliance
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
Basis of preparation
The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“US$” or “USD”) which is the Fund’s
functional currency and have been rounded to the nearest dollar. They are prepared on an amortized cost
or historical cost basis.
Use of estimate and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires Management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include the provisions on debt instruments
(refer to ‘valuation of debt instruments’ on page 18) and the valuation of the investments in equity
accounted investees (refer to note 3).
Going concern basis
The Fund’s main investment objective is to achieve high returns, relative to the hurdle rate, by investing
primarily in short-term financial instruments issued in connection with trade finance transactions on a
global basis. The Companies are financed mainly by senior credit and loan facilities and by the Fund’s
shareholders.
The senior credit and loan facilities, as described in more detail in notes 5 and 16, have been renewed in
2014. While the facilities were ultimately extended, each of the respective lenders has imposed certain
further terms on the SPV which result in unanticipated liquidity constraints on the Companies.
Due to these further imposed terms under the SPV’s senior debt facilities and loans, which are further
disclosed in notes 5 and 16, the Fund was obliged to postpone the planned distribution phase of the program
liquidity in connection with the CLO financing and related restructuring of the Fund, as well as a resumption
of voluntary monthly share repurchases for redeeming investors in the amount of 1% of NAV with respect to
the Class B Investor shares, also further mentioned in note 4.
Aside from the completion of the CLO in 2013, Management has undertaken numerous initiatives to
increase and enhance the ongoing liquidity generated by the Companies. These consist of continuing to
work directly with the borrowers to facilitate the repayment of loans including the introduction to
replacement lenders, identifying and establishing alternate sources of funds to replace existing loans as
well as the sale of various assets including selling, under various forms such as participations or
assignments, outstandings to other trade finance investors and lenders (refer to note 16 for further detail
on the liquidity initiatives).
As explained in note 9 (under liquidity risk), a portion of the Companies’ assets are not considered highly liquid
and may expose the Companies to a high degree of liquidity risk. Therefore, cash flows from the assets may
not be sufficient for the Companies to meet their financial obligations mentioned above.
Management has a reasonable expectation that these initiatives will enable the Companies to be
successful to continue its operations in the foreseeable future. The consolidated financial statements
have therefore continued to adopt the going concern basis of accounting by Management.
Determination of functional currency
‘Functional currency’ is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Companies
operate. If indicators of the primary economic environment are mixed, then Management uses its
judgment to determine the functional currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect of the
underlying transactions, events and conditions. All of the Companies’ investments and transactions are
denominated in USD. Investor subscriptions and redemptions are also received and paid in USD.
Accordingly, Management has determined that the functional currency of the Companies is USD.
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IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013
Consolidation principles
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Fund and its subsidiaries, IIG TOF
B.V., the SPV, the Bank and TFF. For the purposes of presentation of these financial statements, all
intercompany transactions with these subsidiaries have been eliminated.
Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets at the acquisition date. Changes in the Companies’ interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.
Investment in jointly controlled entities (equity accounted investees)
Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Companies have joint control, established by
contractual agreement and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions.
Investments in jointly controlled entities (equity accounted investees) are accounted for using the equity
method and are recognized initially at cost. The cost of the investment includes transaction costs. The
Fund’s investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses.
The consolidated financial statements include the Companies’ share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Companies,
from the date that joint control commences until the date that joint control ceases.
When the Companies’ share of losses exceeds their interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying
amount of that interest, including any long term investments, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Companies have an obligation or have made
payments on behalf of the investee.
Change in accounting policies
The Companies have adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including any
consequential amendments to other standards, with a date of initial application of January 1, 2013.
(a) IFRS 13, Fair value measurement
In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 13, the Companies have applied the new definition
of fair value, prospectively. The change in accounting policy did not have a significant impact on the
measurement of the Companies’ assets and liabilities.
The Companies have included new disclosures in the financial statements, which are required under IFRS
13. These new disclosure requirements are not included in the comparative information. However, to the
extent that disclosures were required by other standards before the effective date of IFRS 13, the
Companies have provided the relevant comparative disclosures under those standards.
(b) Offsetting
As a result of the amendments to IFRS 7, the Companies have expanded disclosures about offsetting
financial assets and financial liabilities.
(c) Involvement with unconsolidated structured entities
As a result of application of IFRS 12, the Fund has made disclosures about its involvement with
unconsolidated structured entities (note 3).
Significant accounting policies
Except for the changes explained above, the Companies have consistently applied the accounting policies
as set out in this note to all periods presented in these financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013
Financial instruments
Recognition
The Companies initially recognize debt securities and subordinated liabilities on the date they are
originated. All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets)
are recognized on the trade date, which is the date on which the Companies become a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial liabilities are not recognized unless one of the parties has performed or the contract is a
derivative contract not exempted from the scope of IAS 39.
Classification
The Companies have classified financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:
Available-for-sale financial assets:
Debt securities issued by the Malta Government are classified as available-for-sale.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Derivative financial instruments are categorized as held-for-trading unless they are designated and
effective as hedging instruments. A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if it is acquired
principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking. The Companies’ held-for-trading financial instruments consist of derivative
contracts.
Financial assets at amortized cost:
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Loans and receivables include debt instruments: trade related financing, cash and cash
equivalents, receivable for debt instruments matured, short-term investments, interest receivable and
other assets.
Financial liabilities at amortized cost:
Non-derivative financial liabilities include a revolving credit facility and loan, debt notes, management and
performance fees payable, administrative fees payable, directors’ fees payable, deferred income, interest
payable, other accounts payables and accrued expenses, financial liabilities arising on redeemable shares,
term and call deposit accounts, amounts due to banks and distributions payable.
Measurement
Loans and receivables, and financial liabilities at amortized cost are recognized initially at fair value plus
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments
are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
Available-for-sale financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments are measured at fair value
and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences, are recognized in
other comprehensive income and presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Amortized cost measurement
The amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
financial liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount
recognized and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013
Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire or it transfers the financial assets and the transfer qualifies for derecognition in accordance with
IAS 39. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired.
Fair value measurement principles
As a result of the Companies’ adoption of IFRS 13, effective January 1, 2013, the ‘Fair value’ is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous
market to which the Companies have access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its nonperformance risk.
When available, the Companies measure the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset or liability
take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. The
Companies measure instruments quoted in an active market at the closing price.
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Companies use valuation techniques that
maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen
valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in
pricing a transaction.
The Companies recognize transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.
Valuation of debt instruments
Advances are normally carried at amortized cost. The discount papers are valued at amortized cost, using
the effective yield method. A provision is made for impairment when, in the opinion of Management,
there is uncertainty about the eventual recoverability of the advances or discount papers. Such provision
for impairment in the case of advances is made taking into consideration the value at the reporting date
of all underlying assets which serve as collateral, and other security, for positions held by the Companies.
As of December 31, 2006, a provision of US$29.8 million was made against advances to one specific
borrower. In 2011, the Fund successfully recovered funds relating to these advances on behalf of the
holders of Class S shares. Based upon the recovery, a part of the provision was released in 2011 and the
remainder was released in 2013. The Class S shares were fully redeemed as at December 31, 2013 and
there are no shares remaining in Class S.
For certain of the Companies’ other financial instruments not carried at fair value through profit or loss,
including cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, receivable for debt instruments matured,
interest receivable, other assets, payables and accrued expenses, the carrying amounts approximate fair
value due to the immediate or short term nature of these financial instruments.
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on market conditions and information
about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involved uncertainties and
matters of significant judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in
assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.
Identification and measurement of impairment
At each reporting date the Companies assess whether there is objective evidence that financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets
is (are) impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset(s), and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of the asset(s)
that can be estimated reliably.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of the
borrower or issuer, default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Companies on terms that the Companies would not otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or
issuer will enter bankruptcy or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse
changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults in the group.
Impairment losses on assets carried at amortized cost are measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss and
reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables. Interest on impaired assets continues to
be recognized through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of
impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
The Companies write off financial assets carried at amortized cost when they are determined to be
uncollectible.
Past due but not impaired debt instruments
Past due but not impaired debt instruments are those for which contractual interest or principal payments
are past due, but the Companies believe that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of
security/collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Companies. The actual
maturity dates may be extended for further periods of time due to various trade-related factors including
shipping delays, weather related issues and ability of the borrower to repay. These result in loans with
renegotiated terms, but are not considered restructured loans as the restructuring is not due to
deterioration in the borrower’s financial position nor where the Companies made concessions that it
would not otherwise consider. As such, when loans are renegotiated for reasons other than due to
deterioration in the borrower’s financial position, loans are not separated and classified as restructured
loans.
Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Companies have a legal right to offset the amounts and it
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis for gains and losses from financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss and foreign exchange gains and losses.
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Companies have no financial assets and financial liabilities that
are eligible to offset on the statement of financial position.
Redeemable shares
All redeemable shares issued by the Fund provide the investors with the right to require redemption for
cash at the value proportionate to the investor’s share in the Fund’s net assets at the redemption date.
In accordance with IAS 32 such instruments give rise to a financial liability for the present value of the
redemption amount.
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in banks,
including amounts due from other banks, and money market balances with original maturities of three
months or less.
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Short-term investments
Short-term investments have original maturities greater than three months to one year and may consist
of time deposits as well as amounts due from other banks and private financial institutions. At December
31, 2013, the time deposit of a total principal amount of US$10.7 million (2012: US$10.7 million) included
under short-term investments matured in June 2014 and was extended to June 2015. This time deposit
bears an annual interest of 0.50 % (2012: 0.50%).
Term deposits and call accounts
Term deposits and call accounts are deposits due to customers of the Bank which are classified as
financial liabilities measured at amortized cost and are subject to fixed interest rates.
Amounts due to Central Bank of Malta
Amounts due to banks are term loans and advances which relate to the Bank’s participation in the
European Central Bank’s open market operations. These liabilities are subject to variable interest rates
and are secured by a pledge over the Bank’s entire available-for-sale investment portfolio. At December
31, 2013, the pledged available-for-sale investment portfolio was valued at US$45,844,866
(2012: US$26,212,281).
Interest income
Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis for those securities for which collection is expected.
Interest is recognized on a when-received basis for those securities for which collection is doubtful.
Interest expense
Interest expense is recognized using the effective interest method.
Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income consists of the movement in the fair value of the financial assets classified
as available-for-sale.
Taxation
According to the tax ruling obtained from the tax authorities of Curaçao, the taxable income of the Fund
is computed based on the percentage of the Fund’s average equity capital. The annual liability is a
minimum of US$1,000 and a maximum of US$10,000. The SPV was granted the tax-exempt status and
is not subject to any tax.
The Bank’s effective tax rate is approximately 5%, as a result of an agreement between the Maltese TaxAuthorities and the European Union allowing for a tax-credit to the shareholders of up to six/sevenths of
the standard Malta corporate tax rate of 35%.
New standards, interpretations and amendments to standards not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual
periods beginning after January 1, 2013, and have not been applied in preparing the financial statements.
Those that may be relevant to the Companies are set out below. The Companies do not plan to adopt
these standards early.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2013), IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2010) and IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (2009) (together, IFRS 9)
IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets.
IFRS 9 (2010) introduces additions relating to financial liabilities. The IASB currently has an active project
to make limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 and add new
requirements to address the impairment of financial assets.
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The IFRS 9 (2009) requirements represent a significant change from the existing requirements in IAS 39
in respect of financial assets. The standard contains two primary measurement categories for financial
assets: amortised cost and fair value. A financial asset would be measured at amortised cost if it is held
within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, and
the asset’s contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All other financial assets would be measured at fair
value. The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held-to-maturity, available-for-sale and
loans and receivables. For an investment in an equity instrument that is not held for trading, the standard
permits an irrevocable election, on initial recognition, on an individual share-by-share basis, to present all
fair value changes from the investment in Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”). No amount recognised
in OCI would ever be reclassified to profit or loss at a later date. However, dividends on such investments
would be recognised in profit or loss, rather than OCI, unless they clearly represent a partial recovery of
the cost of the investment. Investments in equity instruments in respect of which an entity does not
elect to present fair value changes in OCI would be measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognized in profit or loss.
The standard requires derivatives embedded in contracts with a host that is a financial asset in the scope
of the standard not to be separated; instead, the hybrid financial instrument is assessed in its entirety for
whether it should be measured at amortized cost or fair value.
IFRS 9 (2010) introduces a new requirement in respect of financial liabilities designated under the fair
value option to generally present fair value changes that are attributable to the liability’s credit risk in OCI
rather than in profit or loss. Apart from this change, IFRS 9 (2010) largely carries forward without
substantive amendment the guidance on classification and measurement of financial liabilities from
IAS 39.
IFRS 9 (2013) introduces new requirements for hedge accounting that align hedge accounting more
closely with risk management.
The IASB tentatively decided that IFRS 9 would be mandatorily effective for annual period beginning on
or after January 1, 2018. Earlier application is permitted. The Companies do not plan to adopt this standard
early.
Based on the initial assessment, the standard is not expected to have a material impact on the
Companies.
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32)
The amendments to IAS 32 clarify the offsetting criteria in IAS 32 by explaining when an entity currently
has a legally enforceable right to set-off and when gross settlement is considered to be equivalent to net
settlement. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014 and
interim periods within those annual periods. Early application is permitted.
Based on the initial assessment, the standard is not expected to have a material impact on the
Companies.
(2)

Cash and cash equivalents
2013

2012

Cash at bank
Money market accounts

116,372,460
70,467,070

16,776,846
55,183

Cash and cash equivalents

186,839,530

16,832,029

(in US dollars)
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Money market accounts represent short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investments or other purposes.
(3)

Investments in equity accounted investees
Involvement with unconsolidated structured entities
The Fund holds investments in structured entities that it does not consolidate but in which it holds an
interest. As at December 31, 2013, the type of structured entity which the Fund holds is an investment
in Girobank N.V. (“Girobank”), which is further disclosed in this note.
During 2010, the Fund acquired a 29 percent investment in Girobank through its 50% owned entity Giro
Holdings N.V., a joint venture with IIG Investors Holding B.V. Girobank is a financial institution that
primarily provides retail, corporate banking, and asset management services to Curaçao and the region.
Mr. Eric L. Garcia and Mr. Martin Silver are members of the Fund’s Board of Directors. Mr. Garcia was
also a member of Girobank’s Board of Directors and Mr. Silver was on Girobank’s Board of Supervisory
Directors. The Fund’s interest was consummated through an investment in kind totaling US$40 million.
The Companies’ share of profit in its equity accounted investees for the year was US$2,045,000
(2012: US$4,100,000), based on interim financial information as of June 30, 2013.
Since December 2013, Girobank has been placed under emergency measure by actions taken by the
Central Bank of Curaçao and Sint Maarten (the “Central Bank”), which is further mentioned in note 16. Due
to this emergency measure by actions taken by the Central Bank and the lack of financial information, the
valuation as of December 31, 2013 has been based on the last reliable financial information according to
the Fund’s Management. Based upon the information available to the Fund’s Management as well as
potential sale opportunities, Management believes that Girobank’s valuation as of December 31, 2013 is
reasonable.
Summary 2013 and 2012 financial information for equity accounted investees, not adjusted for the
percentage ownership held by the Companies, is as follows:

Ownership

Total assets Total liabilities

Revenues

Operating
expenses

Profit/(loss)

(in thousands, US dollars)

2013

29.05%

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

2012

29.05%

937,243

844,117

43,030

28,027

15,003

N/A - information is not available.
(4)

Capital stock
The Fund’s capital was initially divided into non-voting participating redeemable Investors shares
(“Investors shares”) with a par value of US$0.01 per share and voting non-redeemable Management
shares (“Management shares”) with a par value of US$1.00 per share.
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At December 31, 2013, 10,000 (2012: 10,000) Management shares were issued and outstanding. The
Management shares are owned by TOF Management Foundation. At December 31, 2013, 554,311.54
(2012: Nil) Class A Investor shares were issued and are fully paid and 182,395.02 (2012: 1,065,216.06
shares) Class B Investor shares were issued and are fully paid.
In conjunction with the closing of the CLO Financing, Investor shares shareholders who elected to
participate in the voluntary redemption were, in return for redeemed shares, issued Class A Investor
shares and entitled to participate in a one-time partial redemption opportunity. This aggregate redemption
to holders of Class A Investor shares totaled approximately US$81.9 million. It was distributed on a prorata basis to holders of Class A Investor shares based on their shareholder elections received by the Fund.
As of December 31, 2013, US$54.9 million of redemptions were outstanding and have since been paid
out. Those who did not elect to participate had their shares re-designated as Class B Investor shares,
which carry the same terms and conditions as shareholders’ prior shareholdings in the Fund and are
closed to new subscriptions. Class A Investor shares carry a 2-year lockup period during which
redemptions are not permitted and Class A Investor shares can subscribe monthly on the first calendar
day of each month. This restructuring was approved by the directors of the Fund and the shareholders.
Class A Investor shares may redeem on a quarterly basis (after the 2-year lockup period) and Class B
Investor shares may redeem on a monthly basis. Requests for redemptions of Class A Investor shares
must be made ninety five calendar days prior to any redemption date (typically last day of each calendar
quarter) and requests for redemptions of Class B Investor shares must be made sixty calendar days prior
to any redemption date (typically last day of each calendar month). The price paid for Investor shares to
be redeemed would be the most recent calculated redemption price.
Class A Investor shares gate is fifteen percent of the net asset value of the Class A Investor shares and
Class B Investor shares gate is ten percent of the net asset value of the Class B Investor shares. If one
or more investors redeem Investor shares and the total value of Investor shares to be redeemed exceeds
the Fund gate percentages, the Fund would redeem proportionately among the redeeming shareholders
equal to the maximum percentage limitation. Any Investor shares not redeemed by the Fund on the initial
redemption date would be redeemed on subsequent redemption dates in order to satisfy the percentage
restrictions.
On November 25, 2008, the Fund had suspended redemptions until such time as the markets stabilize
and only permitting repurchases of the Fund’s shares commencing December 2008 for shareholders who
make redemption requests in an aggregate amount per month equal to up to 1% of the Fund’s net asset
value on the last business day of the month preceding such repurchase. Since December 31, 2008, the
Fund had pending redemption requests that are subject to the redemption restrictions mentioned above.
In preparation for the closing of the CLO financing and, subsequently, amortization requirements under
the Fund’s senior debt credit facilities and loans, the Fund has deferred the voluntary monthly share
repurchases for Class B Investor shares in the amount of 1% of the Fund’s net asset value as of
September 2013. The aggregate redemption to holders of Class B Investor shares totaled approximately
US$25.4 million in 2013.
During 2007, the Fund had established a “Special Situation” share class as the designated investment
management and recovery mechanism in connection with the advances for which a provision was
recorded as of December 31, 2006 (see note 1). These Class S shares (“S shares”) have a par value of
US$0.01 each, and were issued on a proportionate basis of one S share for each one hundred Investors
shares held by all holders of record as of December 31, 2006. The S shares do not carry any voting rights,
except at any special S share meeting as the case may be. The S shares are entitled to the recovery
amounts related to these advances on a realized cash basis after expenses and other costs related to the
transaction and recovery including but not limited to expenses incurred which have been advanced by
the Investment Adviser.
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All S shares were made redeemable by the Fund during 2013. By the resolution of the Board of Directors
dated May 31, 2013, this period was extended to December 31, 2013. At December 31, 2013, no S
shares were issued and outstanding. As of December 31, 2012, 16,583.22 were issued and outstanding.
In June 2011, the Board of Directors of the Fund approved and made an initial partial distribution in the
amount of US$8 million to the Class S shareholders. This initial redemption was made on a pro-rata basis
to all Class S shareholders, who received approximately US$471 per Class S share held. The remaining
redemption of US$3.7 million related to the recovery was approved in 2013 and paid in 2014. Refer to
note 15 for a summary of key financial data for the Class S shares.
The movements in shares for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

(5)

Class A shares

Class B shares

Class S shares

Management
shares

2012
Balance as at January 1, 2012
Subscriptions
Repurchases

-

1,201,280.30
(136,064.24)

17,000.00
(416.78)

10,000.00
-

Balance as at December 31, 2012

-

1,065,216.06

16,583.22

10,000.00

2013
Balance as at January 1, 2013
Conversion from Class B shares to
Class A shares
Subscriptions
Repurchases

-

1,065,216.06

16,583.22

10,000.00

800,525.24
(256,213.70)

(800,525.24)
(82,295.80)

(16,583.22)

-

Balance as at December 31, 2013

544,311.54

182,395.02

-

10,000.00

Revolving credit facility and loan
Inter-American Development Bank
On May 3, 2006, the SPV entered into a five-year trade finance revolving credit facility agreement with
the Inter-American Development Bank (“IDB”) for the amount of US$75 million to finance eligible trade
finance transactions. On May 13, 2011, the facility was extended for an additional three years. The facility
matures on May 15, 2014 (as at December 31, 2013). The interest rate applicable to this facility is set and
payable quarterly at three months LIBOR plus 3.00%. In addition, the SPV is required to pay certain fees
including a front end fee of 0.50%. The interest rate was 3.24% at December 31, 2013 (2012: 3.31%).
All assets of the SPV, amounting to US$203 million at December 31, 2013 (2012: US$185 million), serve
as collateral for the facility.
In accordance with the amendment no. 2 to the trade finance credit facility agreement dated
August 1, 2012, the leverage ratio that the SPV should maintain was amended from a maximum of 2:3
to 1:1. The leverage ratio is defined as the sum of the revolving credit facility, the outstanding amount of
any other indebtedness of the SPV, the available credit facility and all other undisbursed amounts
committed to the SPV under the credit facility agreement to the sum of total amount of paid up share
capital of the SPV plus the SPV’s retained earnings minus the aggregate total of defaulted sub loans to
the extent not accounted for in the SPV’s retained earnings. As at December 31, 2013, the SPV is required
to maintain a minimum net asset value of US$100 million (2012: US$75 million).
In addition, the credit facility will be considered to be in default if the past due ratio is equal to or exceeds
10% percent. As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the past due ratio was below 10%.
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The OPEC Fund for International Development
On September 11, 2013, as a co-loan to the existing IDB facility, the SPV entered into a trade finance loan
agreement with the OPEC Fund for International Development (“OFID”) for the amount of US$25 million
to finance eligible trade finance transactions. The interest rate applicable to this facility is set and payable
quarterly at three-months LIBOR plus 3.00% as of December 31, 2013. In addition, the SPV is required
to pay certain fees including a front end fee of 0.50%. The facility maturity date as of December 31, 2013
is May 15, 2014. The interest rate was 3.24% at December 31, 2013. As at December 31, 2013, the SPV
is required to maintain at all times a leverage ratio that does not exceed 1 to 1. The parent SPV also acts
as the guarantor of this loan.
In addition, the credit facility will be considered to be in default if the past due ratio is equal to or exceeds
10% percent. As at December 31, 2013, the past due ratio was below 10%.
As at December 31, 2013, the leverage ratio of the SPV was 0.98 (2012: 0.69), whereby the SPV complied
with the leverage ratio requirements for both IDB and OFID.
The payment of all outstanding principal of both the IDB and OFID facilities is unconditionally guaranteed
by the Fund. Refer to note 16 for further changes to the new terms of these credit facilities and loans.
Capital One Facility
In April 2009, the Fund entered into a line of credit agreement with Capital One, N.A. for the amount of
US$20 million. The monthly interest is at the borrower’s option: either (a) If a LIBOR loan, floor of 1.95%
+ 2.0% or if a prime loan, floor of 3.95%. The interest rate was 3.95% at December 31, 2012. The facility
matured and was paid off in 2013.
(6)

Investment advisory fees and administration fees
Investment Adviser
Pursuant to the investment advisory agreement between the Fund and The International Investment
Group L.L.C. (the “Investment Adviser”), the Investment Adviser serves as the Fund's investment
adviser with respect to all investments and receives a monthly management fee and a quarterly
performance fee. Until October 31, 2013, the management fee was computed monthly at an annual rate
of 2% of the Fund's Net Asset Value for the month. As of November 2013 an annual rate of 1% of the
Fund’s Net Asset Value for the month is applicable for the calculation of the management fee. The
Investment Adviser may waive or defer any management fee. For the year ended December 31, 2013,
US$3,090,575 (2012: US$3,306,450), which represents an annual fee of one percent, was charged to the
Fund, and the remainder was waived by the Investment Adviser. As at December 31, 2013, the
management fee payable amounted to US$456,538 (2012: US$539,793).
The quarterly performance fee is payable at an annualized rate of 15% of the aggregate amount of any
Net Capital Appreciation (Net Capital Appreciation is for any period the excess, if any, over and above the
relevant hurdle, of the relevant net asset value per class at the end of such period over the net asset
value per class at the beginning of that period) attributable to the Class A Investor shares and an annual
rate of 20% of the aggregate of any Net Capital Appreciation attributable to the Class B Investor shares.
No performance fee will be paid on any class if the relevant net asset value per class for that class is not
in excess of the then applicable high water mark.
The Investment Adviser may waive or defer any payment of the performance fee. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, the performance fee was US$3,029,472 (2012: US$4,044,453) in relation to the
Class A and Class B Investors shares and US$0 (2012: US$58) in relation to the S shares (see note 15).
As at December 31, 2013, the performance fee payable amounted to US$21,255,731
(2012: US$23,261,013).

page 25

20-10666-mew

Doc 3-1

Filed 03/02/20 Entered 03/02/20 13:40:56
28 of 44

Exhibit A

Pg

IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013
For the year ended December 31, 2013, out-of-pocket expenses accrued on behalf of the Investment
Adviser to the Fund amounted to US$564,180 (2012: US$644,682). These out-of-pocket expenses are
largely comprised of due diligence costs related to the portfolio facilities and are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as part of the other expenses.
Administrator
Pursuant to the administration agreements dated January 3, 2005 and September 11, 2007 between the
Fund, the SPV and Trident Trust Company (Cayman) Ltd. (the "Administrator"), the Administrator serves
as the Fund and SPV's administrator, registrar and transfer agent. The Administrator is paid a monthly fee
commensurate with industry standards based upon an hourly rate structure for services performed on
behalf of the Fund and SPV. The Fund has entered into a services agreement dated December 16, 1999
with Citco Nederland B.V., whereby the latter provides accounting, directors, domiciliation, tax and
corporate legal services to IIG TOF B.V. for an annual fee of EUR80,000. Additionally, TFF owns an entity
called Trade Finance Funding I B.V. for the same purpose as the Fund owning IIG TOF B.V. For Trade
Finance Funding I B.V., Citco Nederland B.V. provides director and domicile services at an annual fee of
EUR3,650 and an hourly rate structure for legal, tax, and accounting services performed.
For the year ended December 31, 2013, the administration, registrar and transfer agent fees, including
expenses, amounted to US$731,143 (2012: US$767,428).
(7)

Related party transactions
Martin Silver, a member of the Board of Directors of the Fund, is also a Managing Partner of the
Investment Adviser to the Fund and was a member of the Board of Supervisory Directors at Girobank.
For the year ended December 31, 2013, there were directors’ fees of US$60,573 (2012: US$50,000).
Mr. Silver does not receive any fee for his service as a member of the Board of Directors.
Trade CLO LLC is the minority interest holder of TFF Holdings, Ltd. Trade CLO LLC is owned by Martin
Silver and David Hu, principals of the Investment Advisor to the Fund. TFF Holdings, Ltd. owns 99.9% of
TFF IN Holdco, Ltd. which in turn owns the income notes in TFF. In order to preclude TFF IN Holdco, Ltd.
from being a disregarded entity for United States tax purposes, 0.1% must be held by a second company.
Accordingly, 1% or US$33,000 is held by IIG Trade Finance LLC, a company also owned by Martin Silver
and David Hu that provides origination, credit, structuring and servicing-related functions in connection
with financing transactions and/or loan participations.
As of December 31, 2013, Trade CLO LLC has a US$10,000,000 promissory note with the Fund for the
former’s minority interest in TFF Holdings, Ltd. The interest rate applicable to this note is set at 1.85%,
compounded annually, and payment is due on the note the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the issuance
of this note or a liquidity or default event. This promissory note is guaranteed by the Investment Adviser.
As of December 31, 2013, the total amount of US$10,033,000 (2012: Nil) are included under other assets
in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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(8)

Financial assets and liabilities
The table below sets out the classifications of the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets
and liabilities into categories of financial instruments.
Held for
trading

Designated
as at fair
value

Loans and
receivables

Other
financial
liabilities

Total

-

-

186,839,530
14,614,952
299,870
376,648,672
22,081,516

-

186,839,530
14,614,952
299,870
376,648,672
22,081,516

(in US dollars)
December 31, 2013
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Receivable for debt instruments matured
Debt instruments: trade related financing
Interest receivable
Financial assets classified as available-forsale
Investments in equity accounted
investees
Derivative financial instruments
Other assets

-

45,844,866

-

-

45,844,866

863,705
-

-

52,200,549
12,007,982

52,200,549
863,705
12,007,982

Total assets

863,705

45,844,866

664,693,071

-

711,401,642

-

-

-

3,243,512
254,475
58,741
62,500
12,464,565
80,987,850
100,000,000
187,000,000

3,243,512
254,475
58,741
62,500
12,464,565
80,987,850
100,000,000
187,000,000

-

-

-

21,712,269
58,642,581

21,712,269
58,642,581

-

-

-

3,234,194
857,913

3,234,194
857,913

-

-

-

468,518,600

468,518,600

December 31, 2013
Interest payable
Administration fees payable
Deferred income
Directors’ fees payable
Amounts due to Central Bank of Malta
Term deposits and call accounts
Revolving credit facility and loan
Debt notes
Management and performance fees
payable
Redemptions payable
Other accounts payable and accrued
expenses
Other current liabilities
Total liabilities
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Held for
trading

Designated
as at fair
value

Loans and
receivables

Other
financial
liabilities

Total

-

-

16,832,029
15,114,086
213,038
367,664,960
26,372,690

-

16,832,029
15,114,086
213,038
367,664,960
26,372,690

(in US dollars)
December 31, 2012
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Receivable for debt instruments matured
Debt instruments: trade related financing
Interest receivable
Financial assets classified as available-forsale
Investments in equity accounted
investees
Derivative financial instruments
Other assets

-

26,212,281

-

-

26,212,281

555,156
-

-

50,130,549
1,496,536

-

50,130,549
555,156
1,496,536

Total assets

555,156

26,212,281

477,823,888

-

504,591,325

-

-

-

835,294
132,072
81,856
12,500
20,278,885
43,713,008
86,000,000

835,294
132,072
81,856
12,500
20,278,885
43,713,008
86,000,000

-

-

-

23,800,805
62,216

23,800,805
62,216

-

-

-

2,908,085
373,695

2,908,085
373,695

December 31, 2012
Interest payable
Administration fees payable
Deferred income
Directors’ fees payable
Amounts due to Central Bank of Malta
Term deposits and call accounts
Revolving credit facility
Management and performance fees
payable
Redemptions payable
Other accounts payable and accrued
expenses
Other current liabilities
Total liabilities

(9)

-

-

- 178,198,416 178,198,416

Investing activities and associated risks
The Companies’ activities expose them to various types of risk. The most important types of financial
risks to which the Companies are exposed are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (which may include
price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk). The Companies’ activities are designed to mitigate risks
through diversification. In addition to duration, the Companies’ investments are actively managed in terms
of, among other aspects, geographic, counterparty, trade asset and industry allocations.

page 28

20-10666-mew

Doc 3-1

Filed 03/02/20 Entered 03/02/20 13:40:56
31 of 44

Exhibit A

Pg

IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V., Curaçao

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013
The nature, extent and management of the risks associated with the Companies’ investment activities
are briefly outlined below.
Market risk
Market risk embodies the potential for both losses and gains and includes currency risk, interest rate risk
and price risk which may adversely affect the value of the debt instruments. The Investment Adviser
regularly assesses the appropriateness of the Companies’ debt instruments in order to meet the
investment objective.
Currency risk
The Companies invest in financial instruments denominated in its measurement currency. Consequently,
the Companies are not exposed to risks that the exchange rate of its currency relative to other currencies
may change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the value of the Companies’ assets or liabilities.
However, a significant portion of borrowers to which the Companies provide trade financing operate in
other currencies. Consequently, the borrowers are exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of their
measurement currency relative to the USD may change in a manner that could have an adverse effect on
the value of their assets or liabilities, and this may impair their ability to repay their obligations to the
Companies.
Interest rate risk
A significant portion of the Companies’ financial assets and financial liabilities are interest bearing and, as
a result, the Companies are subject to risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates. The Companies’ interest rate risk is managed on a daily basis by the Investment Adviser. The
weighted average effective interest rates for the interest bearing financial instruments during 2013 were
8.91% (2012: 9.38%) for debt instruments: trade related financing, 0.16% (2012: 0.56%) for cash and
cash equivalents and short-term investments, 4.73% (2012: 5.01%) for financial assets classified as
available-for-sale, 3.33% (2012: 3.51%) for the revolving credit facility and loan, 4.16% (2012: 4.21%) for
term deposits and call accounts, and 0.56% (2012: 0.88%) for amounts due to banks.
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A summary of the Companies’ interest-bearing assets and liabilities categorized by remaining period to
maturity is as follows:

December 31, 2013

More than
1 month to
3 months

More than
3 months to
1 year

186,839,530
786,531

1,377,300

12,451,121

-

186,839,530
14,614,952

-

275,253

2,068,222

43,501,391

45,844,866

12,218,957

45,745,475

230,080,702

88,603,538

376,648,672

199,845,018

47,398,028

244,600,045

132,104,929

623,948,020

-

-

-

100,000,000

100,000,000

8,439,825
-

14,029,885
-

25,168,698
-

33,349,442
187,000,000

80,987,850
187,000,000

-

2,754,600

-

9,709,965

12,464,565

8,439,825

16,784,485

25,168,698

330,059,407

380,452,415

1 month or
less

More than
1 month to 3
months

More than
3 months to
1 year

More than
1 year

1 month or less

More than
1 year

Total

(in US dollars)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Financial assets classified as
available-for-sale
Debt instruments: trade
related financing
Total assets
Liabilities
Revolving credit facility and
loan
Term deposits and call
accounts
Debt notes
Amounts due to Central Bank
of Malta
Total liabilities

December 31, 2012

Total

(in US dollars)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Financial assets classified as
available-for-sale
Debt instruments: trade
related financing
Total assets
Liabilities
Revolving credit facility
Term deposits and call
accounts
Amounts due to Central Bank
of Malta
Total liabilities

16,832,029
3,516,288

-

11,597,798

-

16,832,029
15,114,086

-

-

-

26,212,281

26,212,281

25,192,316

134,235,669

174,072,392

34,164,583

367,664,960

45,540,633

134,235,669

185,670,190

60,376,864

425,823,356

-

-

11,000,000

75,000,000

86,000,000

4,121,479

3,817,062

15,544,521

20,229,946

43,713,008

4,359,630

6,605,500

-

9,313,755

20,278,885

8,481,109

10,422,562

26,544,521

104,543,701

149,991,893
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Interest rate sensitivity
All debt instruments included in this sensitivity analysis as fixed rate instruments are short term and roll
over frequently, and will therefore be affected by market interest rates. An increase of 100 basis points
in interest rates applied to balances at the reporting date as if they had been held throughout the year
would have increased the average net assets attributable to holders of redeemable and non-redeemable
shares by US$2.4 million (2012: US$2.8 million). A decrease of 100 basis points would have had an equal
but opposite effect. In practice, the actual results may differ from the sensitivity analysis and differences
could be material.
Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the value of the instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
prices, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its issuer or all factors affecting all
instruments traded in the market. Changes in commodity prices may adversely affect the value of
commodities that serve as collateral to some of the Companies’ financings. Changes in market conditions
of the commodities may directly affect the counterparty's ability to repay amounts owed.
Where considered necessary by the Investment Adviser, the Companies have contractually arranged that
counterparties, borrowing against exchange traded commodities, enter into futures contracts to hedge
against the risk of unfavorable changes in the fair market value of the collateralized commodities. The
Companies are protected from price risk in some cases through tri-party agreements with the
counterparties and broker.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or
commitment that it has entered into with the Companies.
Management of credit risk
The Companies’ policy over credit risk, primarily from its debt instruments: trade related financing, is to
minimize its exposure to counterparties by having limits on its investments in trade-related financing to
not more than twenty five percent of its total assets from any one emerging market country and by taking
collateral.
Most of the Companies’ advances and discount papers may be either directly or indirectly backed by
diverse types of collateral, typically physical commodities, inventory and/or accounts receivable. The
Investment Adviser monitors the collateral employing a variety of management controls and oversight
procedures including confirmations, cash management controls, inspection reports and the use of
independent outside specialists. The Companies are subject to credit risk on the advances and discount
papers to the extent that the corresponding debtors will fail to repay amounts owed.
In addition, the Companies employ diversification standards that are monitored on an ongoing basis to
further mitigate credit risk.
The Companies’ cash and cash equivalents are held by custodian banks. Short-term investments
generally consist of time deposits and amounts due from various banks and financial institutions.
Bankruptcy or insolvency of these banks may cause the Companies’ rights with respect to cash held by
the banks to be delayed or limited. If the credit quality or the financial position of these banks deteriorates
significantly, the Investment Adviser may move these holdings to another bank.
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale pertain to debt securities issued by the government of
Malta. These financial assets are listed on the Malta Stock Exchange. The Bank only acquires debt
securities issued by the counterparties having a strong financial background.
The Companies monitor the credit rating and financial positions of the financial institutions where these
financial assets are held to further mitigate the risk.
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Below is the summary of the credit quality of the Companies’ financial assets, other than debt
instruments: trade related financing, based on Fitch ratings or their equivalent at December 31, 2013 and
2012:
Financial assets
classified as
available-for-sale

Derivative
financial
instruments

Total

2,537,652
12,077,300

403,521
986,600
42,603,515
275,253
723,978
851,999
-

564,361
299,344
-

403,521
990,675
14,618,577
206,392,624
283,833
3,758,452
723,978
851,999
3,628,351
16,511,043

186,839,530

14,614,952

45,844,866

863,705

248,163,053

Cash and cash
equivalents

Short-term
investments

Cash and cash
equivalents

Short-term
investments

2013
AAA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB
Unrated

4,075
14,618,577
163,224,748
8,580
3,758,452
791,355
4,433,743

Total

(in US Dollars)

Financial assets
classified as
available-for-sale

Derivative
financial
instruments

Total

(in US Dollars)

2012
AAA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BB
Unrated

55,183
3,058
14,375,159
791,681
40,503
1,430,291
122,391
13,763

1,419,135
2,994,951
10,700,000

26,212,281
-

349,973
205,183
-

55,183
3,058
40,587,440
2,210,816
390,476
1,430,291
3,322,525
10,713,763

Total

16,832,029

15,114,086

26,212,281

555,156

58,713,552

Exposure to credit risk
The amount of credit exposure is generally represented by the carrying amounts of the assets on the
statement of financial position.
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Concentration of credit risk
As of the reporting date, the Companies’ debt instruments: trade related financing were concentrated in
the following geographical regions based on the location of the borrowers:
2013
%

2012
%

Discount papers
South America
North America
Central America

41.8
1.5
11.3

61.1
2.9
0.5

Total for discount instruments

54.6

64.5

2013
%

2012
%

Advances
South America
Central America
Europe
Caribbean

25.3
8.3
5.0
6.8

27.5
6.0
2.0
0.0

Total for advances

45.4

35.5

100.0

100.0

Total debt instruments

Settlement risk
The Companies’ activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions. Settlement risk
is the risk of loss due to the failure of an entity to honor its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other
assets as contractually agreed.
For the vast majority of transactions, the Companies mitigate this risk by establishing collection accounts
to facilitate the control and settlement of loans and discount papers with the various banks used by the
Companies.
Past due and impaired assets
No financial assets carried at amortized cost were past due or impaired either at December 31, 2013 or
2012.
Liquidity risk
An insufficient secondary market may prevent the liquidation or limit the funds that can be generated
from selling an asset. Some assets are highly liquid and have low liquidity risk, while other assets are less
illiquid and have higher liquidity risk. As the investments of the Companies in debt instruments and
investee companies are in the nature of over-the-counter type deals, the Companies’ investments are not
considered highly liquid and hence expose the Companies to a high degree of liquidity risk.
The Companies typically provide revolving trade finance facilities to small and medium-sized exporters
(“SMEs”) which generally may be considered relatively high risk. While these exporters tend to sell to
larger and more creditworthy end buyers or off-takers, they typically have limited, or do not have, access
to traditional bank financing. These facilities are generally supported by numerous individual transactions
which are short term (one year or less) and self-liquidating in nature.
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Certain debt instruments have maturities of more than one year depending on the borrowers’ product
cycle. Given the nature of trade finance transactions, the maturity dates presented for each represent the
approximate due dates for the underlying transactions. In some cases, payments are received prior to the
actual maturity date while, in other instances, they are extended for further periods of time due to various
trade-related factors including shipping delays, weather-related issues and ability of the borrower to repay
the facilities depending on its economic circumstances. See note 10 for further details.
The Fund’s constitution provides for the monthly creation and cancellation of shares and it is therefore
exposed to the liquidity risk of meeting shareholder’s redemptions at any time. See note 4 for further
details.
The SPV has senior debt facilities and loans with IDB and OFID, which have repayment dates in 2014,
2015 and 2016. See notes 5 and 16 for further details.
The contractual maturities of non-derivative financial liabilities excluding those listed in the interest rate
risk table are from one month to one year.
Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss are short-term financial assets
and financial liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate fair value and debt instruments: trade-related
financing which are measured at amortized cost.
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The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyzes
it by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorized.

Balance at
December
31, 2013

Quoted
prices in
active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant
other
observable
inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)

186,839,530
14,614,952

186,839,530
14,614,952

186,839,530
-

14,614,952

-

299,870

299,870

-

299,870

-

376,648,672
22,081,516

376,648,672
22,081,516

-

376,648,672
22,081,516

-

52,200,549
12,007,982

52,200,549
12,007,982

-

52,200,549
12,007,982

-

664,693,071

664,693,071

186,839,530

477,853,541

-

3,243,512
254,475
58,741
62,500

3,243,512
254,475
58,741
62,500

-

3,243,512
254,475
58,741
62,500

-

12,464,565

12,464,565

-

12,464,565

-

80,987,850

80,987,850

-

80,987,850

-

100,000,000
187,000,000

100,000,000
187,000,000

-

100,000,000
187,000,000

-

21,712,269
58,642,581

21,712,269
58,642,581

-

21,712,269
58,642,581

-

3,234,194
857,913

3,234,194
857,913

-

3,234,194
857,913

-

468,518,600

468,518,600

-

468,518,600

-

Carrying
Amount at
December
31, 2013
(in US dollars)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Receivable for debt
instruments matured
Debt instruments: trade
related financing
Interest receivable
Investment in equity
accounted investees
Other assets

Liabilities
Interest payable
Administrative fees payable
Deferred income
Directors’ fees payable
Amounts due to Central Bank
of Malta
Term deposits and call
accounts
Revolving credit facility and
loan
Debt notes
Management and
performance fees payable
Redemptions payable
Other accounts payable and
accrued expenses
Other current liabilities
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Balance at
December
31, 2012

Quoted
prices in
active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant
other
observable
inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)

16,832,029
15,114,086

16,832,029
15,114,086

16,832,029
-

15,114,086

-

213,038

213,038

-

213,038

-

367,664,960
26,372,690

367,664,960
26,372,690

-

367,664,960
26,372,690

-

50,130,549
1,496,536

50,130,549
1,496,536

-

50,130,549
1,496,536

-

477,823,888

477,823,888

16,832,029

460,991,859

-

835,294
132,072
81,856
12,500

835,294
132,072
81,856
12,500

-

835,294
132,072
81,856
12,500

-

20,278,885

20,278,885

-

20,278,885

-

43,713,008
86,000,000

43,713,008
86,000,000

-

43,713,008
86,000,000

-

23,800,805
62,216

23,800,805
62,216

-

23,800,805
62,216

-

2,908,085
373,695

2,908,085
373,695

-

2,908,085
373,695

-

178,198,416

178,198,416

-

178,198,416

-

Carrying
Amount at
December
31, 2012
(in US dollars)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Receivable for debt
instruments matured
Debt instruments: trade
related financing
Interest receivable
Investment in equity
accounted investees
Other assets

Liabilities
Interest payable
Administrative fees payable
Deferred income
Directors’ fees payable
Amounts due to Central Bank
of Malta
Term deposits and call
accounts
Revolving credit facility
Management and
performance fees payable
Redemptions payable
Other accounts payable and
accrued expenses
Other current liabilities

Valuation of financial instruments
The Companies measure fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance
of the inputs used in making the measurements:
Level 1 - Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for identical instruments.
Level 2 - Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly
(i.e., derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: market prices in active
markets for similar instruments, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are
considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly observable from the market data.
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Level 3 - Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all
instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the
instruments.
Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that
market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. Inputs may include
price information, volatility statistics, specific and broad credit data, liquidity statistics, and other factors.
A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that
is significant to the fair value measurement. However, the determination of what constitutes
“observable” requires significant judgment by the Management. The Management considers observable
data to be that market data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and
verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant
market. The categorization of a financial instrument within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing
transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily correspond to the Management’s perceived risk
of that instrument.
Fair value is a market-based measure considered from the perspective of a market participant rather than
an entity-specific measure. Therefore, even when market assumptions are not readily available, the
Management’s own assumptions are set to reflect those that market participants would use in pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. The Management uses prices and inputs that are current
as of the measurement date, including periods of market dislocation. In periods of market dislocation, the
observability of prices and inputs may be reduced for many securities. This condition could cause a
security to be reclassified to a lower level within the fair value hierarchy.
As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Fund invests in currency swaps, which are not considered to be
traded in active markets but are valued based on observable market data and require little management
judgment and estimation. Model inputs reduces the need for management judgment and estimation and
also reduces the uncertainty associated with the determination of fair values. Availability of observable
market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based
on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets. These derivative financial instruments
are classified under Level 2.
Fair value measurements
The Companies’ assets and liabilities recorded at fair value have been categorized based upon a fair value
hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 7. See note 1 for a discussion of the Companies’ policies.
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The following table presents information about the Companies’ assets measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

Balance at
December 31

Quoted prices in
active markets
(Level 1)

Significant
other
observable
inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)

(in US dollars)

2013
Assets
Financial assets classified as
available-for-sale
Government debt securities
Derivative financial instruments

45,844,866
863,705

45,844,866
-

863,705

-

2012
Assets
Financial assets classified as
available-for-sale
Derivative financial instruments

26,212,281
555,156

26,212,281
-

555,156

-

(10) Debt instruments: trade related financing
Financing transactions included in debt instruments are structured in a variety of forms, most typically
advances and discount papers. These instruments are mostly secured directly or indirectly by underlying
commodities, near commodities, accounts receivable, inventory, future production, and/or other assets
acceptable to the Management of the Companies. The Companies source their financing transactions on
a direct basis with companies as well as through a network of financial institutions, agents and brokers.
The debt instruments held by the Companies are intended to be short term financing investments. Certain
debt instruments have maturities of more than one year depending on the borrowers’ product cycle.
Given the nature of trade finance transactions, the maturity dates presented for each represent the
approximate due dates for the underlying transactions. In some cases, payments are received prior to the
actual maturity date while, in other instances, they are extended for further periods of time due to various
trade-related factors including shipping delays, weather-related issues and ability of the borrower to repay
the facilities depending on its economic circumstances.
In addition, the Companies hold participations in financing transactions maintained by financial
intermediaries that provide trade related financings directly to the ultimate borrowers. These
participations may or may not (silent participations) be disclosed to the debtor company. Included in short
term advances are approximately US$14.2 million (2012: US$8.0 million) of indirectly secured and
unsecured silent participations.
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(11) Derivative financial instruments
The fair values of derivative financial instruments held at the end of each reporting period are set out in
the following table:
2013

2012

(in US dollars)

Derivative financial assets
Currency swaps

863,705

555,156

The Companies enter into derivative contracts, mainly currency swaps, to hedge the foreign currency
exposures arising out of amounts owed to customers. While these derivative transactions provide
effective economic hedges, hedge accounting under the requirements of IAS 39 has not been adopted
in this respect. Accordingly, these derivative contracts held for risk management purposes have been
classified as held-for-trading in these financial statements in accordance with IAS 39.
The derivative financial instruments at December 31, 2013 relate to the forward purchase of £6,567,000
(2012: £5,217,000) and the forward purchase of €5,805,000 (2012: €13,853,000) against US$ maturing
within one year from the end of the reporting period at the average contractual rate of 1.5803 (2012:
1.5938) and 1.3143 (2012: 1.2970) respectively. At December 31, 2013, derivative financial instruments
also relate to the forward purchase of £1,200,000 (2012: Nil) against Euro at a contractual rate of 0.8484.
(12) Debt notes
TFF issued Class A Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes for US$110 million with an interest rate of
3 month LIBOR + 5.50% and Class B Subordinated Secured Fixed Rate Notes for US$77 million with a
rate of 10.75% through Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, both maturing in November 2018.
Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes have a payment term of up to 5 years from the closing date
(November 2013) and are subject to early termination. The investment period terminates in November
2016, at which time a amortization schedule will commence through maturity. The interest on the Senior
Notes and Subordinated Notes are paid on a quarterly basis commencing in February 2014.
In November 2013, TFF entered into a swap agreement with Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch in
respect of the US$110 million principal amount of the Class A Senior Notes in order to lock in a hedge
against the 3 month LIBOR rate. On a quarterly basis beginning in February 2014, TFF pays a fixed rate
of 1.22% on the principal amount and Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch pays a floating rate of 3-month
LIBOR on the principal amount. This is included in the interest payable on the statement of financial
position. The termination date of the swap agreement is May 13, 2017.
(13) Contingencies
The Companies enter into contracts that contain a variety of indemnifications. The Companies’ maximum
exposure under these arrangements are unknown. However, the Companies have not had prior claims
or losses pursuant to these contracts and expect the risk of loss to be remote. o amounts have been
accrued related to such indemnifications.
In the normal course of business, the Companies enter into commitments and encounter certain
contingencies, Management believes that the losses, if any, that may arise from these commitments and
contingencies would not be material to warrant additional adjustments or disclosures to the consolidated
financial statements.
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In January 2014, a suit was brought in the Southern District of New York against the Fund by
StormHarbour Securities LP, an investment banking firm engaged by the Fund in connection with the
financing efforts of the Fund. StormHarbour Securities LP alleges breach of an engagement agreement
and that it is due certain fees pursuant to the engagement agreement, relating to the Fund’s
consummation of a CLO transaction in November 2013. StormHarbour Securities LP is seeking damages
of approximately US$3.4 million. The Fund does not believe the claim has merit and has been defending
itself vigorously.
In September 2014, a suit was brought in the Court of First Instance of Curaçao against the Fund by an
alleged holder of certain Class B Investor Shares in the Fund. The suit requests cancellation of the Fund’s
continuing suspension of shareholder redemptions with respect to its Class B Investor Shares, which
class represents approximately 25% of the shareholder interests of the Fund. Holders of Class B Investor
Shares received their shares by virtue of not electing to participate in a voluntary share redemption
opportunity in connection with a restructuring of the Fund consummated at the time of the CLO
Transaction. Class B Investor Shares carry the same terms and conditions as shareholders’ prior
shareholdings in the Fund. The suit claims that no “state of emergency” persists and therefore the Fund
has no right to suspend or continue to suspend redemptions of holders of Class B Investor Shares. The
Fund has been assessing the claims and intends to thoroughly defend itself.
(14) Personnel
The Companies, except for the Bank, did not have any direct personnel during the years ended December
31, 2013 and 2012. As at December 31, 2013, the Bank has eight employees (2012: six).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013
(15) Class S shares
Class S shares were redeemed as at December 31, 2013. At December 31, 2012, the NAV per share for
the Class S shares was US$257.40. The summary of key financial data for the Class S shares as of
December 31, 2013 is as follows:
2013

2012

(in US dollars)

Assets:
Cash
Other assets
Liabilities:
Redemptions payable
Accounts payable
Performance fee payable
Net assets attributable to holders of Class S shares
Revenues:
Gross proceeds on Class S shares settlement
Other interest
Expenses:
Professional fees
Performance fees
Other expenses

Net (decrease) increase in net assets from operations
attributable to holders of Class S shares

8,099,900
8,099,900

8,420,550
1,784
8,422,334

3,703,354
1,296,577
3,099,969
8,099,900

1,053,782
3,099,969
4,153,751

-

4,268,583

792
792

815
815

419,270
138,410
557,680

85,711
59
11,948
97,718

(556,888)

(96,903)

(16) Subsequent events
Management has evaluated the need for disclosures and adjustments resulting from subsequent events
from January 1, 2014 to March 20, 2015 the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
Liquidation within the Companies
IIG Malta Holdings N.V., the ultimate owner of the Bank, went into liquidation as per April 30, 2014. A
total of 11,501,999 ordinary A shares of US$1 each of IIG Malta Ltd. held by IIG Malta Holdings N.V. have
been transferred to the Fund as per July 16, 2014.
Resignation of a director

In 2014, Roberto Pradilla, one of the directors of the Fund, resigned. The Fund has identified strong

independent director candidates to replace Mr. Pradilla, and are in the final stages of discussions with
those candidates. The appointment of the new director will be formalized at the next annual shareholder
meeting.
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Distribution of program liquidity and share repurchases
The Fund’s Management has postponed the subsequent planned distribution phase of program liquidity in
connection with the CLO financing and related restructuring of the Fund, as well as a resumption of voluntary
monthly share repurchases for redeeming investors in the amount of 1% of NAV with respect to Class B
Investor shares, which is further disclosed in note 4.
Extension of revolving credit facility and loan
On May 15, 2014, the SPV entered into an agreement with IDB to amend the trade finance credit facility
agreement for the amount of US$75 million. The maturity has been extended to May 15, 2016. The
interest applicable to this facility has changed from LIBOR plus 3.0% to LIBOR plus 3.5% for the period
after May 14, 2014. IDB may increase the applicable spread to LIBOR plus 5.5% upon any failure of the
Company to timely deliver any information required by IDB. Furthermore, beginning in June 2015, the
remaining outstanding principal of the IDB facility is required to be repaid in 12 equal monthly installments,
with final maturity in May 2016.
On May 19, 2014, the SPV entered into an agreement with OFID to amend the trade finance loan
agreement for the amount of US$25 million. The interest applicable to this facility will be amended to
LIBOR plus 3.5%. The maturity date has been amended to May 15, 2015 or, in case OFID management
agrees to the second renewal, May 15, 2016.
Various periodic amortization payments are also required prior to the maturity dates of these above
facilities. This includes initial principal payments of US$7.5 million (US$5.6 million – IDB and US$1.9
million – OFID) and US$10 million (US$7.5 million – IDB and US$2.5 million – OFID) due in September
2014 and December 2014, respectively. In addition, US$7.2 million (US$5.4 million – IDB and US$1.8
million – OFID) in principal was paid on March 16, 2015. Until the facilities are repaid in full, the Fund is
no longer permitted to receive potential distributions from the SPV.
Subsequent development of Girobank
With the expiration of the 3-year holding period in 2013, the Fund began to explore the potential sale of
its interest in Girobank with several investment bankers and other interested parties. Since December
2013, Girobank, which continues to operate today, has been placed under emergency measure by actions
taken by the Central Bank. We understand these actions were triggered by concerns over the financial
health of Girobank, as well as with certain Euro currency transactions which were not fully understood by
relevant authorities.
Based upon our knowledge of Girobank, Management does not believe these actions were warranted.
Management is working with the other shareholders and the Central Bank to achieve a satisfactory
resolution of this matter and to have the emergency measures removed. There has been no financial
information received on Girobank since the emergency measures. Management continues to monitor
this matter closely and explore opportunities for the sale of Girobank.
Liquidity Initiatives
In addition to potential asset sales, Management has been working to raise additional liquidity for the
Companies to meet the new amortization requirements with the SPV’s senior lenders and enable the
SPV to reinitiate distribution of liquidity to shareholders, while at the same time preserving the value of
the Companies’ investments as best as possible. These efforts range from seeking to accelerate
borrower repayments to gradually reducing facility availabilities to selling facilities to other parties or
investment vehicles.
Management has been considering potential opportunities to obtain new financing to replace the SPV’s
leverage with IDB and OFID and, towards this end, has been in discussions with other development
financial institutions and lenders.
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Marc P. Berger
Sanjay Wadhwa
Sheldon L. Pollock
Daniel Michael
Osman Nawaz
Lee A. Greenwood
Philip A. Fortino
Lindsay S. Moilanen
Attorneys for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
New York Regional Office
200 Vesey Street, Suite 400
New York, NY 10281-1022
(212) 336-1014 (Fortino)
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

19 Civ. ____

Plaintiff,
Complaint
v.
INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT GROUP,
LLC,
Defendant.

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”), for its Complaint
against defendant International Investment Group, LLC (“IIG” or “Defendant”), alleges as
follows:
SUMMARY
1.

This civil action concerns a string of frauds by Defendant to cover up tens of

millions of dollars in losses on bad bets and keep its investment advisory business afloat.
2.

IIG is an investment adviser that specializes in trade finance lending—risky loans

to small- and medium-sized companies in emerging markets. IIG serves as the investment
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adviser to several private investment funds—the Trade Opportunities Fund (“TOF”), the Global
Trade Finance Fund (“GTFF”), and the Structured Trade Finance Fund (“STFF”) (collectively,
the “Private Funds”)—and in that capacity, selects and manages the Private Funds’ investments,
principally in trade finance loans.
3.

Beginning in or about 2007, IIG engaged in a practice of hiding losses in the TOF

portfolio by overvaluing troubled loans and replacing defaulted loans with fake “performing”
loan assets. When it was necessary to create liquidity, including to meet redemption requests,
IIG would sell the overvalued and/or fictitious loans to new investors, including, ultimately, to
GTFF and STFF, and use the proceeds to generate the necessary liquidity required to pay off
earlier investors.
4.

In addition to the Private Funds, IIG also advised an open-end mutual fund

marketed to retail investors (the “Retail Fund”) and selected trade finance loans for the Retail
Fund’s portfolio. In or about March 2017, one of the loans IIG had recommended had defaulted
on a $6 million payment. Concerned that the default would lead the Retail Fund to end the
advisory relationship, IIG used funds from an account under its control to make the defaulted
payment, making it appear that the borrower was creditworthy and current in its payments. To
plug the $6 million hole it had created in the other account, IIG sold the retail fund a new fake
$6 million loan and used those funds to reimburse the account it had raided to make the earlier
payment to the Retail Fund.
5.

Through the conduct alleged herein, IIG is liable for violating Sections 206(1) and

206(2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”); Section 10(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 thereunder; and Section 17(a) of the
Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”).
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The relief sought in this action, including an asset freeze, is necessary to, among

other things, prevent further harm to Defendant’s clients and to restrain and enjoin Defendant
from violating the federal securities laws.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
7.

The Commission brings this action pursuant to authority conferred by Section

209(d) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(d)], Section 21(d)(1) of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C. § 78u(d)(1)], and Section 20(b) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(b)] and seeks to
restrain and permanently enjoin Defendant from engaging in the acts, practices, transactions, and
courses of business alleged herein, and such other and further relief as the Court may deem just
and appropriate.
8.

The Commission also seeks final judgments ordering Defendant to: (a) disgorge

its ill-gotten gains, together with prejudgment interest thereon and (b) pay civil monetary
penalties pursuant to Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)], Section 21(d)(3)
of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)], and Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C.
§ 77t(d)].
9.

The Commission also seeks preliminary and permanent injunctions: (a) enjoining

Defendant from future violations of Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act; Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder; and Section 17(a) of the Securities Act;
(b) freezing IIG’s assets; and (c) enjoining the filing or continuation of litigation affecting IIG’s
assets or assets controlled by IIG for the benefit of investment advisory clients.
10.

This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, Section

214(a) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-14(a)], Sections 20(b) and 22(a) of the Securities
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Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b) and 77v(a)] and Sections 21(d), 21(e), and 27 of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78aa].
11.

Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 214(a) of the Advisers Act [15

U.S.C. § 80b-14(a)] because many of the acts and transactions constituting violations of the
Advisers Act occurred within the Southern District of New York and because IIG inhabits the
District. Venue also is proper in this District pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act [15
U.S.C. § 77v(a)] and Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78aa] because acts and
transactions constituting violations alleged in this Complaint occurred within the Southern
District of New York.
12.

In connection with the conduct alleged in this Complaint, Defendant, directly or

indirectly, made use of the means or instrumentalities of transportation or communication in, and
the means or instrumentalities of, interstate commerce.
DEFENDANT
13.

IIG, a New Jersey limited liability company based in New York City, has been

registered with the Commission as an investment adviser since 1995. IIG serves as an
investment adviser for multiple funds and separate accounts. According to its Form ADV filed
in March 2018, IIG had $373 million in assets under management.
FACTS
Background on the Private Funds and Trade Finance Loans
14.

Since its inception in 1994, IIG has specialized in advising clients with respect to

investments in emerging market economies. In or about 1998, it launched TOF. IIG launched
GTFF and STFF in June and July 2017, respectively. All three Private Funds had the stated
strategy of investing in trade finance loans.
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Trade finance loans are loans made to small- to medium-sized businesses, usually

commodities exporters located in emerging markets, such as Latin America. The loans are
typically risky investments because the borrower’s ability to repay could be impacted by less
stable regulatory and economic conditions in the borrower’s home country. In order to mitigate
the risk of these investments, trade finance loans typically are secured by collateral, which may
include one or more of receivables, inventories, and assets.
16.

All three of the Private Funds were focused on and marketed to qualified

institutional investors, including pension funds, insurers, and hedge funds, as a way for these
prospective investors to diversify their portfolios with exposure to trade finance loans in Latin
America.
17.

In offering memoranda and other communications, IIG touted its risk control

strategies, which included portfolio concentration limits at the borrower, country, and
commodity level. It also touted its robust credit review process for borrowers.
18.

The Private Funds were valued on a regular basis including through a

determination of the funds’ net asset values (“NAV”), and IIG received compensation based on
NAV and performance calculations. With the exception of one position, every trade finance loan
in the Private Fund portfolios was valued by IIG at par plus accrued interest throughout the entire
life of the funds.
IIG Hides Losses in TOF
19.

Beginning in or about 2007, IIG engaged in various deceptive acts to misrepresent

the performance of and conceal losses in TOF, including overvaluing portfolio assets and
replacing non-performing assets with fictitious loans that were reported as if they were legitimate
performing assets.
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In or about 2007, when TOF’s gross asset value was approximately $300 million,

IIG learned that a $30 million loan by TOF to a South American coffee producer (the “Coffee
Loan”) had defaulted.
21.

Fearing that existing investors would flee the fund and that ongoing fundraising

efforts would suffer if the loss were disclosed, IIG’s two co-owners, Executive-1 and Executive2, decided to conceal the loss and knowingly erroneously valued the loan at par plus accrued
interest on the TOF’s books.
22.

The overvaluation of the Coffee Loan materially inflated the NAV reported to

TOF investors.
23.

When it became untenable to continue to carry the Coffee Loan on TOF’s books

as a performing asset due to auditor scrutiny, Executive-1 and Executive-2 removed the Coffee
Loan from the firm’s books and replaced it with fake loans to different borrowers (each, a
“Substitute Loan”). The purported borrowers were foreign companies operating in other
industries that were controlled by a business associate of IIG. Accordingly, the purported
borrowers never received anything of value from TOF, and there was no expectation they ever
would make any payments to TOF.
24.

Executive-1 and Executive-2 directed that documentation be created to evidence

each Substitute Loan for audit purposes. In addition, starting in about 2010, Executive-1 and
Executive-2 arranged for the purported borrowers to provide confirmations of the fake debts to
auditors. In one case, Executive-2 arranged for TOF to pay a monthly fee to a purported
borrower in exchange for receiving such false confirmations.
25.

In or about 2010, another sizeable TOF loan of approximately $30 million to a

seafood producer (the “Seafood Loan”) defaulted. As in the case of the loss on the Coffee Loan,
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Executive-1 and Executive-2 agreed to hide the new loss by first continuing to value the Seafood
Loan at par plus accrued interest and, when that became untenable, then removing the Seafood
Loan from the portfolio and replacing it with additional Substitute Loans.
26.

Over time, as new losses arose or as the fictitious loans matured, IIG would

remove them from the TOF portfolio and replace them with additional Substitute Loans.
27.

IIG’s practices of overvaluing loans, including valuing the worthless Substitute

Loans in the tens of millions of dollars, artificially inflated TOF’s NAV and resulted in IIG
receiving management and performance fees to which it was not entitled.
IIG Defrauds New Investors to Keep TOF’s Losses Under Wraps
28.

In or about November 2013, TOF continued to have liquidity problems due to

investor redemption requests, as well as repayment obligations on loans the fund had taken from
international development banks.
29.

In order to help meet these liquidity needs, and to continue to conceal TOF’s

losses, Executive-2 spearheaded an effort to securitize the TOF loan portfolio.
30.

Ultimately, as a result of Executive-2’s efforts, IIG obtained bank financing of

approximately $220 million to capitalize a collateralized loan obligation trust (the “CLO”).
31.

IIG, which served as the investment adviser to the CLO, then caused the CLO to

use some of its capital to acquire existing trade finance loans from TOF. The CLO retained
additional capital to make new trade finance loans.
32.

Once it had acquired these assets from TOF, the CLO issued bonds to investors,

backed by the cash flows the CLO received from the trust’s assets.
33.

The proceeds to TOF from the sale of these loans to the CLO were not sufficient

to meet TOF’s liquidity needs.
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Beginning in late 2014 and continuing through at least September 2016, in order

to generate more liquidity, Executive-1 diverted some of the remaining cash from the CLO to
TOF.
35.

To disguise the transactions, Executive-1 caused the CLO to make new loans to at

least seven Panamanian shell companies (the “Panama Loans”) secretly owned by IIG, but
instead of directing the money to the supposed borrowers, Executive-1 directed that it be
transferred to a TOF account and used to pay TOF’s liabilities.
36.

Executive-1, with the assistance of a senior IIG employee (“Employee-1”),

acquired the shell companies that were the nominal borrowers on the Panama Loans and by
procuring fraudulent promissory notes memorializing the Panama Loans.
37.

The Panama Loans were worthless. Nonetheless, IIG valued the fake assets in the

tens of millions of dollars on the books of the CLO.
IIG Offloads Fake and Troubled Loans to New Clients
38.

In or about 2017, TOF’s liquidity needs persisted, and the notes issued by the

CLO began to mature, without sufficient cash in the CLO from interest and principal payments
to redeem all the noteholders.
39.

IIG explored various options to generate liquidity to meet the liabilities of TOF

and the CLO, including raising a new fund to purchase assets from each.
40.

In or about 2017, IIG succeeded in generating interest in a new private fund,

GTFF, on the part of a foreign investor (“Investor-1”), which agreed to invest $70 million as an
anchor investor in the new fund.
41.

IIG used Investor-1’s investment and subsequent smaller investments by two

other foreign investors to purchase loan assets from TOF and the CLO for the GTFF portfolio.
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The assets purchased included approximately $44 million in fake Substitute Loans and Panama
Loans.
42.

In addition, Executive-1 caused GTFF to purchase approximately $28 million in

loans (the “Argentina Loans”) to an Argentine borrower (the “Argentine Borrower”) from the
CLO. At the time of the transaction, Executive-1 knew that the Argentina Loans were disputed,
with the borrower claiming that the loans had been fully satisfied and IIG claiming the Argentine
Borrower was in default. Executive-1 and IIG failed to disclose the dispute concerning the
Argentina Loans to GTFF and caused the fund to purchase the loans at par plus accrued interest,
a price materially higher than the actual value of the assets in light of the claimed payoff and
default.
43.

Later that same year, Investor-1 asked IIG to create another fund, STFF, to

facilitate an additional $130 million investment.
44.

IIG still was in need of fresh capital to fully redeem the CLO noteholders and

bailout TOF and agreed to establish STFF to facilitate Investor-1’s additional investment.
45.

Executive-1 then caused STFF to acquire approximately $10 million in fake

Substitute Loans and Panama Loans from TOF and the CLO.
46.

In addition, Executive-1 caused STFF to acquire $25 million in disputed

Argentina Loans from the CLO. As in the case of the GTFF transactions, Executive-1 and IIG
caused STFF to pay full price for the Argentina Loans and did not inform STFF or Investor-1
that the loans were disputed.
47.

The sale of the fake loans and over-valued Argentina Loans to GTFF and STFF

operated as a fraud on the funds and resulted in substantial damages to those clients.
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IIG Defrauds the Retail Fund
48.

In addition to serving as the investment adviser to the Private Funds, beginning in

or about December 2012, IIG became an investment adviser to a portion of the assets of a retail
mutual fund, the Retail Fund.
49.

In its capacity as an adviser to the Retail Fund, IIG recommended that it invest in

participation interests in trade finance loans originated by IIG. IIG was compensated for its
recommendations with a percentage of the cash flows from the loans it recommended.
50.

Loans to the Argentine Borrower were among the loans the Retail Fund invested

at IIG’s recommendation.
51.

In or about February 2017, the Argentine Borrower was delinquent on a principal

payment of approximately $6 million on a facility owned by the Retail Fund that was maturing.
52.

The Retail Fund informed IIG that it had an additional $6 million to invest and

was interested in further lending to the Argentine Borrower, but only if the Argentine Borrower
repaid the past-due loan in full.
53.

At the time, the Retail Fund was a crucial source of liquidity for IIG as a

purchaser of participations in loans held by the Private Funds. Executive-1 became concerned
that a default on the Argentina Loan could result in the Retail Fund ending the relationship with
IIG.
54.

On or about March 7, 2017, to make it appear as though the default on the

Argentina Loan had been cured, Executive-1 instructed that approximately $6 million be
transferred into a collection account of the Argentine Borrower from the collection account of a
different borrower (“Borrower-1”). He further instructed that the funds be used to make the
outstanding payment that the Argentine Borrower owed to the Retail Fund.
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That same day, Employee-1, acting on Executive-1’s instructions, presented the

Retail Fund with the opportunity to invest a fresh $6 million in a new loan recently made to the
Argentine Borrower (the “New Argentina Loan”). Employee-1 furnished the Retail Fund with
documentation purportedly memorializing the New Argentina Loan, including a notarized
promissory note and credit agreement.
56.

The New Argentina Loan did not exist, and the documentation provided to the

Retail Fund was forged. Employee-1 prepared the forged documentation by altering
documentation memorializing one of the earlier legitimate Argentina Loans, including
electronically copying signature blocks from older documents.
57.

None of the $6 million invested by the Retail Fund was loaned to the Argentine

Borrower. Instead, Executive-1 directed that the proceeds be transferred to the account of
Borrower-1 to reimburse that account for the earlier withdrawal.
58.

The purchase of the New Argentina Loan resulted in a $6 million loss to the

Retail Fund.
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Sections 206(1) and (2) of the Advisers Act
59.

The Commission realleges paragraphs 1 through 58, above.

60.

IIG, who had an adviser-client relationship with, and therefore owed a fiduciary

duty to, the Private Funds and the Retail Fund, violated Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the
Advisers Act [15 U.S. Code § 80b-6(1), (2)].
61.

From at least 2007 to the present, while acting as an investment adviser,

Defendant, by use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, directly
or indirectly, (a) employed a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud a client or prospective client;

11

20-10666-mew
Doc 3-4 Filed Document
03/02/20 1Entered
03/02/20 13:40:56
D
Case 1:19-cv-10796
Filed 11/21/19
Page 12 ofExhibit
14
13 of 15

Pg

and/or (b) engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business that operated as a fraud or
deceit upon a client or prospective client.
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rules 10b-5(a), (b), and (c) Thereunder
62.

The Commission realleges paragraphs 1 through 58, above.

63.

IIG violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rules

10b-5(a), (b), and (c) thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(a), (b), and (c)].
64.

From at least 2007 to the present, Defendant, directly or indirectly, by use of the

means or instruments of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or the facility of a national
securities exchange, in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, and with knowledge or
recklessness, (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue
statements of material fact or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and/or
(c) engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business which operates or would operate as a fraud
or deceit upon any person.
THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Sections 17(a)(1), (2), and (3) of the Securities Act
65.

The Commission realleges paragraphs 1 through 58, above.

66.

IIG violated Section 17(a)(1), (2), and (3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C.

§ 77q(a)(1), (2), and (3)].
67.

From at least 2007 to the present, Defendant, directly or indirectly, by use of the

means or instruments of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or the facility of a national
securities exchange, in connection with the offer or sale of securities, and with knowledge,
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recklessness, or negligence, (a) employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; (b) obtained
money or property by means of untrue statements of material fact or by omitting to state material
facts necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading; and/or (2) engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business which
operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchasers of the securities being offered
or sold.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court grant the
following relief:
I.
An order preliminarily, through final judgment, restraining and enjoining Defendant from
directly or indirectly committing future violations of Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers
Act, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17
C.F.R. § 240.10b-5], and Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)];
II.
An order preliminarily, through final judgment, freezing Defendant’s assets;
III.
An order preliminarily, through final judgement, enjoining the filing or continuation of
litigation that would affect the assets subject to the asset freeze order;
IV.
A final judgment permanently restraining and enjoining Defendant from directly or
indirectly committing future violations of Section 206 of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-6],
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R.
§ 240.10b-5], and Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)];
13
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V.
A final judgment ordering Defendant to disgorge all ill-gotten gains or unjust enrichment,
plus prejudgment interest thereon;
VI.
A final judgment ordering Defendant to pay civil monetary penalty pursuant to Section
209(e) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)]; and
VII.
Granting such other and further relief as the Court deems just, equitable, or necessary in
connection with the enforcement of the federal securities laws and for the protection of investors.
Dated: New York, New York
November 21, 2019

Respectfully submitted,
By: /s/ Daniel Michael
Marc P. Berger
Sanjay Wadhwa
Sheldon Pollock
Daniel Michael
Osman Nawaz
Philip A. Fortino
Lindsay S. Moilanen
Attorneys for the Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION
New York Regional Office
200 Vesey Street, Suite 400
New York, NY 10281-1022
(212) 336-1014 (Fortino)
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Jordan D. Weinreich, Esq. (jweinreich@shermanwells.com)
Joshua S. Bratspies, Esq. (jbratspies@shermanwells.com)

SHERMAN WELLS SYLVESTER & STAMELMAN LLP
1185 Avenue of the Americas, 3rd Floor
New York, New York 10036
212-763-6464
Attorneys for Non-Party Bank Leumi USA
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
)
)
)
)
Plaintiff, )
)
v.
)
)
INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT
)
GROUP, LLP,
)
Defendant. )
)
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

Case No.: 19-cv-10796-DLC
Hon. Denise L. Cote, U.S.D.J.
Oral Argument Requested

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF NON-PARTY BANK LEUMI USA’S
MOTION FOR PARTIAL RELIEF FROM THE JUDGMENT AND PRELIMINARY
ASSET FREEZE ORDER

Of Counsel:
Jordan D. Weinreich, Esq.
Joshua S. Bratspies, Esq.
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Non-Party Bank Leumi USA (“Bank Leumi”) respectfully submits this Memorandum of
Law in support of its motion for an order authorizing the use of frozen Bank Leumi account
assets to satisfy and repay an outstanding secured loan that is due and owing from IIG Trade
Finance, LLC (“IIG Trade Finance”), an affiliate of Defendant International Investment Group
LLC (“IIG”).
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
In the instant SEC enforcement action, this Court previously entered a Judgment and
Preliminary Asset Freeze Order (Dkt. No. 9) (the “Freeze Order”), which, among other things,
froze certain deposit accounts that are maintained by affiliates of IIG at Bank Leumi. Upon
information and belief, these frozen deposit accounts are holding monies that constitute
receivables owed to IIG Trade Finance and which serve as collateral for an outstanding, secured
loan in the principal amount of $200,000 that Bank Leumi previously extended to IIG Trade
Finance. That loan is now in default and Bank Leumi is entitled to collect certain receivables
due to IIG Trade Finance out of the frozen deposit accounts maintained by other IIG-related
entities at Bank Leumi.
Under applicable law, Bank Leumi’s first priority lien and security interest in these
receivables is senior to and has priority over any other claims to those funds, inducing any claims
that other IIG-related entities may have.

The amount of these receivables is within the

provenance of the IIG-related entities that have appeared in this action.

Accordingly,

Bank Leumi brings this motion to secure an accounting of all monies due and payable to
IIG Trade Finance, and for an order directing that those receivables, up to an amount sufficient to
satisfy IIG Trade Finance’s indebtedness to Bank Leumi, be exempted from the Freeze Order
and paid to Bank Leumi.

-1-
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RELEVANT FACTUAL BACKGROUND
A. The Bank’s Relationship with IIG
In or about November 2017, representatives of International Investment Group (“IIG”)
approached Bank Leumi about opening a banking relationship for certain of its affiliates. (See
Declaration of Douglas J. Meyer, dated February 27, 2020 (“Meyer Decl.”), at ¶3.)

In

connection with its account-opening process, Bank Leumi undertook due diligence concerning
IIG’s business and corporate structure. (Id. at ¶4.) As it was explained to Bank Leumi by IIG’s
representatives, IIG was in the business of sourcing borrowers for trade finance loans and
funding those loans through investors who participate in them. Specifically, employees of IIG
acted as relationship managers/business development personnel for all borrowers and investors.
(Id. at ¶3(a).) Upon the identification of a prospect or a new transaction with an existing client,
the IIG relationship manager interacted with the credit team at IIG Trade Finance, which
structured and originated the credit arrangement. (Id. at ¶3(b).) At the same time, the IIG
relationship manager determined which of the Investment Funds would fund the credit
arrangement (i.e., invest in the loan). (Id. at ¶3(c).)
Once the credit structure was finalized and the investor identified, IIG Trade Finance
acted as administrator for another entity, Trade Finance Trust, which was the lender of record.
IIG Trade Finance would book the credit facility naming Trade Finance Trust (the “Trust”) as
the lender of record. (Id. at ¶3(d).) Subsequently, the investors would fund the facility by
transferring funds into accounts maintained by the Trust, and the Trust in turn would wire the
funds to the borrower. These investors were typically investment funds sponsored by IIG,
including IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd. (“GTFF”), IIG Structured Trade Finance Fund
Ltd. (“STFF”) and IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V. (“TOF” and collectively with GTFF and
STFF, the “Investment Funds”). (Id. at ¶3(e).)

-2-
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As the loans are repaid, the proceeds are wired to the account of the Trust, which then
transfers funds to the Investment Funds that participated in the loan, paying principal and interest
as well as to IIG Trade Finance to pay for administration fees. (Id. at ¶3(f).)
B. The IIG Deposit Accounts
Ultimately, Bank Leumi accepted this new banking relationship and opened accounts for
IIG Trade Finance, the Investment Funds and the Trust. The same four people had access to and
authority over all of the accounts: David Hu (managing partner), Martin Silver (managing
partner), Thomas LaVecchia (senior director and chief compliance officer) and Andre Clarke
(corporate controller). (Id. at ¶5.)
C. The Bank’s Loan
On or about November 22, 2017, Martin Silver, on behalf of IIG Trade Finance, executed
a Line of Credit Note, pursuant to which Bank Leumi agreed to extend to IIG Trade Finance,
LLC a line of credit in the maximum amount of $500,000. (See id. at ¶6, Ex. A.) Concurrent
with the execution of the Line of Credit Note, Martin Silver, on behalf of IIG Trade Finance,
executed Loan/Credit Line Agreement, dated November 22, 2017 (the “Letter Agreement”).
(See id. at ¶7, Ex. B.) Concurrent with the execution of the Line of Credit Note and Line
Agreement, Martin Silver, on behalf of IIG Trade Finance, executed a security agreement,
pursuant to which IIG Trade Finance granted Bank Leumi a first priority lien and security
interest in all of its personal property, including, but not limited to, all of its accounts receivables,
payments intangibles, deposit accounts and bank accounts (the “Security Agreement”) (Id. at ¶8,
Ex. C.) To secure its lien, Bank Leumi filed a UCC-1 financing statement on December 7, 2017,
which identified the pledged collateral as “All personal property of the [IIG Trade Finance]
wherever located, whether now owned or existing or hereinafter acquired or arising.” (Id. at ¶9,
Ex. D.) This UCC-1 financing statement is effective for five years.

-3-
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Per the Line of Credit Note, IIG Trade Finance’s credit line was to mature on November
22, 2018. (Id. at ¶10, Ex. A at §1.) By agreement, the maturity date was extended several times,
first to February 15, 2019 (id. at ¶12, Ex. E), then to April 15, 2019 (id. at ¶13, Ex. F), and
finally to April 15, 2020 (id. at ¶14, Ex. G). With each extension, the security agreement and
pledge of collateral was reaffirmed. (See Ex. E at §2(b), Ex. F at §2(b), and Ex. G at §3(b).)
D. The Freeze Order
Subsequent to the final renewal, Bank Leumi was presented with a copy of the Freeze
Order. The Freeze Order required Bank Leumi to freeze accounts maintained and/or controlled
by the Defendant, which included accounts maintained at Bank Leumi by IIG Trade Finance, the
Investment Funds and the Trust. In total, over $20 million in deposits remain frozen at Bank
Leumi. (Id. at ¶17.)
As a result of the Freeze Order, on or about February 20, 2020, Bank Leumi declared an
event of default under the Line of Credit Note and demanded that IIG Trade Finance
immediately repay of all amounts due and owing thereunder. (Id. at ¶18, Ex. H.) As of February
20, 2020, the outstanding balance due and owing on the credit line was $200,000. (Id. at ¶19.)
To date, IIG Trade Finance has not repaid any of the outstanding loan balance. (Id. at ¶20.)
Interest, late fees and other costs, including attorneys’ fees, continue to accrue on the loan as set
forth in the loan documents. (Id. at ¶21.)

-4-
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LEGAL ARGUMENT
POINT I
BANK LEUMI HOLDS A PERFECTED, FIRST
PRIORITY SECURITY INTEREST AND LIEN IN
IIG TRADE FINANCE’S RECEIVABLES
A. Bank Leumi Holds a Valid Lien and Security Interest in IIG Trade Finance’s
Receivables
A “security interest” is “an interest in personal property or fixtures which secures
payment or performance of an obligation.” N.Y. U.C.C. § 1-201(35). Under the UCC, a security
interest attaches and is enforceable against the debtor when: (i) value has been given; (ii) the
debtor has rights in the collateral; and (iii) either the debtor has signed a security agreement that
describes the collateral or, where the collateral includes things like deposit accounts, the debtor
has control over the collateral. See N.Y. U.C.C. § 9-203.
Here, Bank Leumi acquired a valid and enforceable security interest in all of IIG Trade
Finance’s property, including its receivables, when Bank Leumi extended a line of credit to
IIG Trade Finance and, in turn, IIG Trade Finance executed the Line of Credit Note and Security
Agreement pledging as collateral all of its assets. Specifically, Section 5 of the Line of Credit
Note, entitled “Security; Right of Setoff; Deposit Accounts,” provides in relevant part:
This Note is secured by the property described in any security
agreement, pledge agreement, mortgage or other collateral security
document which Borrower or any third party has heretofore or may
from time to time hereafter execute and deliver to Bank to secure
any obligations of Borrower to Bank. Bank at all times and from
time to time shall have the right to require Borrower to deliver to
Bank as security for the obligations of Borrower hereunder,
collateral security, original or additional, satisfactory to Bank.
(See Meyer Decl., Ex. A at pp. 3-4.)
Further, Sections 1.1 and 1.4 of the Security Agreement provide, in relevant part, as
follows:
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1.1 Grant of Security Interest. As security for the full and prompt
payment and performance of any and all Obligations (as
hereinafter defined), Grantor, as debtor, hereby assigns, transfers
and grants to Bank, as secured party, a continuing lien on and
security interest in the Collateral (as hereinafter defined).
1.4 Collateral. The term “Collateral” as used herein means all of
Grantor's right, title and interest in the following, wherever located
and whether now owned or existing or hereafter acquired or
created and all proceeds thereof:
All personal property of Grantor, including without limitation all
(a) accounts (including, without limitation, health-care-insurance
receivables, accounts receivable and credit card receivables),…(h)
deposit accounts and bank accounts of any nature, (i) investment
property (including securities entitlements, securities accounts,
commodity accounts, and commodity contracts)…
(See Meyer Decl., Ex. C at pp. 1-2. (emphasis added).)
By virtue of the foregoing, Bank Leumi clearly acquired a valid and enforceable security
interest in IIG Trade Finance’s receivables.
B. Bank Leumi Perfected its Security Interest in IIG Trade Finance’s Receivables
Following the creation of a security interest, “perfection” is the next step that makes the
security interest effective against third parties.

See Corpus Juris Secundum, Secured

Transactions, § 48 (2008). “The purpose of perfection of a security interest is to secure priority
of the holder of a perfected interest against subsequent purchasers and lienholders.” Id. Indeed,
“when a security interest is perfected, it becomes a ‘first lien’ on the collateral unless there is
already an interest or lien against the property.” See American Jurisprudence, 2nd Ed., Secured
Transactions, §259 (2008).

When the collateral consists of receivables, perfection is

accomplished by the filing of a financing statement. N.Y. U.C.C. § 9-310(a).
Here, Bank Leumi perfected its security interest in IIG Trade Finance’s accounts
receivables by filing a UCC-1 financing statement on December 7, 2017, which identified the
pledged collateral as “All personal property of [IIG Trade Finance] wherever located, whether

-6-
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now owned or existing or hereinafter acquired or arising.” (Meyer Decl., Ex. C.) This UCC-1
financing statement is effective for five years. N.Y. U.C.C. § 9-515(a).
POINT II
THE COURT SHOULD GRANT PARTIAL RELIEF
FROM THE FREEZE ORDER TO PERMIT BANK
LEUMI TO SATISFY ITS LIEN
A. Bank Leumi, as a Secured Creditor, has the Right to Pursue Collection of IIG Trade
Finance’s Receivables from the Frozen IIG-Related Entity Accounts at Bank Leumi
A creditor with a security interest in receivables has the right to collect on those
receivables as an assignee. Bank Leumi Trust Co. of N.Y. v. Collins Sales Service, Inc., 65
A.D.2d 735 (1st Dep’t 1978), aff’d 47 N.Y.2d 888 (NY 1979).

See also N.Y. U.C.C.

§ 9-607(a)(3) (in the event of default, a secured party “may enforce the obligations of an account
debtor or other person obligated on collateral and exercise the rights of the debtor with respect to
the obligation of the account debtor or other person obligated on collateral to make payment or
otherwise render performance to the debtor”).
Further, a secured creditor’s right to collect its debtor’s receivables from a party trumps
any rights of setoff that the party may have against the debtor. See MNC Commercial Corp. v.
Joseph T. Ryerson & Son, Inc., 882 F.2d 615 (2nd Cir. 1989); Bank Leumi Trust Co., 65 A.D.2d
at 735 (“Perfected security interest must prevail over presumably subsequent unperfected
security interests.”).
Here, the Bank Leumi understands that at least one of the Investment Funds ceased
making its payments as a result of the instant SEC enforcement action against IIG. To the extent
that the Investment Funds owe monies to IIG Trade Finance, those monies are receivables that
are subject to Bank Leumi’s perfected, first priority security interest and lien. As such, Bank
Leumi has the right to collect them to satisfy IIG Trade Finance’s outstanding indebtedness.

-7-
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Further, IIG Trade Finance administered the collection of loan payments and, as
discussed above, deposited the collections into accounts at Bank Leumi held by the Trust. IIG
Trade Finance would then cause monies to be transferred from the Trust’s accounts to the
investors in the loans (i.e., the Investment Funds), and a portion would also be transferred to
itself as payment of its fees. Accordingly, the portion of the assets held in the Trust’s accounts at
Bank Leumi that are due and owing to IIG Trade Finance also are receivables that are subject to
Bank Leumi’s perfected, first priority security interest and lien. As such, Bank Leumi has the
right to collect them to satisfy IIG Trade Finance’s outstanding indebtedness.
B. Bank Leumi is Entitled to an Accounting of the Amounts that are Subject to its First
Priority Security Interest and Lien
For the reasons discussed above, Bank Leumi is entitled to recover the outstanding
balance due on its loan from funds held in frozen accounts at Bank Leumi, and Bank Leumi’s
claim to those funds takes priority over any claims that the Investment Funds may have to them.
However, before Bank Leumi can properly exercise its rights pursuant, among other things,
N.Y. U.C.C. § 9-607(a)(3), it must first determine the extent of the monies in the frozen accounts
that are subject to its lien. The Investment Funds are in possession of this information and
should, therefore, be required to account for any monies due to IIG Trade Finance, as well as any
monies that the Investment Funds are due from the Trust’s accounts. Upon a determination of
the extent of the assets held at Bank Leumi that are subject to its lien, the Court should issue an
order granting partial relief from the Freeze Order in the amount due and owing to Bank Leumi
from IIG Trade Finance.1
1

In addition to the principal balance of $200,000, the Line of Credit Note also provides Bank
Leumi with the right to recover its collection costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees. (See
Bank Decl., Ex. A at p. 8, §8.6.) Bank Leumi reserves the right to seek reimbursement of its
attorneys’ fees in this matter after obtaining the requested accounting and determining the
amount of receivables that are subject to its perfected, first priority lien and security interest.
-8-
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CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Bank Leumi respectfully requests that the Court grant its
application for partial relief from the Freeze Order.
Respectfully submitted,

SHERMAN WELLS SYLVESTER &
STAMELMAN LLP
Attorneys for Bank Leumi USA
By:
DATED: February 27, 2020
4837-5403-3588, v. 1
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Jordan D. Weinreich, Esq.Gweinreich@shermanwells.com)
Joshua S. Bratspies, Esq.Gbratspies@shermanwells.com)
SHERMAN WELLS SYLVESTER & STAMELMAN LLP

1185 Avenue of the Americas, 3rd Floor
New York, New York 10036
212-763-6464
Attorneys for Non-Party Bank Leumi USA
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,
V.

INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT
GROUP, LLP,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No.: 19-cv-10796-DLC
Hon. Denise L. Cote, U.S.D.J.

DECLARATION OF
DOUGLAS J. MEYER

Defendant. )
)

-----------------

DOUGLAS J. MEYER declares and states pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746:
1.

I am a Senior Vice President of Northeast Commercial Banking at Non-Party Bank

Leumi USA ("Bank Leumi"). I am fully familiar with the facts and circumstances set forth herein
from my own personal knowledge as well as from a review of Bank Leumi's books and records,
to which I have access.
2.

I submit this Declaration in support of Bank Leumi's Motion seeking an Order

granting partial relief from the Judgment and Preliminary Asset Freeze Order as to Defendant
International Investment Group LLC (Dkt. No. 9) (the "Freeze Order"), and authorizing the use of
frozen account assets at Bank Leumi to satisfy and repay an outstanding loan in the principal
amount of $200,000.00, plus interest and attorneys' fees, that is due and owing to Bank Leumi
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from IIG Trade Finance, LLC ("IIG Trade Finance"), an affiliate of Defendant International
Investment Group LLC ("IIG").
3.

In or about November 2017, representatives of IIG approached Bank Leumi about

opening a banking relationship for certain of its affiliates.
4.

In connection with its account-opening process, Bank Leumi undertook due

diligence concerning IIG's business and corporate structure. In that regard, IIG's representatives
explained the following to Bank Leumi:
a.

IIG was in the business of sourcing borrowers for trade finance loans and

funding those loans through investors who participate in them.

Specifically, employees of IIG

acted as relationship managers/business development personnel for all borrowers and investors.
b.

Upon the identification of a prospect or a new transaction with an existing

client, the IIG relationship manager interacted with the credit team at IIG Trade Finance, which
structured and originated the credit arrangement.
c.

At the same time, the IIG relationship manager determined which of the

Investment Funds would fund the credit arrangement (i.e., invest in the loan).
d.

Once the credit structure was finalized and the investor identified, IIG Trade

Finance acted as administrator for another entity, Trade Finance Trust, which was the lender of
record. IIG Trade Finance would book the credit facility naming Trade Finance Trust (the "Trust")
as the lender of record.
e.

Subsequently, the investors would fund the facility by transferring funds

into accounts maintained by the Trust, and the Trust in tum would wire the funds to the borrower.
These investors were typically investment funds sponsored by IIG, including IIG Global Trade
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Finance Fund Ltd. ("GTFF"), IIG Structured Trade Finance Fund Ltd. ("STFF") and IIG Trade
Opportunities Fund N.V. ("TOF'' and collectively with GTFF and STFF, the "Investment Funds").
f.

As the loans were repaid, the proceeds were wired to the account of the

Trust, which then transferred funds to the Investment Funds that participated in the loan, paying
principal and interest as well as to IIG Trade Finance to pay for administration fees.
5.

Ultimately, Bank Leumi accepted this new banking relationship and opened

accounts for IIG Trade Finance, the Investment Funds and the Trust. The same four people had
access to and authority over all of the accounts: David Hu (managing partner), Martin Silver
(managing partner), Thomas LaVecchia (senior director and chief compliance officer) and Andre
Clarke ( corporate controller).
6.

On or about November 22, 2017, Martin Silver, on behalf of IIG Trade Finance,

executed a Line of Credit Note, pursuant to which Bank Leumi agreed to extend to IIG Trade
Finance, LLC a line of credit in the maximum amount of $500,000. (A true and correct copy of
the Line of Credit Note is attached hereto as EXHIBIT A.)
7.

Concurrent with the execution of the Line of Credit Note, Martin Silver, on behalf

of IIG Trade Finance, executed Loan/Credit Line Agreement, dated November 22, 2017 (the
"Letter Agreement"). (A true and correct copy of the Letter Agreement is attached hereto as
EXHIBIT B.)
8.

Concurrent with the execution of the Line of Credit Note and the Letter Agreement,

Martin Silver, on behalf of IIG Trade Finance, also executed a security agreement, pursuant to
which IIG Trade Finance granted Bank Leumi a first priority lien and security interest in all of its
personal property, including, but not limited to, all of its accounts receivables, payments
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intangibles, deposit accounts and bank accounts (the "Security Agreement"). (A true and correct
copy of the Security Agreement is attached hereto as EXHIBIT C.)
9.

To secure its lien, Bank Leumi filed a UCC-1 financing statement on December 7,

2017, which identified the pledged collateral as "All personal property of the [IIG Trade Finance]
wherever located, whether now owned or existing or hereinafter acquired or arising." (A true and
correct copy of the UCC-1 financing statement filed by Bank Leumi is attached hereto as
EXHIBIT D.)
10.

Per the Line of Credit Note, IIG Trade Finance's credit line was to mature on

November 22, 2018. (See Ex. A at § 1.)
11.

The Line of Credit Note was amended several times to extend the maturity date.

12.

The first amendment, dated as of November 22, 2018, extended the maturity date

to February 15, 2019. (A true and correct of this amendment is attached hereto as EXHIBIT E.)
13.

The second amendment, dated as of February 15, 2019, extended the maturity date

to April 15, 2019. (A true and correct of this amendment is attached hereto as EXHIBIT F.)
14.

The third amendment, dated as of April 15, 2019, extended the maturity date to

April 15, 2020. (A true and correct of this amendment is attached hereto as EXHIBIT G.)
15.

With each extension, the security agreement and pledge of collateral was

reaffirmed. (See Ex. E at §2(b ), Ex. F at §2(b ), and Ex. G at §3(b ).)
16.

Subsequent to the April 15, 2019 amendment, Bank Leumi was presented with a

copy of the Freeze Order. The Freeze Order required Bank Leumi to freeze accounts maintained
and/or controlled by the IIG, which included accounts maintained at Bank Leumi by IIG Trade
Finance, the Investment Funds and the Trust.
17.

In total, over $20 million in deposits remain frozen at Bank Leumi.
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As a result of the Freeze Order, on or about February 20, 2020, Bank Leumi

declared an event of default under the Line of Credit Note and the Letter Agreement, and
demanded that IIG Trade Finance immediately repay of all amounts due and owing thereunder.
(A true and correct copy of Bank Leumi' s declaration of an event of default is attached hereto as

EXHIBITH.)
19.

At the time that Bank Leumi declared IIG Trade Finance's loan to be in default, the

outstanding balance due and owing on the credit line was $200,000.00.
20.

To date, IIG Trade Finance has not repaid any of the outstanding loan balance.

21.

Interest, late fees and other costs, including attorneys' fees, continue to accrue on

the loan as set forth in the loan documents. (See Ex. A at §3, §4.3 & §8.6; Ex.Bat §A(2) & §D(2).)

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

4812-0904-0821, V. 1
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
)
)
)
)
Plaintiff, )
)
v.
)
)
INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT
)
GROUP, LLP,
)
Defendant. )
)
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

Case No.: 19-cv-10796-DLC
Hon. Denise L. Cote, U.S.D.J.
[PROPOSED] ORDER

THIS MATTER, having been opened to the Court by Sherman Wells Sylvester &
Stamelman LLP, attorneys for Non-Party Bank Leumi USA (“Bank Leumi”), by way of Motion
seeking an Order granting partial relief from the Judgment and Preliminary Asset Freeze Order as
to Defendant International Investment Group LLC (Dkt. No. 9) (the “Freeze Order”), and
authorizing the use of frozen account assets at Bank Leumi to satisfy and repay an outstanding
loan in the principal amount of $200,000.00, plus interest and attorneys’ fees, that is due and owing
to Bank Leumi from IIG Trade Finance, LLC, an affiliate of Defendant International Investment
Group LLC, and upon notice to counsel for the parties, and the Court having considered the papers
in support of and in opposition to Bank Leumi’s Motion, and upon the pleadings and proceedings
had to date herein, and for good cause shown;
IT IS on this ______ day of ____________________, 2020
ORDERED that Bank Leumi’s Motion be and hereby is GRANTED; and it is
further
ORDERED that, within 10 days, IIG Trade Opportunities Fund, LLC shall account
for all monies due and payable from it to IIG Trade Finance, LLC; and it is further
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ORDERED that, within 10 days, IIG Structured Trade Finance Fund, Ltd. shall
account for all monies due and payable from it to IIG Trade Finance, LLC; and it is further
ORDERED that, within 10 days, International Investment Group, LLC shall
account for all monies due and payable to IIG Trade Finance, LLC by IIG Global Trade Finance
Fund Ltd., IIG Trade Opportunities Fund, LLC and/or IIG Structured Trade Finance Fund, Ltd.;
and it is further
ORDERED that, within 10 days, International Investment Group, LLC shall
account for the portion of any monies held by Trade Finance Trust that are due and payable to
IIG Trade Finance, LLC; and it is further
ORDERED that the monies due to IIG Trade Finance, LLC as identified by the
accountings required under the preceding paragraphs (the “Receivables”), up to an amount
sufficient to satisfy IIG Trade Finance LLC’s outstanding loan indebtedness to Bank Leumi, in the
principal amount of $200,000.00, plus interest and attorneys’ fees (the “Exempt Funds”), shall be
and hereby are deemed exempt from the Freeze Order; and it is further
ORDERED that Bank Leumi is immediately authorized to take the Exempt Funds
from any deposit accounts maintained at Bank Leumi by IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd., IIG
Trade Opportunities Fund, LLC, IIG Structured Trade Finance Fund, Ltd. and Trade Finance
Trust, and to apply such Exempt Funds towards IIG Trade Finance LLC’s outstanding loan
indebtedness to Bank Leumi in the principal amount of $200,000.00, plus interest and attorneys’
fees.

HON. DENISE L. COTE, U.S.D.J.
4835-3163-1797, v. 1
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK: COMMERCIAL DIVISION
IIG GLOBAL TRADE FINANCE FUND LTD. and
IIG STRUCTURED TRADE FINANCE FUND LTD.,

Index No.

/2019

Motion Sequence No. 001
Plaintiffs,
Oral Argument Requested
v.
IIG TRADE OPPORTUNITIES FUND N.V.,
Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF
PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN LIEU OF
COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO CPLR § 3213

MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP
250 West 55th Street
New York, New York 10019
(212) 468-8000
HERRICK, FEINSTEIN LLP
Two Park Avenue
New York, New York 10016
(212) 592-1500
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

ny-1816579

1 of 18

FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 12/27/2019 02:29 PM
20-10666-mew
NYSCEF DOC.
NO. 2

Doc 3-7

INDEX NO. 657724/2019

Filed 03/02/20 Entered 03/02/20 13:40:56
Exhibit
G Pg12/27/2019
RECEIVED
NYSCEF:
3 of 19

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ...................................................................................................... 1
NO PRIOR ACTION ........................................................................................................................ 1
STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS ..................................................................................... 2
A.

The Loan and Guarantee Agreements....................................................................... 2

B.

Loan Disbursements.................................................................................................. 6

C.

TOF Borrower’s Default and TOF Guarantor’s Failure to Honor the Guarantee. ... 6

D.

Amounts Due and Owing.......................................................................................... 9

ARGUMENT .................................................................................................................................. 10
I.

Plaintiffs Are Entitled to Summary Judgment Pursuant to CPLR § 3213. ............. 10

II.

Plaintiffs Have Established a Prima Facie Case for Their Claims. ........................ 12

CONCLUSION ............................................................................................................................... 14

ny-1816579

i
2 of 18

FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 12/27/2019 02:29 PM
20-10666-mew
NYSCEF DOC.
NO. 2

Doc 3-7

INDEX NO. 657724/2019

Filed 03/02/20 Entered 03/02/20 13:40:56
Exhibit
G Pg12/27/2019
RECEIVED
NYSCEF:
4 of 19
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Page(s)

Cases
Bank of Am., N.A. v. Solow,
59 A.D.3d 304 (1st Dep’t 2009) ............................................................................................11, 12
Bank of Am., N.A. v. Tatham,
305 A.D.2d 183 (1st Dep’t 2003) ................................................................................................12
Cmty. Nat’l Bank & Tr. Co. of N.Y. v. I.M.F. Trading, Inc.,
167 A.D.2d 193 (1st Dep’t 1990) ................................................................................................13
Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank, B.A. v. Navarro,
25 N.Y.3d 485 (2015) ............................................................................................................10, 11
Jason Trading Corp. v. Lason Trading Corp.,
303 A.D.2d 180 (1st Dep’t 2003) ................................................................................................11
Poah One Acquisition Holdings Ltd. v. Armenta,
96 A.D.3d 560 (1st Dep’t 2012) ..................................................................................................11
Reliance Constr. Ltd. v. Kennelly,
70 A.D.3d 418 (1st Dep’t 2010) ..................................................................................................12
Sarfati v. Palazzolo,
142 A.D.3d 877 (1st Dep’t 2016) ................................................................................................12
Simoni v. Time-Line, Ltd.,
272 A.D.2d 537 (2d Dep’t 2000) ...........................................................................................12, 13
Statutes
CPLR § 3213 ............................................................................................................................. passim

ny-1816579

ii
3 of 18

FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 12/27/2019 02:29 PM
20-10666-mew
NYSCEF DOC.
NO. 2

Doc 3-7

INDEX NO. 657724/2019

Filed 03/02/20 Entered 03/02/20 13:40:56
Exhibit
G Pg12/27/2019
RECEIVED
NYSCEF:
5 of 19

Plaintiffs IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd. (“GTFF”) and IIG Structured Trade
Finance Fund Ltd. (“STFF,” together with GTFF, “Plaintiffs”) respectfully submit this
memorandum of law in support of their motion for summary judgment in lieu of complaint
pursuant to New York Civil Practice Law and Rules (“CPLR”) § 3213 against Defendant IIG
Trade Opportunities Fund N.V. (“TOF Guarantor” or “Defendant”). The underlying facts
relevant to this motion for summary judgment in lieu of complaint are set forth in the Affidavit
of Christopher Kennedy in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment in Lieu of Complaint
Pursuant to CPLR § 3213, dated December 27, 2019 and the Affidavit of Arthur G. Jakoby in
Support of Motion for Summary Judgment in Lieu of Complaint Pursuant to CPLR § 3213, dated
December 27, 2019.
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
Consistent with the terms of the parties’ agreements, Plaintiffs bring this action seeking
repayment of the outstanding principal of a loan for which no payments have yet been made. In
2018, Plaintiffs agreed to lend up to $16,000,000 to an entity in which Defendant owns 100%
of the equity interest with the explicit agreement that Defendant provide an absolute and
unconditional guarantee for repayment. Defendant assented to that agreement and executed the
guarantee in Plaintiffs’ favor. Plaintiffs then made disbursements totaling $14,339,479.97.
Despite Plaintiffs’ notices, neither the borrower nor Defendant has made any payments to
Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs were forced to initiate this action to liquidate their claim against Defendant
for the unpaid principal plus default interest and all costs and fees incurred in enforcing the
agreements—which continue to accrue each day.
NO PRIOR ACTION
No prior application for the relief requested herein has been made to this Court or any other
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court.
STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS
A.

The Loan and Guarantee Agreements.

On July 17, 2018, Plaintiffs entered into a promissory note (the “Note”), secured by a
security agreement (the “Security Agreement”), with non-party TOF Cayman SPV (“TOF
Borrower”) of which Defendant owns 100% of the equity interests. (Kennedy Ex. C, at 1;
Kennedy Aff. ¶ 6.) 1 Pursuant to the terms of the Note, Plaintiffs agreed to lend up to
$16,000,000 plus interest on the terms provided therein (the “Loan”). (Kennedy Ex. A, at 1;
Kennedy Aff. ¶ 6; Jakoby Aff. ¶ 3.) The Security Agreement was a condition precedent to the
issuance of the Loan. (Kennedy Ex. B, at 1; Kennedy Aff. ¶ 6.) TOF Borrower promised to
repay the entire outstanding principal “(or as much thereof as may be advanced by the
[Plaintiffs] to [TOF] Borrower), plus interest on the unpaid principal balance at the rate of nine
percent (9%) per annum” in one installment on July 17, 2019. (Kennedy Ex. A, at 1; Kennedy
Aff. ¶ 6; Jakoby Aff. ¶ 3.) As a condition precedent to issuing the Loan, Plaintiffs required that
TOF Guarantor provide an unconditional guarantee for the principal amount of the Loan.
(Kennedy Ex. C, at 1; Kennedy Aff. ¶ 7.)
To that end, on July 17, 2018, TOF Guarantor entered into an unconditional guarantee
agreement for repayment of the principal owed by TOF Borrower under the Loan (the
“Guarantee”). (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 8; Jakoby Aff. ¶ 4.) The Guarantee explicitly provides that it is

1

References to “Kennedy Ex. __” are to the exhibits to the Affidavit of Christopher
Kennedy in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment in Lieu of Complaint Pursuant to CPLR §
3213 (“Kennedy Affidavit” or “Kennedy Aff.”) filed contemporaneously herewith and
references to “Jakoby Ex. __” are to the exhibits to the Affirmation of Arthur G. Jakoby in
Support of Motion for Summary Judgment in Lieu of Complaint Pursuant to CPLR § 3213
(“Jakoby Affirmation” or “Jakoby Aff.”) filed contemporaneously herewith.
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a “guaranty of payment and not of collection and constitutes an additional, separate and
independent obligation of the Guarantor.” (Kennedy Ex. C, § 2.01(e); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 8.) The
Guarantee “is a continuing obligation,” that remains in “full force and effect until” either “the
Guaranteed Obligations 2 have been fully paid strictly in accordance with the” parties’
agreements or “the guarantee in this [Guarantee] has been finally released by” Plaintiffs.
(Kennedy Ex. C, § 2.02(a); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 8.) Neither has occurred here. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 8.)
Under the terms of the Guarantee, TOF Guarantor agreed to “irrevocably, absolutely and
unconditionally” guarantee “the due and punctual payment of the outstanding principal amount
of the Loan made by [Plaintiffs] to [TOF] Borrower . . . when due, whether at stated maturity,
upon acceleration or otherwise.” (Kennedy Ex. C (emphasis added), § 2.01(a); Kennedy Aff. ¶
9.) TOF Guarantor further agreed that if TOF Borrower defaults on its payment obligations,
“whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration or otherwise, . . . immediately upon first demand
by [Plaintiffs], [TOF Guarantor] will pay to [Plaintiffs], no later than ten (10) days following
demand from [Plaintiffs], the then due amount of the Guaranteed Obligations, in U.S. Dollars,”
such guaranteed obligations being limited to the principal amount of the loan. (Kennedy Ex. C,
§ 2.01(b); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 9.)
Failure to render payment of the principal amount of the loan “when due and payable”
under § 2.01(b) imposes an additional obligation upon TOF Guarantor to “pay interest on the
Guaranteed Obligations (i.e., the loan principal) due and unpaid at the default rate of interest
determined in accordance with the Note.” (Kennedy Ex. C, § 2.01(c); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 10.)
Pursuant to § 2.01(c) of the Guarantee, interest on the unpaid principal “shall accrue from the

2

The Guaranteed Obligations are defined as “the outstanding principal amount of the Loan
made by [Plaintiffs] to [TOF] Borrower.” (Kennedy Ex. C, § 2.01(a).)
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date the relevant overdue payment became due and payable hereunder until, but excluding,
the date of actual payment (as well after as before judgment) and be payable on demand.”
(Kennedy Ex. C, § 2.01(c) (emphasis added); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 10.)
As part of the Guarantee, TOF Guarantor also explicitly:
waive[d] notice of acceptance of this [Guarantee] and notice of any liability to
which it may apply, and waives presentment, demand of payment, protest, notice
of dishonor or non-payment of any such liability, notice of suit or taking of other
action by [Plaintiffs] against, and any other notice to, any party liable thereon,
including, without limitation, [TOF] Borrower or any other guarantor.
(Kennedy Ex. C, § 2.01(e); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 11.)
TOF Guarantor further agreed to a broad waiver of defenses:
[TOF] Guarantor’s obligations under this [Guarantee] shall not be discharged,
affected or impaired by any act, omission, circumstance (other than complete
payment of the Guaranteed Obligations), matter or thing which, but for this
provision, would reduce, release or prejudice any of the obligations of [TOF]
Guarantor under this [Guarantee] or which might otherwise constitute a legal or
equitable discharge or defense of a surety or a guarantor . . . .
(Kennedy Ex. C, § 3.01; Kennedy Aff. ¶ 12.) TOF Guarantor also agreed that: “No failure or
delay by [Plaintiffs] in exercising any power, remedy, discretion, authority or other rights under
this Agreement shall waive or impair that or any other right of [Plaintiffs].” (Kennedy Ex. C, §
6.05(a); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 12.) The Guarantee also provides an irrevocable and unconditional
waiver of any requirement that the Plaintiffs first seek payment through other sources, including
TOF Borrower, before seeking payment from TOF Guarantor under the Guarantee. (Kennedy
Ex. C, § 3.02; Kennedy Aff. ¶ 13.)
TOF Guarantor also agreed to indemnify Plaintiffs if any of the agreed-upon obligations
were not recovered or recoverable from TOF Guarantor for any reason. Specifically, the
Guarantee provides:
As a separate, continuing and independent obligation by way of indemnity, [TOF]
Guarantor hereby agrees that if any of the monies or liabilities which are intended
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to be the subject of the preceding provisions of this [Guarantee] shall not be
recovered or recoverable from [TOF] Guarantor for any reason whatsoever
(including, without limitation, any incapacity of [TOF] Borrower or [TOF]
Guarantor or invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of any Loan Document
and whether or not now existing or known to [Plaintiffs], [TOF] Borrower, [TOF]
Guarantor or any other guarantor) then [TOF] Guarantor shall be liable, on demand
by [Plaintiffs], to indemnify [Plaintiffs] against all losses, claims or costs directly
suffered or incurred by [Plaintiffs] as a consequence of such non-recovery from
[TOF] Guarantor; provided, that the maximum amount recoverable by [Plaintiffs]
from [TOF] Guarantor under the indemnities given in this Section 2.08 shall not
exceed the amount which would have been recoverable by [Plaintiffs] from [TOF]
Guarantor had this [Guarantee] been enforceable as a guarantee against [TOF]
Guarantor.
(Kennedy Ex. C, § 2.08; Kennedy Aff. ¶ 14.)
The Guarantee further requires TOF Guarantor to pay Plaintiffs’ “reasonable costs and
expenses incurred . . . in relation to the enforcement or protection or attempted enforcement or
protection of [their] rights under [the Guarantee], including, without limitation, reasonable legal
and other professional consultants’ fees.” (Kennedy Ex. C, § 6.04; Kennedy Aff. ¶ 15.)
Under the Guarantee, TOF Guarantor also agreed to accept personal service in New
York. (Kennedy Ex. C, § 6.06(g); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 17.) Specifically, Section 6.06(d)-(f)
provides:
d) [TOF] Guarantor hereby irrevocably designates, appoints and empowers
Corporation Service Company, located at 80 State Street, Albany, NY 12207-2543,
United States of America, as its authorized agent solely to receive for and on its
behalf service of any summons, complaint or other legal process in any action, suit
or proceeding [Plaintiffs] may bring in the State of New York in respect of this
Agreement.
(e) As long as this [Guarantee] remains in force, [TOF] Guarantor shall maintain a
duly appointed and authorized agent to receive for and on its behalf service of any
summons, complaint or other legal process in any action, suit or proceeding
[Plaintiffs] may bring in New York, New York, United States of America, with
respect to this Agreement. [TOF] Guarantor shall keep [Plaintiffs] advised of the
identity and location of such agent.
(f) [TOF] Guarantor also irrevocably consents, if for any reason its authorized agent
for service of process of summons, complaint and other legal process in any action,
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suit or proceeding is not present in New York, New York, to the service of such
papers being made out of the courts of the United States of America located in the
Southern District of New York and the courts of the State of New York located in
the Borough of Manhattan by mailing copies of the papers by registered United
States air mail, postage prepaid, to [TOF] Guarantor at its address specified
pursuant to Section 6.01. In such a case, [Plaintiffs] shall also send by facsimile,
or have sent by facsimile, a copy of the papers to [TOF] Guarantor.
(Kennedy Ex. C, § 6.06 (d)-(f); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 17.) “Service in the manner provided in
Sections 6.06 (d), (e) and (f) in any action, suit or proceeding will be deemed personal service,
will be accepted by [TOF] Guarantor as such and will be valid and binding upon [TOF]
Guarantor for all purposes of any such action, suit or proceeding.” (Kennedy Ex. C, § 6.06 (g);
Kennedy Aff. ¶ 17.) Service will be effectuated consistent with these terms.
B.

Loan Disbursements.

On or about July 16, 2018, GTFF disbursed $2,000,000 and STFF disbursed $3,700,000
under the Note. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 18; Kennedy Ex. D, at 3; Jakoby Aff. ¶ 6; Jacoby Ex. A, at 1.)
On or about July 18, 2018, STFF disbursed an additional $363,000 and GTFF disbursed another
$182,000 under the Note. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 18; Kennedy Ex. D, at 4; Jakoby Aff. ¶ 6; Jacoby Ex.
A, at 2.) On or about February 7, 2019, Plaintiffs disbursed an additional $8,094,479.97 with
$2,843,000 from GTFF and $5,260,479.97 from STFF under the Note. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 18;
Kennedy Ex. E, at 1; Jakoby Aff. ¶ 6; Jacoby Ex. A, at 3.) To date, Plaintiffs have disbursed a
total of $14,339,479.97 under the Note. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 18; Jakoby Aff. ¶ 6.)
C.
Guarantee.

TOF Borrower’s Default and TOF Guarantor’s Failure to Honor the

In late 2018 or early 2019, unpaid investors of TOF Guarantor requested a declaration
of TOF Guarantor’s bankruptcy. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 19.)
On July 17, 2019, the Note matured with payment due in accordance with the parties’
agreements. TOF Borrower failed to tender payment to Plaintiffs. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 20.)
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On August 22, 2019, an unpaid redemption creditor of GTFF filed a petition with the
Grand Court of the Cayman Islands (the “Cayman Grand Court”) seeking an order that GTFF
be wound up in accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 21; Kennedy
Ex. G.)
On September 3, 2019, TOF Guarantor was declared bankrupt by the Court of Appeal,
Curacao and Ms. V.P. Maria, LLM was appointed trustee in bankruptcy of Guarantor (the “TOF
Guarantor Bankruptcy Order”). (Kennedy Ex. F; Kennedy Aff. ¶ 22.)
On September 22, 2019, the directors of STFF passed a resolution appointing Arthur G.
Jakoby as interim liquidator with the authority to take actions to maximize the value of the
company’s assets until such time as official liquidators are appointed. (Jakoby Aff. ¶ 7; Jakoby
Ex. B.)
On October 23, 2019, the Cayman Grand Court held a hearing on the creditors’ winding
up application, entered an order (the “GTFF Order”) that GTFF be wound up pursuant to the
Companies Law (2018 Revision) of the Cayman Islands and appointed Alexander Lawson and
Christopher Kennedy as joint official liquidators (“GTFF JOLs”) of GTFF. (Kennedy Ex. G;
Kennedy Aff. ¶ 23.) The GTFF Order provides that the GTFF JOLs have the power to, inter
alia, act jointly and severally in their capacities as liquidators. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 23; Kennedy
Ex. G.)
On November 26, 2019, Plaintiffs sent (i) a notice of nonpayment to TOF Borrower (the
“Nonpayment Notice”) and (ii) a demand for payment to TOF Guarantor (the “Demand
Notice”). (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 24; Kennedy Ex. H; Kennedy Ex. I.) Under the terms of the Security
Agreement, an event of default (“Event of Default”) occurs when “any one or more” enunciated
events transpires, including:
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[TOF] Borrower fails to pay any principal or interest due under the Note or any
installment due thereunder on the due date thereof and such failure shall continue
for two (2) days after the giving of notice by [Plaintiffs] to [TOF] Borrower of such
failure to make payment.
(Kennedy Ex. B, § 7(a)(i); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 24.) Upon the occurrence of an Event of
Default, the outstanding balance accrues interest at the agreed-upon rate of nine percent
plus an additional two percent, or an eleven percent default rate. Specifically, the Note
provides: “All indebtedness outstanding under this Note shall bear interest after maturity,
whether at its maturity date, by acceleration or otherwise, at the interest rate then in effect
plus two percent (2%) per annum.” (Kennedy Ex. A, at 2; Kennedy Aff. ¶ 24.) TOF
Borrower failed to render payment within two days of the Nonpayment Notice, and has not
cured its default. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 24; Jakoby Aff. ¶ 9.) Default interest continues to
accrue. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 24.)
Under the terms of the Security Agreement, an event of default also occurs when:
(vi) Any Guarantor defaults under or otherwise breaches any of the terms of his or
its Guaranty of the Obligations; or
...
(xi) A petition under any section or chapter of the Bankruptcy Code or any similar
law or regulation shall be filed by or against any Borrower or any Guarantor, and
in the case of any petition filed by a third party, such petition is not dismissed within
sixty (60) days after such filing . . . or any case or proceeding is filed by or against
Borrower or any Guarantor for its dissolution, liquidation . . . .
(Kennedy Ex. B, § 7(a)(i), (vi), (xi); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 25.)
In late 2018 or early 2019, unpaid investors of TOF Guarantor sought a declaration of its
bankruptcy, and on September 3, 2019, following a reversal of a lower court’s decision denying
their application, TOF Guarantor was declared bankrupt. (Kennedy Aff. ¶¶ 19, 22; Kennedy Ex.
F.) This bankruptcy constitutes an Event of Default. Further, another Event of Default also
occurred when TOF Guarantor failed to satisfy its obligations to Plaintiffs within ten days of the
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Demand Notice thereby breaching the Guarantee. (Kennedy Ex. C, § 2.01(b); Kennedy Aff. ¶
25; Jakoby Aff. ¶ 9.) Under the terms of the Guarantee, TOF Guarantor must “pay interest on
the Guaranteed Obligations due and unpaid at the default rate of interest determined in accordance
with the Note.” (Kennedy Ex. C, § 2.01(c); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 2.) Default interest continues to
accrue. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 25.) TOF Guarantor’s obligations under the Guarantee also include all
costs, expenses and reasonable attorneys’ fees paid or incurred by Plaintiffs in seeking to obtain
payment under or otherwise enforce the Guarantee. (Kennedy Ex. C, § 6.04; Kennedy Aff. ¶ 28.)
On November 26, 2019, TOF Guarantor entered into a consent order (the “SEC Order”)
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). (Kennedy Ex. J; Kennedy Aff.
¶ 26.) Pursuant to the SEC Order, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York
implemented an asset freeze against TOF Guarantor. (Kennedy Ex. J, at 5; Kennedy Aff. ¶ 26.)
However, actions taken by Plaintiffs are excluded from the freeze. (Kennedy Ex. J at 5; Kennedy
Aff. ¶ 26.)
In 2019, an investor of STFF filed a petition with the Cayman Grand Court seeking an
order that STFF be wound up. (Jakoby Aff. ¶ 8; Jakoby Ex. C.) The Cayman Grand Court has
set a hearing date on the application for January 13, 2020. (Jakoby Aff. ¶ 8; Jakoby Ex. C.)
D.

Amounts Due and Owing.

As of the close of business on December 23, 2019, the amount outstanding owed by TOF
Borrower to Plaintiffs, collectively, is $14,339,479.97 plus (i) accrued and unpaid interest totaling
$882,664.96 from the date of the first disbursement to the maturity date of the Note (July 17,
2019), (ii) default interest accruing at eleven percent per annum (11% p.a.) on the unpaid principal
and interest calculated from the maturity date and (iii) costs incurred in enforcing the Note and
Security Agreement, including attorneys’ fees and costs. (Kennedy Aff.¶ 27; Jakoby Aff.¶¶ 911.) As of the execution of this affidavit, TOF Borrower has made no payment of the obligations
ny-1816579
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due and owing under the Note. (Kennedy Aff.¶ 27; Jakoby Aff.¶ 9.)
As of the close of business on December 23, 2019, TOF Guarantor owes $14,339,479.97
in outstanding principal plus (i) default interest accruing at eleven percent per annum (11% p.a.)
from the date of Guarantor’s failure to pay under the Nonpayment Notice, i.e., December 13,
2019, until the date such obligations are paid in full and (ii) costs and expenses incurred by
Plaintiffs’ in collecting such past due amounts, consistent with the terms of the Guarantee, the
Note and the Security Agreement. (Kennedy Aff. ¶¶ 27-28; Kennedy Ex. C, § 2.01(c); Kennedy
Ex. A, at 2; Kennedy Ex. B, § 7(a)(i), (vi).) As of the date of this filing, TOF Guarantor has not
made any payment of the obligations due and owing under the Guarantee. (Kennedy Aff. ¶¶ 2728; Jakoby Aff. ¶ 9.)
ARGUMENT
I.

Plaintiffs Are Entitled to Summary Judgment Pursuant to CPLR § 3213.
“When an action is based upon an instrument for the payment of money only . . . the

plaintiff may serve with the summons a notice of motion for summary judgment and the
supporting papers in lieu of a complaint.” CPLR § 3213. The purpose of CPLR § 3213 is “to
provide quick relief on documentary claims so presumptively meritorious that a formal
complaint is superfluous, and even the delay incident upon waiting for an answer and then
moving for summary judgment is needless.” Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank,
B.A. v. Navarro, 25 N.Y.3d 485, 491-92 (2015) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).
Courts routinely deem unconditional guaranties as “instrument[s] for the payment of ‘money
only’” within the purview of CPLR § 3213 and, therefore, subject to resolution consistent with
the statute. Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank, B.A. v. Navarro, 25 N.Y.3d 485,
491-92 (2015) (collecting cases).
Here, the Guarantee is an instrument for the payment of money only and, therefore, it
ny-1816579
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should be strictly enforced under CPLR § 3213. See, e.g., Poah One Acquisition Holdings Ltd.
v. Armenta, 96 A.D.3d 560, 560 (1st Dep’t 2012) (affirming order granting summary judgment
in lieu of complaint because “Plaintiff appropriately moved [under CPLR § 3213] based on the
absolute and unconditional guaranty”); Jason Trading Corp. v. Lason Trading Corp., 303 A.D.2d
180 (1st Dep’t 2003) (affirming order granting summary judgment in lieu of complaint,
explaining that “unconditional guaranty . . . is an instrument for the payment of money only within
the meaning of CPLR 3213”). Where, as here, TOF Borrower “expressly waived demand or
presentment and [the Guarantee] was expressly made a primary obligation of the defendant . . .
no formal demand, beyond the motion in lieu of complaint itself, [is] necessary to state a cause
of action on the guaranty.” Bank of Am., N.A. v. Solow, 59 A.D.3d 304, 304–05 (1st Dep’t
2009) (affirming order granting summary judgment in lieu of complaint because “guaranty was
absolute and unconditional”). (See Kennedy Ex. C, § 2.01(e); Kennedy Aff. ¶ 11.)
New York courts also consistently enforce “[g]uaranties that contain language obligating
the guarantor to payment without recourse to any defenses or counterclaims, i.e., guaranties that
are ‘absolute and unconditional.’”

Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank, 25

N.Y.3d at 493 (collecting cases). The Guarantee is expressly absolute and unconditional and
explicitly waives any defenses. (Kennedy Ex. C, §§ 2.01(a), 3.01; Kennedy Aff. ¶¶ 9, 12.) Thus,
TOF Guarantor is precluded from invoking any affirmative defenses or counterclaims and the
Guarantee should be enforced.
The Guarantee at issue here is consistent with the absolute and unconditional guarantees
routinely enforced by the courts. Accordingly, as provided by the Guarantee, TOF Guarantor is
liable for the outstanding principle and default interest that continues to accrue, plus costs and
expenses incurred by the Plaintiffs to enforce the Guarantee. (Kennedy Aff. ¶¶ 27-28; Kennedy
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Ex. C, § 2.01(a)-(c.)
II.

Plaintiffs Have Established a Prima Facie Case for Their Claims.
To rely on CPLR § 3213, a plaintiff must satisfy its prima facie burden by proving “the

existence of the guaranty, the underlying debt and the guarantor’s failure to perform under the
guaranty.” Sarfati v. Palazzolo, 142 A.D.3d 877, 877 (1st Dep’t 2016) (affirming summary
judgment in favor of plaintiff) (citations omitted); see also Reliance Constr. Ltd. v. Kennelly,
70 A.D.3d 418, 419 (1st Dep’t 2010) (reversing denial of summary judgment because “Plaintiff
made a prima facie showing for summary judgment by proving the absolute and unconditional
guaranties and the guarantors’ failure to perform”); Bank of Am., N.A. v. Tatham, 305 A.D.2d
183, 183 (1st Dep’t 2003) (affirming summary judgment because plaintiff demonstrated “proof
of the loan documents, including the guaranty agreement, and defendant’s failure to pay and
failure to pay in accordance therewith”). After plaintiff satisfies is prima facie burden, the
burden then shifts to the defendant to establish by admissible evidence, the existence of a triable
issue of fact in order to avoid enforcement. Simoni v. Time-Line, Ltd., 272 A.D.2d 537, 53738 (2d Dep’t 2000) (citations omitted) (reversing denial of summary judgment because
defendant failed to establish, by admissible evidence, the existence of a triable issue of fact”).
Here, as demonstrated above and in the accompanying affidavit of nonpayment,
Plaintiffs have satisfied their prima facie burden. Bank of Am., N.A. v. Solow, 59 A.D.3d 304,
304 (1st Dep’t 2009) (affirming summary judgment because, among other reasons, plaintiff’s
claims were supported by an affidavit of nonpayment). (See generally Kennedy Affidavit,
Jakoby Affiirmation.) There is no dispute that TOF Guarantor executed the Guarantee in which
it agreed to be unconditionally liable for the Guaranteed Obligations. (Kennedy Aff. ¶ 7.)
Additionally, TOF Guarantor cannot dispute that TOF Borrower defaulted on its obligations and
Plaintiffs invoked their rights under the Guarantee by demanding payment from TOF Guarantor.
ny-1816579
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(Kennedy Aff. ¶¶ 24-25.) To date, Plaintiffs have not received any funds from TOF Guarantor,
and the Guaranteed Obligations remain outstanding with default interest continuing to accrue
each day. (Kennedy Aff. ¶¶ 27-28; Jakoby Aff. ¶ 9.)
TOF Guarantor is also liable for Plaintiffs’ ongoing fees and expenses incurred in
enforcing the Guarantee. (Kennedy Aff. ¶¶ 27-28; Jakoby Aff. ¶¶ 9-11.) Courts in New York
regularly enforce these provisions. See, e.g., Simoni, 272 A.D.2d at 538 (concluding plaintiff
entitled to attorneys’ fees incurred in enforcing guaranty); Cmty. Nat’l Bank & Tr. Co. of N.Y.
v. I.M.F. Trading, Inc., 167 A.D.2d 193, 194 (1st Dep’t 1990) (same).
Thus, the Guarantee should be enforced and summary judgment should be awarded in
favor of Plaintiffs with TOF Guarantor reimbursing Plaintiffs for their attorneys’ fees and costs.
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CONCLUSION
For all of the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter an
order: (1) granting summary judgment pursuant to CPLR § 3213 in favor of Plaintiffs against
Defendant in the amount of $14,339,479.97, plus (i) default interest accruing at eleven percent
per annum (11% p.a.) from the date of Guarantor’s failure to pay under the Nonpayment Notice,
i.e., December 13, 2019, until the date such obligations are paid in full and (ii) together with all
costs and expenses incurred in collecting such past due amounts, consistent with the terms of the
Guarantee, the Note and the Security Agreement, including attorneys’ fees and costs, on the
grounds that this action is based upon an instrument for the payment of money only and Defendant
cannot raise any triable issue of fact, and (2) awarding Plaintiffs such other and further relief as
this Court deems just and proper.
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Dated: New York, New York
December 27, 2019

/s/ John A. Pintarelli
John A. Pintarelli
Christina Golden Ademola
MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP
250 West 55th Street
New York, NY 10019
Telephone: (212) 468-8000
/s/ Arthur G. Jakoby
Arthur G. Jakoby
HERRICK, FEINSTEIN LLP
Two Park Avenue
New York, New York 10016
(212) 592-1500
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP
250 W 55th St.
New York, NY 10019
Telephone: 212-468-8000
Facsimile: 212-468-7900
John A. Pintarelli
Erica J. Richards
Attorneys for Petitioners, Alexander Lawson and
Christopher Kennedy, in their capacities as Joint
Official Liquidators of IIG Global Trade Finance
Fund Ltd. (in Official Liquidation)
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
In re
IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd.,1
Debtor in a Foreign Proceeding.

:
:
:
:
:
:
:

Chapter 15
Case No. 20-10132

VERIFIED PETITION FOR RECOGNITION OF FOREIGN INSOLVENCY
PROCEEDINGS AND APPLICATION FOR ADDITIONAL RELIEF, PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 1504, 1509, 1515, 1517, 1520 AND 1521 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE AND
MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT THEREOF

1

The last four digits of the Debtor’s company number is (3124), The registered office of the Debtor is c/o Alvarez
and Marsal Cayman Islands Limited, Flagship Building, PO Box 2507, 2nd Floor, 70 Harbour Drive, George Town,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.
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Alexander Lawson and Christopher Kennedy, duly appointed joint official liquidators
(“Petitioners” or Liquidators”) of IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd. (in Official Liquidation)
(“GTFF”), a fund in liquidation in the Cayman Islands (the “Cayman Liquidation”) by way of
the winding up order dated October 23, 2019 (cause no. FSD 160 of 2019 (RPJ)) (the
“Liquidation Order”) made by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands (the “Grand Court”),
by its undersigned United States counsel, Morrison & Foerster LLP, respectfully submit the
Official Form Petition, this Verified Petition (together, the “Petition”, the accompanying
Declaration of Christopher Kennedy executed on January 17, 2020 (the “Kennedy
Declaration”), the Declaration of Rupert Bell executed on January 17, 2020 (the “Bell
Declaration”), and the Declaration of John A. Pintarelli executed on January 17, 2020 (the
“Pintarelli Declaration” and, together with the Kennedy Declaration and the Bell Declaration,
the “Declarations”), for entry of an order (the “Proposed Order”), substantially in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit A, pursuant to Chapter 15 of title 11 of the United States Code, 11
U.S.C. § 101 et seq. (the “Bankruptcy Code”):

I.

(a)

recognizing the Cayman Liquidation as a foreign main proceeding, or, in the
alternative, foreign nonmain proceeding, pursuant to chapter 15 of the Bankruptcy
Code, and Petitioners as GTFF’s foreign representatives under sections 1509 and
1517 of the Bankruptcy Code; and

(b)

granting relief pursuant to sections 1520 and 1521 of the Bankruptcy Code.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1.

The purpose of Chapter 15 of the Bankruptcy Code is to provide effective

mechanisms for dealing with cases of cross-border insolvency, with the express objectives of:
(a) cooperation between United States courts, trustees, examiners, debtors and debtors in
possession and the courts and other competent authorities of foreign countries; (b) greater legal
certainty for trade and investment; (c) fair and efficient administration of cross-border
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insolvencies that protects the interests of all creditors and other interested entities, including the
debtor; (d) the protection and maximization of the debtor’s assets; and (e) the facilitation of the
rescue of financially troubled businesses. See, e.g., In re Suntech Power Holdings Co., 520 B.R.
399, 413 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2014); 11 U.S.C. § 1501(a)(1)-(5)). To that end, the Liquidators
request recognition of the Cayman Liquidation as a foreign main proceeding primarily to obtain
this Court’s assistance in enforcing the stay of proceedings and actions against GTFF and
property of its estates as ordered by the Grand Court through the liquidation order, as well as to
facilitate GTFF’s efforts to investigate potential claims against certain parties and execute on any
judgments that may be obtained against those parties. Recognition of the Cayman Liquidation as
a foreign main proceeding would confer upon GTFF the protection of sections 362 and 1520 of
the Bankruptcy Code, thereby preventing any one creditor from gaining an advantage over
similarly situated creditors or otherwise interfering with the Cayman Liquidation and
implementation of orders of the Grand Court.
2.

GTFF is in liquidation pursuant to the Liquidation Order of the Grand Court,

which was made pursuant to a petition for the winding up of GTFF presented under section 94 of
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2018 Revision) (as revised) (the “Companies
Law”).2 As this Petition, the accompanying Declarations, and the exhibits thereto demonstrate,
the Cayman Liquidation should be recognized as a foreign main proceeding. In the event that
the Cayman Liquidation is recognized as a foreign nonmain proceeding, this Court has the
discretion to order the protections and relief it deems appropriate pursuant to sections 1507 and
1521 of the Bankruptcy Code, including the requested stay of the continuation of actions or
proceedings against GTFF’s assets. 11 U.S.C. § 1521(a).
2

Excerpts of the relevant provisions of the Companies Law are attached as Exhibit A to the Bell Declaration.

ny-1820052

2

20-10666-mew Doc
Doc23-8Filed
Filed
03/02/20Entered
Entered
03/02/20
13:40:56Main
Exhibit
H Pg
20-10132-mew
01/17/20
01/17/20
18:14:18
Document
9
of
42
Pg 8 of 36

3.

The Liquidators seek precisely the type of relief that chapter 15 was designed to

provide, and the Cayman Liquidation and this Petition meet all the requirements for recognition
and the requested relief. In particular, the Liquidators were appointed by the Grand Court to
administer GTFF’s assets and liabilities, including potential litigation claims against third parties
in connection with its court-ordered liquidation pursuant to the Companies Law, a law relating to
insolvency or adjustment of debt. Kennedy Declaration, ¶ 36.
4.

Likewise, the Cayman Liquidation is a collective judicial proceeding as

referenced in 15 U.S.C. § 101(23), subject to the oversight and control of the Grand Court,
encompassing all creditors and stakeholders of GTFF, which is pending in the Cayman Islands,
the country in which GTFF was formed, maintains registered offices and where one of its
directors resides, maintains its center of main interest (“COMI”), and where the Liquidators are
engaged in substantial, non-transient, ongoing economic activity involving the wind-down and
liquidation of GTFF’s businesses and affairs. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 48.
5.

Pursuant to section 1516(c) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Cayman Islands are

presumed to be GTFF’s COMI because GTFF was incorporated there and maintains its
registered office there. This Petition and the accompanying Declarations further demonstrate
that GTFF’s counterparties and creditors had clear and actual knowledge that GTFF was a
Cayman Islands entity. Since the commencement of the Cayman Liquidation, the Cayman
Islands are the obvious and demonstrable “nerve center” of GTFF’s ongoing liquidation. Among
other things, the Liquidators have (a) performed certain statutory duties such including
(i) appointing a liquidation committee (“LC”) consisting of three (3) contributories (equity
holders, one of whom is also a creditor) and holding an initial meeting with members of the LC
(although the first formal LC meeting is yet to take place); (ii) writing to third parties requesting

ny-1820052
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the turnover of GTFF’s assets in their possession, including its books and records, and
(iii) soliciting the filing of proofs of debt and interests to crystallize claims against the estate;
(b) held discussions with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) related to
the SEC’s request to freeze assets owned by or under the control of GTFF’s former investment
advisor; and (c) commenced an investigation into the activities of GTFF, including transactions
its former investment advisor entered into on its behalf, all with the express purpose of winding
down GTFF’s business from the Cayman Islands. Hence, the Cayman Liquidation is a “foreign
main proceeding” within the meaning of sections 101(23), 1502(4), 1516(c), and 1517(b)(1) of
the Bankruptcy Code.
6.

This and other Courts have recognized similar liquidation proceedings of Cayman

Island entities as foreign main proceedings. See, e.g., In re Suntech Power Holdings Co., 520
B.R. 399 (commencement of provisional Cayman Islands proceedings, together with subsequent
activities of liquidators, had the effect of transferring holding company’s COMI to Cayman); In
re Millard, 501 B.R. 644, 647 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2013); In re AJW Offshore Ltd., No. 13-70078
(Bankr. E.D.N.Y. Feb. 5, 2013), ECF No. 31; In re Bancredit Cayman Ltd. (in Liquidation), No.
06-11026 (SMB) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. June 16, 2006), ECF No. 13; In re LDK Solar Co., Ltd., No.
14-12387 (PJW) (Bankr. D. Del. Nov. 21, 2014), ECF No. 43 (recognizing Cayman Islands
liquidation as foreign main proceeding); In re Saad Invs. Fin. Co. (No. 5) Ltd., No. 09-13985
(KG) (Bankr. D. Del. Dec. 17, 2009), ECF No. 47 (same); see also In re Niton Fund SPC, 1513252 (SMB) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Jan. 13, 2016), ECF No. 7 (Wright/Kennedy as Liquidators); In
re Madison Niche Assets Fund, Ltd., et al., 16-10043 (KJC) (Bankr. D. Del. Mar. 1, 2016), ECF
No. 35 (Wright/Kennedy as Liquidators); In re Richcourt Euro Strategies Inc., et al., 15-12273
(REG) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Sept. 15, 2015), ECF No. 13 (Wright as Liquidator); In re Platinum
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Partners Value Arbitrage Fund L.P. (In Provisional Liquidation), et al., No. 16-12925 (SCC)
(Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Nov. 23, 2016), ECF No. 27 (Kennedy as a Liquidator).
7.

For all of these reasons and as will be shown below, the Liquidators respectfully

submit that: (a) the Cayman Liquidation is a foreign main proceeding within the meaning of
sections 101(23) and 1502(4) of the Bankruptcy Code; (b) the Liquidators are the duly appointed
foreign representatives of GTFF within the meaning of section 101(24); (c) the Liquidators and
the Petition comply with all the requirements of section 1515 and Bankruptcy Rule 1007(a)(4);
and (d) recognition of the Cayman Liquidation would not be contrary to public policy under
Bankruptcy Code section 1506.
8.

Under the circumstances, this Court can and should enter an order recognizing the

Cayman Liquidation as a foreign main proceedings under section 1517(b)(1), or in the
alternative, as a foreign nonmain proceedings under section 1517(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code,
and granting additional relief as set forth in section 1521 of the Bankruptcy Code.
II.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
9.

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and

1334 and sections 109 and 1501 of the Bankruptcy Code.
10.

Venue of this proceeding is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1410

because GTFF possesses assets within the District.
11.

This is a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(P), and the Court may enter

a final order consistent with Article III of the United States Constitution.
12.

The statutory predicates for the relief requested herein are sections 105(a), 362,

1504, 1507, 1509, 1515, 1517, 1520, and 1521 of the Bankruptcy Code.
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III.

FACTUAL BACKGOUND
A.

GTFF’s Pre-Liquidation Business

13.

On August 12, 2015, GTFF was incorporated as an exempted limited liability

company under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 9. GTFF was formed
and operates pursuant to a Memorandum and Articles of Association, dated August 12, 2015 (the
“Articles”), filed with the Cayman Islands Registrar of Companies. Id. The directors of GTFF
(now displaced by the Liquidators) were Andrés Carral Cuevas and Martin Laidlaw. Id. Maples
Fund Services (Cayman) Limited (“Maples FS Limited”) was appointed as the administrator of
GTFF pursuant to an administration agreement, a copy of which has not yet been provided to the
Liquidators. Id.
14.

GTFF was formerly registered with and regulated by the Cayman Islands

Monetary Authority (“CIMA”) as a mutual fund. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 9.
15.

Prior to its entry into official liquidation, GTFF’s registered address was Maples

Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 9. Upon its entry into official liquidation, GTFF’s address was
changed to c/o Alvarez and Marsal Cayman Islands Limited, Flagship Building, PO Box 2507,
2nd Floor, 70 Harbour Drive, George Town, Cayman Islands, KY1-1104. Id.
16.

GTFF entered into an investment advisory agreement dated May 18, 2017 (the

“Investment Advisory Agreement”) with The International Investment Group L.L.C. (“IIG”),
pursuant to which IIG was appointed as GTFF’s investment advisor. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 9.
IIG is a New Jersey investment advisory company headquartered in New York, New York. Id.
IIG’s founders and principals are David Hu and Martin Silver. Id.
17.

Under the terms of its Confidential Private Offering Memorandum dated May

2017 (as subsequently amended, modified, and/or supplemented, the “Offering
ny-1820052
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Memorandum”), GTFF offered participating shares (“Shares”) to prospective investors via
subscription agreements. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 9. According to the Offering Memorandum,
GTFF’s investment objective was to provide consistent returns through a professionally managed
portfolio investing in financial instruments issued in connection with, or enterprises engaged in,
global trade finance transactions. Id. GTFF carried on business as an investment fund that was
to invest its capital primarily in trade finance loans and other related financing transactions (the
“Investment Facilities”), which predominantly involved obligors based in emerging market
countries, with a focus on Latin America, and specifically located in Argentina, Uruguay,
Ecuador, Panama, Nicaragua, Guatemala, Colombia, Chile, Brazil and Peru. Id.
18.

Pursuant to a July 2018 supplement to the Offering Memorandum (the “July 2018

Supplement”), GTFF identified an additional investment objective, which was to enter into a
credit line, term loan or other financing facility or transaction, however structured, with its
affiliates and/or affiliates of IIG, provided that such transactions are on an arm’s-length basis.
Kennedy Declaration ¶ 9.
19.

The Liquidators understand that the assets of GTFF, as of November 30, 2019, are

currently valued at not less than $82,479,886.94, which amount excludes potential litigation
claims, and principally consist of:
Assets
Investments/Participations
Vincentin Settlement
Forestal Rio Calle Calle Settlement
Cash
TOF Cayman SPV Loan / TOF Curaçao Guarantee
Total:
Kennedy Declaration ¶ 10.
3
4

Book value.
Estimate based on funds held in escrow.

ny-1820052
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Value (USD)
$62,082,987.003
$9,343,547.004
$510,659.00
$4,999,692.48
$5,543,001.46
$82,479,886.94
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20.

According to unaudited information provided to the Liquidators, GTFF’s

liabilities as of November 30, 2019, totaled approximately $5,017,257.39 and principally
comprise:
Liabilities
Investor Redemption Claims
Legal Fees and Expenses
Total:

Value (USD)
$5,000,000
$17,257.39
$5,017,257.395

Kennedy Declaration ¶ 11.
B.

The Cayman Liquidation

21.

In June 2018, GTFF’s investment advisor, IIG, as well as IIG’s two principals,

Messrs. Hu and Silver, received subpoenas from the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”). Kennedy Declaration ¶ 12. The subpoenas sought information regarding IIG’s
policies, fund assets and the valuation of assets in the funds it manages, including GTFF (the
“SEC Inquiry”). Id.
22.

In July 2018, GTFF’s board of directors adopted resolutions approving the July

2018 Supplement, and recording that GTFF and its affiliate, IIG Structured Finance Ltd.
(“STFF”) proposed to make a loan to another affiliate of IIG, TOF Cayman SPV (“TOF
Cayman”) of up to $16 million (the “TOF Cayman Loan”). Kennedy Declaration ¶ 13. The
TOF Cayman Loan was to be supported by a security agreement between TOF Cayman, as
borrower, and GTFF and STFF, as lenders. Id. In addition, another IIG affiliate, IIG Trade
Opportunities Fund N.V. (“TOF Curaçao”) guaranteed the TOF Cayman Loan. Id.
23.

On November 1, 2018, GTFF’s directors passed a resolution that purported, inter

alia, to suspend the redemption of Shares in GTFF and the payment of any redemption proceeds
5

The Liquidators are investigating potential additional claims against GTFF, which, if proven, could render the fund
insolvent.
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pursuant to the Articles, based on a stated determination it was not possible, given market
conditions, to attempt to value assets and thereby enable redemptions, and in view of that,
coupled with the SEC Inquiry, it was in the interests of GTFF to, inter alia, suspend
redemptions. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 14.
24.

On November 14, 2018, GTFF and STFF sent a joint letter to their registered

shareholders (the “November 14 Letter”) advising, among other things: (a) of the SEC Inquiry;
(b) that GTFF intended to “wind down” and had engaged a “qualified independent consultant,
Scott Steinberg” for that purpose; (c) that GTFF did not anticipate net asset value (“NAV”)
calculations for the Shares or completing any audits for the foreseeable future; and (d) that GTFF
and STFF had resolved to cease all redemptions effective from September 17, 2018. Kennedy
Declaration ¶ 15. (A copy of the November 14 Letter is attached to the Kennedy Declaration as
Exhibit B.)
25.

On April 11, 2019, Girobank, N.V. and Girobank International, N.V. (collectively

“Girobank”) filed a petition (the “Girobank Petition”) for an attachment and temporary
restraining order against IIG and two of its affiliates, TOF Curaçao and IIG Capital LLC (“IIG
Capital”) (a specialty finance company organized under New York law and wholly owned by
IIG) in New York Supreme Court. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 16. See Girobank, N.V. v. IIG Trade
Opportunities Fund, N.V., et al., Index No. 652135/2019 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Apr. 11, 2019) (the
“Girobank Litigation”). (A copy of the Girobank Petition is attached to the Kennedy
Declaration as Exhibit C.) The Girobank Petition alleged, among other things, that TOF Curaçao
had gained control of Girobank , a small bank in Curaçao, in 2010 based on fraudulent
representations to Girobank’s shareholders and its regulator, the Central Bank of Curaçao and
Saint Maarten (the “Central Bank”). The Girobank Petition further alleged that Girobank was

ny-1820052
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subsequently and unwittingly enmeshed in a wide-ranging fraudulent scheme orchestrated by
Messrs. Hu and Silver, among others, designed to cover losses at TOF Curaçao, IIG’s “flagship”
fund, and other poorly performing IIG managed investments.
26.

On August 22, 2019, one of GTFF’s investors (the “Petitioning Creditor”)

presented a creditor’s petition seeking the winding up of GTFF and the appointment of the
Liquidators as joint official liquidators of GTFF pursuant to Section 94 the Companies Law (the
“Cayman Petition”). Kennedy Declaration ¶ 17. (A copy of the Cayman Petition is attached to
the Kennedy Declaration as Exhibit D.) The Cayman Petition alleged that, on June 20, 2018, the
Petitioning Creditor submitted a redemption notice in respect of $5 million of its Shares, and
that, upon the relevant redemption day, the Petitioning Creditor became a creditor of GTFF in
accordance with the Articles. Under the Articles, the relevant redemption day was October 1,
2018, and GTFF was required to make payment to the Petitioning Creditor with respect to the
Redeemed Shares no later than October 31, 2018. According to the Cayman Petition, GTFF
failed to pay the Petitioning Creditor. Accordingly, the Petitioning Creditor presented the
Cayman Petition citing, among other things, GTFF’s inability to pay its debts.
27.

As required by the Companies Law and the Companies Winding Up Rules 2018

(“CWR”), the Petitioning Creditor provided notice of the filing of the Cayman Petition and its
request for appointment of the Liquidators by serving a copy of the Cayman Petition on the
Company at its registered office and CIMA, and by placing advertisements in the Cayman
Islands Compass and the International Edition of the Financial Times which were both published
on October 4, 2019. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 18.
28.

The Cayman Petition sought, among other things, the following relief: (a) the

winding up of GTFF to commence under the supervision of the Grand Court in accordance with
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the Companies Law; (b) the appointment of the Liquidators as the joint official liquidators of
GTFF; and (c) the granting of certain powers to the Petitioners in their capacities as the
Liquidators of GTFF, as described in the Cayman Petition and discussed in greater detail below.
Kennedy Declaration ¶ 19.
29.

On October 23, 2019, the Grand Court made the Liquidation Order. Kennedy

Declaration ¶ 20.
C.

Events Following Commencement of the Cayman Liquidation
1.

30.

SEC Litigation

On November 21, 2019, the SEC filed a complaint against IIG (the “SEC

Complaint”), commencing a case captioned SEC v. International Investment Group, LLC, No.
1:19-cv-10796 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 21, 2019) (the “SEC Litigation”). Kennedy Declaration ¶ 22.
(A copy of the SEC Complaint is attached to the Kennedy Declaration as Exhibit E.) The SEC
Complaint alleged that IIG has perpetrated a string of frauds intended to cover up tens of
millions of dollars in losses and keep its investment advisory business afloat. Among other
things, the SEC Complaint alleged that, beginning in or about 2007, IIG engaged in a practice of
hiding losses in the portfolio of TOF Curaçao by overvaluing troubled loans and replacing
defaulted loans with fake “performing” loan assets. When it was necessary to create liquidity,
including to meet redemption requests, IIG would sell the overvalued and/or fictitious loans to
new investors, including, ultimately, to GTFF and STFF, and use the proceeds to generate the
necessary liquidity required to pay off earlier investors. The SEC Complaint asserted that IIG is
liable for violating Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940
(“Advisers Act”); Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) and
Rule 10b-5 thereunder; and Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”).
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31.

On November 26, 2019, the District Court entered an order with the consent of

IIG (the “SEC Order”), which provided for, among other relief, (a) an asset freeze, (b) a
permanent injunction restraining IIG from engaging in further violations of the Advisors Act,
Exchange Act and Securities Act, (c) disgorgement by IIG of its ill-gotten gains, together with
prejudgment interest thereon, and (d) payment by IIG of civil monetary penalties. Kennedy
Declaration ¶ 23. (A copy of the SEC Order is attached to the Kennedy Declaration as
Exhibit F.) Notably, the SEC Order carves out the Liquidators and other liquidators appointed or
to be appointed over funds previously managed by IIG (including GTFF) from the scope of the
asset freeze. See SEC Order at p. 5.
2.
32.

Liquidators’ Investigations

Since their appointment, the Liquidators have begun an investigation into the

assets of GTFF. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 24. As part of their investigation, the Liquidators have
begun efforts to trace GTFF’s investment proceeds, and to try to recover those proceeds from
borrowers and other third parties. Id.
3.
33.

Lawsuit Against TOF Curaçao

On September 3, 2019, TOF Curaçao was declared bankrupt by the Court of

Appeal, Curaçao, and Ms. V.P. Maria LLM was appointed trustee in bankruptcy of TOF
Curaçao. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 25.
34.

On November 26, 2019, the Liquidators sent (a) a notice of nonpayment to TOF

Cayman, and (b) a demand for payment to TOF Curaçao, in each case with respect to the TOF
Cayman Loan. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 26.
35.

The Liquidators have applied to be a member of the liquidation committee of

TOF Curaçao. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 27.
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36.

On December 27, 2019 the Liquidators commenced an action against TOF

Curaçao in the New York Supreme Court for the County of New York, Commercial Division,
[No. 657724/2019] (the “TOF Curaçao Litigation”), seeking entry of a judgment pursuant to
New York Civil Practice Law and Rules (“CPLR”) § 3213 liquidating GTFF’s claim against TOF
Curaçao pursuant to its guarantee of the TOF Cayman Loan. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 28.
4.
37.

TOF Cayman Petition

On January 6, 2020, the Liquidators filed a petition with the Grand Court seeking

the winding up of TOF Cayman in accordance with Section 94 of the Companies Law as a
consequence of non-payment by TOF Cayman of sums owed under the TOF Cayman Loan (the
“TOF Cayman Petition”). Kennedy Declaration ¶ 29.
IV.

THE CAYMAN LIQUIDATION AND CAYMAN ISLANDS INSOLVENCY LAW
38.

The substantive law relating to the winding up of companies incorporated in the

Cayman Islands is contained in Part V of the Companies Law. Bell Declaration ¶ 18. The
provisions of Part V apply to companies formed and registered under the Companies Law or its
predecessors, including companies that are formed as exempted companies and limited
partnerships. Id.
39.

The statutory provisions governing the liquidation of Cayman Islands companies

are set out in Part V of the Companies Law, which is supplemented by the CWR, the Insolvency
Practitioners’ Regulations 2018 (the “IPR”), the Foreign Bankruptcy Proceedings (International
Cooperation) Rules 2018, and the Grand Court Rules 1995 (as revised) (the “GCR”). Bell
Declaration ¶ 18.
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40.

A Cayman Islands company may be wound up: (a) compulsorily, by order of the

Grand Court;6 (b) voluntarily, following the passing of a special resolution of its shareholder(s),7
or pursuant to a mandatory term in its constitutional documents8 or other event;9 or (c) under the
supervision of the Grand Court.10 Bell Declaration ¶ 19.
41.

GTFF entered into official liquidation as a result of it being unable to pay its

debts, following the presentation of the Cayman Petition by the Petitioning Creditor, an
undisputed creditor of GTFF. Bell Declaration ¶ 21.
42.

The Liquidators are fiduciaries and officers of the Grand Court. Bell Declaration

¶ 25. As official liquidators of GTFF, their function is to: (a) collect, realize and distribute the
assets of GTFF to its creditors and if there is a surplus, to equity holders in accordance with their
rights, and (b) report to GTFF’s creditors and other stakeholders upon the affairs of GTFF and
the manner in which it is being wound up.11 Id.
43.

Generally, the Liquidators are authorized and empowered to take the following

actions with the sanction of the Grand Court:


Power to bring or defend any action or other legal proceeding in the name and on behalf
of the company.



Power to carry on the business of the company so far as may be necessary for its
beneficial winding up.



Power to dispose of any property of the company to a person who is or was related to the
company.

6

Section 90(a) of the Companies Law.

7

Section 90(b)(i) of the Companies Law.

8

Section 90(b)(ii) of the Companies Law.

9

Section 90(b)(iii) of the Companies Law.

10

Section 90(c) of the Companies Law.

11

Section 110 of the Companies Law.
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Power to pay any class of creditors in full.



Power to make any compromise or arrangement with creditors or persons claiming to be
creditors or having or alleging themselves to have any claim (present or future, certain or
contingent, ascertained or sounding only in damages) against the company or for which
the company may be rendered liable.



Power to compromise on such terms as may be agreed all debts and liabilities capable of
resulting in debts, and all claims (present or future, certain or contingent, ascertained or
sounding only in damages) subsisting, or supposed to subsist between the company and a
contributory or alleged contributory or other debtor or person apprehending liability to
the company.



Power to deal with all questions in any way relating to or affecting the assets or the
winding up of the company, to take any security for the discharge of any such call, debt,
liability or claim and to give a complete discharge in respect of it.



The power to sell any of the company’s property by public auction or private contract
with power to transfer the whole of it to any person or to sell the same in parcels.



The power to raise or borrow money and grant securities therefor over the property of the
company.



The power to engage staff (whether or not as employees of the company) to assist them in
the performance of their functions.



The power to engage attorneys and other professionally qualified persons to assist them
in the performance of their functions.

Bell Declaration ¶ 26 (citing Companies Law, section 110, Schedule 3, Part I).
44.

Schedule 3, Part II of section 110 of the Companies Law further provides that the

Liquidators are permitted to exercise the following powers without the Grand Court’s sanction:


The power to take possession of, collect and enter the property of the company and for
that purpose to take all such proceedings as the Liquidators consider necessary.



The power to do all acts and execute, in the name and on behalf of the company, all
deeds, receipts and other documents and for that purpose to use, when necessary, the
company seal.



The power to prove, rank and claim in the bankruptcy, insolvency or sequestration of any
contributory for any balance against GTFF’s estate, and to receive dividends in the
bankruptcy, insolvency or sequestration in respect of that balance, as a separate debt due
from the bankrupt or insolvent and ratably with the other separate creditors.
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The power to draw, accept, make and indorse any bill of exchange or promissory note in
the name and on behalf of the company, with the same effect with the respect of GTFF’s
liability as if the bill or note had been drawn, accepted, made or indorsed by or on behalf
of the company in the course of its business.



The power to promote a scheme of arrangement pursuant to section 86 of the Companies
Law.



The power to convene meetings of creditors and contributories.



The power to do all other things incidental to the exercise of their powers.

Bell Declaration ¶ 27 (citing Companies Law, section 110, Schedule 3, Part II).
45.

Under the Companies Law, the Liquidators are also empowered to investigate

(a) the causes for the failure of GTFF’s business, as well as (b) generally, the promotion,
business, dealings and affairs of GTFF. Bell Declaration ¶ 28 (citing Companies Law, section
102).
46.

A general principle underlying the Companies Law and the Cayman Liquidation

is that creditors are treated on a pari passu basis, subject to certain exceptions.12 Bell
Declaration ¶ 22 (citing Companies Law, section 140).
47.

Cayman liquidation proceedings are fair and equitable insofar as that all creditors

have the opportunity to be heard by the Grand Court and no creditors will be prejudiced on the
sole basis that they are foreign-based. Bell Declaration ¶ 24.
48.

Section 97(1) of the Companies Law provides in relevant part that upon the entry

of a winding up order against a company, no suit or other proceeding may be commenced or
continued against the company except with leave of the Grand Court and subject to such terms as
the Grand Court might impose. Bell Declaration ¶ 23. This automatic stay mirrors the stay

12

For example, see sections 140 and 141 of the Companies Law.
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imposed in U.S. bankruptcy proceedings and serves to, inter alia, facilitate the Liquidators’
ability to deal with claims and creditors collectively and comprehensively. Id.
V.

GTFF’S ACTIVITIES IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
49.

GTFF was formed as an exempted limited company under the laws of the

Cayman Islands and maintained its registered office in the Cayman Islands. Kennedy
Declaration ¶ 37.
50.

An “exempted” company under the Companies Law is prohibited from

undertaking business in the Cayman Islands except in furtherance of its business carried on
outside the Cayman Islands.13 Bell Declaration ¶ 29. Specifically, it may effect and conclude
contracts in the Cayman Islands and exercise in the Cayman Islands all of its powers necessary
for the carrying on of its business outside the Cayman Islands, meaning that it may employ staff
or agents in the Cayman Islands and have offices in the Cayman Islands in furtherance of its
business outside the Cayman Islands, which GTFF has always had. Id.
51.

Although upon its incorporation GTFF were restricted from carrying on business

within the Cayman Islands, this did not mean that GTFF had no presence there. For example,
GTFF’s registered office prior to the commencement of the Cayman Liquidation was located at
Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands, from where GTFF’s annual filings with the Registrar of Companies were made.
Kennedy Declaration ¶ 9. Under applicable law, the situs of the shares of a Cayman Islands
company is the place of its incorporation, i.e. the Cayman Islands. Bell Declaration ¶ 30. In

13

Requirements are such that the operation of the proposed company must be “... conducted mainly outside the
[Cayman] Islands.” See sections 163 and 165 of the Companies Law. Exempted companies are also required to file
an annual return with the Registrar of Companies to this effect, along with its annual fees, pursuant to section 168(b)
of the Companies Law.
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addition, one of GTFF’s directors is domiciled and resident in the Cayman Islands and GTFF
was previously regulated by CIMA. Id.
52.

The status of a company as “exempted” does not operate to prevent the

liquidation of that company from being controlled and supervised from within the Cayman
Islands. Bell Declaration ¶ 31.
53.

In addition, it is a requirement of Cayman Islands law that at least one official

liquidator be resident in the Cayman Islands. Bell Declaration ¶ 31. In this case, both
Liquidators are residents of the Cayman Islands, as required by the IPR. Id.
54.

Upon the entry of the Liquidation Order, the Liquidators took the various steps

required under the Companies Law and the CWR, including the publication of statutory notices
and the convening of meetings of contributories of GTFF. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 32. At the
first contributory meeting held by the Liquidators on December 10, 2019, the LC, comprised of
nominated representatives of GTFF’s contributories (one of which is also GTFF’s majority
creditor), was elected. Id. The LC serves as a sounding board for the Liquidators for actions
they consider taking on behalf of stakeholders. Id. At the December 10, 2019 meeting, the
Liquidators informed the contributories of their intention to file the chapter 15 petition. Id.
55.

Since their appointment, the Liquidators have overseen and directed all activities

related to GTFF from the Cayman Islands. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 48. A significant proportion
of the work to date relating to the Cayman Liquidations has been conducted in the Cayman
Islands, and all of the work is supervised by the Liquidators and ultimately subject to the
supervision of the Grand Court. Id.
56.

Moreover, while GTFF was operating, it issued and received voluminous

documentation, and in all such documentation, GTFF is referred to and addressed as a Cayman
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Islands company. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 41. Based upon board meetings and resolutions, and
the liquidation of GTFF itself, all of which focused on the Cayman Islands, it is clear that all
relevant creditors, stakeholders, and shareholders regard GTFF to be a Cayman Islands entity.
Id. Additionally, all major stakeholders are actively participating in the Cayman Proceeding. Id.
57.

Initially, the Liquidators caused the requisite notices and filings to be filed,

published, and served in the Cayman Islands. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 44.
58.

The Liquidators have also taken emergency steps to protect and realize GTFF’s

assets, including emergency meetings with creditors, investors and financial counterparties, all
from the Cayman Islands. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 48. The Liquidators have applied to be a
member of the liquidation committee of TOF Curaçao. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 27.
59.

The Liquidators have also engaged in substantial formal and informal

communications with GTFF’s former principals and all relevant stakeholders, including
meetings with creditors, toward arriving at a consensus for liquidation strategy and handling the
day-to-day operations of GTFF’s operating assets. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 45. All such
communications have been presided over from the Cayman Islands. Id.
60.

Since the outset of the Cayman Liquidation, the Liquidators have been in contact

with the CIMA (GTFF’s former regulator), the SEC, GTFF’s stakeholders and all of GTFF’s
service providers. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 45. The Liquidators have begun the exercise of
collecting GTFF’s books and records to aid in their investigation of GTFF’s financial affairs,
including the significant drop in the value of GTFF’s assets, which occurred over a relatively
short investment period. Id. at ¶ 47.
61.

One item that the Liquidators and their counsel immediately began to address was

the status of certain affiliates involved in transactions that may have impacted GTFF. Kennedy
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Declaration ¶ 24. The Liquidators and their counsel are still working to gather data regarding
GTFF’s assets and have spent dozens of hours working to understand the purported transactions
underlying GTFF’s investments. Id. In the meantime, however, the Liquidators have
commenced the TOF Curaçao Litigation pursuant to CPLR § 3213 against TOF Curaçao to
liquidate its claim against TOF Curaçao based on its guarantee of the TOF Cayman Loan.
Kennedy Declaration ¶ 28. In addition, the Liquidators have filed a petition in the Cayman
Islands commencing the winding up of TOF Cayman. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 29.
62.

In addition to the work described above, the Liquidators have engaged and

overseen the following specific and general matters on their own and through and with the
assistance of Cayman and U.S. counsel, commencing the process within days of the issuance of
the Liquidation Order:


Overseeing the administration function of GTFF;



Gaining access to and control over certain electronic files of GTFF and undertaking a
detailed review of the same;



Monitoring the SEC Litigation and Girobank Litigation;



Holding ongoing discussions with all of the major creditors of and equity holders in
GTFF;



Constituting and working with the LC, under the authority of the Grand Court. The
Liquidators have had, and continue to have, an active and open dialogue with the LC and
will continue to use it as a sounding board as the liquidation progresses;



Holding meetings and discussions with management and employees of IIG;



Holding discussions with potential purchasers of the loan positions into which GTFF is
invested; and



Liaising with GTFF’s former bank to arrange for control and transfer of funds to the
Liquidators.

Kennedy Declaration ¶ 48.
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63.

As a result, not only is the management of GTFF being conducted by the

Liquidators from within the Cayman Islands, but the key aspects of GTFF’s management are
subject to the orders and jurisdiction of the Grand Court. Bell Declaration ¶¶ 26-28.
VI.

VII.

RELIEF SOUGHT
64.

By this Verified Petition, the Liquidators seek the following relief:

(a)

Recognition of the Cayman Liquidation as a foreign main proceeding, or in the
alternative, foreign nonmain proceeding, pursuant to Chapter 15 of the
Bankruptcy Code, and Petitioners as GTFF’s foreign representatives under
sections 1509 and 1517 of the Bankruptcy Code; and

(b)

Relief pursuant to sections 1520 and 1521 of the Bankruptcy Code.

BASIS FOR RECOGNITION
65.

Section 1517 of the Bankruptcy Code mandates entry of an order recognizing a

“foreign proceeding” if it appears that recognition will not undermine U.S. public policy and:
“(1) such foreign proceeding for which recognition is sought is a foreign main proceeding or
foreign non-main proceeding within the meaning of section 1502; (2) the foreign representative
applying for recognition is a person or body; and (3) the petition meets the requirements of
section 1515.” 11 U.S.C. § 1517(a).
66.

Each of those requirements is met here, and entry of an order substantially in the

form attached hereto as Exhibit A will significantly aid the Liquidators’ efforts to administer
GTFF’s assets and liabilities, and ensure a fair and equitable treatment of and greater
distributions to GTFF’s creditors and interest holders.
A.

The Cayman Liquidation Is a Foreign Proceeding and the Liquidators Are Foreign
Representatives
67.
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a collective judicial or administrative proceeding in a foreign
country, including an interim proceeding, under a law relating to
insolvency or adjustment of debt in which proceeding the assets
and affairs of the debtor are subject to control or supervision by a
foreign court, for the purpose of reorganization or liquidation.
11 U.S.C. § 101(23). This definition incorporates the term foreign representative, which the
Bankruptcy Code in turn defines as “a person or body, including a person or body appointed on
an interim basis, authorized in a foreign proceeding to administer the reorganization or
liquidation of the debtor’s assets or affairs or to act as a representative of such foreign
proceeding.” 11 U.S.C. § 101(24). The Liquidators and the Cayman Liquidation undoubtedly
satisfy each of these requirements.
68.

First, the Cayman Liquidation is a judicial proceeding in a foreign country, the

Cayman Islands, subject to the control and supervision of the Grand Court. Bell Declaration
¶ 20. All claims against GTFF may be submitted in the Cayman Liquidation and all claimants
have the right to access the Grand Court and appeal decisions of the Liquidators. Kennedy
Declaration ¶ 42.
69.

Second, the Cayman Liquidation is being conducted by the Liquidators, who were

appointed by the Grand Court pursuant to the Companies Law as joint liquidators to oversee the
winding up of GTFF according to the provisions of the Companies Law. Bell Declaration ¶ 14.
As such, each of the Liquidators is a “person authorized in a foreign proceeding to administer the
reorganization or the liquidation of [GTFF’s] assets or affairs,” within the meaning of section
101(24).
70.

Third, the relevant portions of the Companies Law and related rules that govern

the Cayman Liquidation specifically relate to proceedings in the Cayman Islands concerning
“insolvency or adjustment of debt.” 11 U.S.C. § 101(23); Bell Declaration ¶ 18.
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71.

Finally, the Cayman Liquidation is a “collective ... proceeding” because it

“considers the rights and obligations of all creditors.” See, e.g., In re Ashapura Minechem Ltd.,
No. 11-14668 (JMP) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Nov. 22, 2011), ECF No. 34, at 6 (quoting In re Betcorp
Ltd., 400 B.R. 266, 281 (Bankr. D. Nev. 2009)); In re Gold & Honey, Ltd., 410 B.R. 357, 370
(Bankr. E.D.N.Y. 2009) (citations omitted). Pursuant to the Liquidation Order and the
Companies Law, the Cayman Liquidation and the Liquidators’ management of GTFF’s assets
and affairs are subject to the supervision and control of the Grand Court. Bell Declaration ¶ 14.
In addition to the urgent business discussed above, the Liquidators currently are in the process of
assessing claims from all of GTFF’s creditors and collecting claims against current and
contingent debtors in respect of GTFF, have met with GTFF’s stakeholders, are well engaged in
the process of liquidating GTFF’s illiquid assets and hard assets. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 48.
72.

As discussed above, numerous courts in this and other districts have found that

official liquidation proceedings brought pursuant to the Companies Law qualify as a “foreign
proceeding,” and that joint liquidators appointed and overseen by the Grand Court qualify as a
“foreign representative” for purposes of section 101(23) and (24). See, e.g., In re LDK Solar
Co., Ltd, No. 14-12387 (PJW) (Bankr. D. Del.) (recognizing Cayman Islands liquidation as
foreign main proceeding); In re Platinum Partners Value Arbitrage Fund L.P. (In Provisional
Liquidation), et al., No. 16-12925 (SCC) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.) (same); In re Saad Invs. Fin. Co.
(No. 5) Ltd., No. 09-13985 (KG) (Bankr. D. Del.) (same); In re Suntech Power Holdings Co.,
520 B.R. at 416-17 (commencement of provisional Cayman proceedings, together with
subsequent activities of liquidators had the effect of transferring holding company’s COMI to
Cayman); In re Millard, 501 B.R. at 647 (individual bankruptcies before Cayman Grand Court);
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In re AJW Offshore Ltd., Case No. 13-70078, (Bankr. E.D.N.Y.; In re Bancredit Cayman Ltd. (in
Liquidation), No. 06-11026 (SMB) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.).
73.

For the foregoing reasons, the Cayman Liquidation is a “foreign proceedings”

within the meaning of section 1517(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code.
B.

The Cayman Liquidation Is a Foreign Main Proceeding
74.

The Cayman Liquidation is a “foreign main proceeding” within the meaning of

section 1502(4) of the Bankruptcy Code because GTFF’s COMI is in the Cayman Islands.
Kennedy Declaration ¶ 37. The Bankruptcy Code defines a “foreign main proceeding” as “a
foreign proceeding pending in the country where the debtor has the center of its main interests.”
11 U.S.C. § 1502(4). A foreign proceeding “shall be recognized” as a foreign main proceeding if
it is pending where the debtor has its COMI. See 11 U.S.C. § 1517(b)(1).
75.

Although the Bankruptcy Code does not define “center of main interests,”

pursuant to section 1516(c) of the Bankruptcy Code, in the absence of evidence to the contrary,
the debtor’s registered office, which in this case is the Cayman Islands, is presumed to be its
COMI. 11 U.S.C. §1516(c). See also In re ABC Learning Centres Ltd., 445 B.R. 318, 333
(Bankr. D. Del. 2010) (holding that debtor’s registered jurisdiction was its COMI where debtor
established the section 1516 presumption, and no evidence was presented rebutting that
presumption).
76.

Here, the registered office of GTFF is in the Cayman Islands, and has been since

the time of GTFF’s formation. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 37. Further, there is no contrary evidence
to rebut the resulting presumption that the Cayman Islands is GTFF’s COMI.
77.

As discussed in detail above, although GTFF was formed as an “exempt”

company, it nevertheless maintained its registered office in the Cayman Islands even before the
commencement of the Cayman Liquidations, and its documents and other correspondence made
ny-1820052
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it clear that it was a Cayman Islands company registered with CIMA. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 41.
In any case, a foreign debtor’s COMI is determined at the time the Chapter 15 petition is filed.
Morning Mist Holdings Ltd. V. Krys (In re Fairfield Sentry Ltd.), 714 F.3d 127, 137 (2d Cir.
2013) (“a debtor’s COMI should be determined based on its activities at or around the time the
Chapter 15 petition is filed, as the statutory text suggests.”); In re Millennium Global Emerging
Credit Master Fund Limited, 458 B.R. 63 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2011), aff’d, 474 B.R. 88 (S.D.N.Y.
2012) (describing same COMI test in respect of similar Bermuda fund structure). Where, as
here, a debtor has engaged in substantial restructuring efforts and related activities prior to the
filing of the Chapter 15 petition, courts will consider such activities in the determination of the
debtor’s COMI. Fairfield Sentry Ltd., 714 F.3d at 137.
78.

On this basis, numerous similar offshore funds and structures have been

recognized by courts in various jurisdictions as foreign main proceedings pursuant to Chapter 15.
See, e.g., In re Niton Fund SPC, 15-13252 (SMB) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.) (Wright/Kennedy as
Liquidators); In re Madison Niche Assets Fund, Ltd., et. al, 16-10043 (KJC) (Bankr. D. Del.)
(Wright/Kennedy as Liquidators); In re Richcourt Euro Strategies Inc., et. al, 15-12273 (REG)
(Bankr. S.D.N.Y) (Wright as Liquidator); In re Tranen Capital Alt. Invs. Fund Ltd., No. 1512620 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Oct. 29, 2015), ECF No. 14 (recognizing liquidation of British Virgin
Island Fund structure as a foreign main proceeding); In re Lawndale Grp. S.A., No. 15-11352
(SCC) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. July 6, 2015), ECF No. 3 (recognizing liquidation of British Virgin
Islands entity as foreign main proceeding); In re Pioneer Freight Futures, No. 13-12324 (Bankr.
S.D.N.Y. Aug. 23, 2013), ECF No. 14 (recognizing British Virgin Islands liquidation proceeding
as foreign main proceeding); In re Farenco Shipping Co. Ltd., No. 11-14138 (REG) (Bankr.
S.D.N.Y Feb. 24, 2012), ECF No. 18 (same); see also In re British Am. Isle of Venice (BVI),
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Ltd., 441 B.R. 713 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. 2010) (recognition of offshore funds as foreign main
proceedings); In re Grand Prix Assocs., No. 09-16545 (DHS) (Bankr. D.N.J. May 18, 2009),
ECF No. 82 (same); In re Saad Invs. Fin. Co. (No. 5) Ltd., No. 09-13985 (KG) (Bankr. D. Del.)
(Cayman fund).
79.

In addition to the presumption provided under section 1516, courts consider any

relevant factors, including: (a) the location of the debtor’s assets; (b) the location of the debtor’s
books and records; (c) the location of the majority of the debtor’s creditors; (d) the commercial
expectations and knowledge of the debtor’s creditors; and (e) the location of those who actually
manage the debtor. See, e.g., In re Suntech Power Holdings Co., 520 B.R. at 416; In re Grand
Prix Assocs., No. 09-16545 (DHS), 2009 WL 1410519, at *22 (Bankr. D.N.J. May 18, 2009).
These factors, however, are not dispositive or exclusive, and none of the factors are required.
See In re Fairfield Sentry Ltd., 714 F.3d at 137-38. Further, courts have also looked to whether a
Chapter 15 debtor’s COMI would have been readily ascertainable to parties in interest, such as
the debtor’s creditors. See Grand Prix Assocs., 2009 WL 1410519, at *6.
80.

Applying the foregoing factors to this case, there is no doubt that GTFF’s COMI

is the Cayman Islands. While GTFF has claims to certain cash balances in attorney escrow
accounts held in New York, GTFF’s books and records held by former agents of the fund and
claims to proceeds payable pursuant to a master participation agreement entered into between
GTFF and a Delaware trust affiliate, approximately $5 million of GTFF’s cash is held in a
Cayman Islands-domiciled account controlled by the Liquidators and future realizable value for
GTFF’s stakeholders will come from parties in foreign jurisdictions. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 40.
The collection of this value is and will be overseen from the Cayman Islands by the Liquidators
through the winding up proceeding of GTFF, including via the Liquidators’ negotiation of
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potential settlements and oversight of several pending and contemplated litigations, including the
winding up of TOF Cayman, as discussed above. Based on the documentation issued by and as
to GTFF, the corporate meetings, statutory demands and resolutions to wind up GTFF,
shareholder meetings and GTFF’s liquidation, all of which focused on the Cayman Islands, it is
clear that all relevant creditors, stakeholders, and shareholders regard GTFF to be a Cayman
Islands company and that all relevant persons, entities, investors, creditors and counter-parties
regard the Cayman Islands to be the “nerve center” of GTFF. Id. at ¶ 41.
81.

Since the commencement of the Cayman Liquidation, substantially all activities

associated therewith have been conducted and/or overseen by the Liquidators from the Cayman
Islands, including overseeing the collection of GTFF’s assets. Among other things, the
Liquidators have overseen and filed all necessary notices and displaced the prior management of
GTFF and assumed their duties, are engaged in the process of investigating and assessing the
claims of GTFF and its creditors and interest holders, and of gathering information about the
operation and management of GTFF’s business before the Cayman Liquidation, and are engaged
in discussions with creditors and interest holders. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 48.
82.

The Suntech opinion issued by this Court is instructive. In Suntech, the Court

held that the activities of a Cayman provisional liquidator were sufficient to establish the
Cayman Islands as the debtor’s COMI, even though the debtor’s principal place of business prior
to foreign liquidation was in China. In re Suntech Power Holdings Co., 520 B.R. at 419.
83.

A primary factor in this Court’s COMI analysis for Suntech was the provisional

liquidator’s active involvement in managing the debtor fund’s subsidiaries. As set forth above,
the Liquidators have been continuously working on managing GTFF. In Suntech, day-to-day
operations of the debtor fund was left to a board of directors, while the Liquidators in this case

ny-1820052
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have absolute management control over GTFF subject to the supervision of the Grand Court. In
re Suntech Power Holdings Co., Ltd., 520 B.R. at 417.
84.

As set forth in detail in paragraphs 51-63 above, as well as in the accompanying

Kennedy Declaration, it is respectfully submitted that the level of liquidation and ongoing
business activity in this case substantially exceeds what this Court and other Courts have
previously found sufficient to establish COMI.
85.

Under the circumstances, the Liquidators submit that there is ample evidence and

precedent to support recognition of the Cayman Liquidation as a foreign main proceeding.
C.

Alternatively, the Cayman Liquidations Should Be Recognized as Foreign NonMain Proceedings.
86.

As set forth above, the Cayman Liquidation meets the requirements of a “foreign

main proceeding” pursuant to section 1502 of the Bankruptcy Code. Nevertheless, should the
Court determine that the Cayman Liquidation should not be recognized as a foreign main
proceeding, the Liquidators submit that, in the alternative, the Cayman Liquidation should be
recognized as a foreign nonmain proceeding under sections 1517(b)(2) and 1502(5) of the
Bankruptcy Code.
87.

Section 1502(5) of the Bankruptcy Code defines a foreign nonmain proceeding as

“a foreign proceeding, other than a foreign main proceeding, pending in a country where the
debtor has an establishment.” 11 U.S.C. § 1502(5). In turn, “establishment” is defined by
section 1502(2) as being “any place of operations where the debtor carries out nontransitory
economic activity.” 11 U.S.C. § 1502(2). The “establishment” requirement is satisfied by the
local conduct of business. See In re Fairfield Sentry Ltd. (GBD), No. 10-13164, 2011 WL
4357421, at *10 n.8 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 16, 2011) (“This Court agrees with the Bankruptcy Court
that if main recognition were not granted, non-main recognition of Sentry’s BVI Proceeding

ny-1820052
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would be appropriate because Sentry has an establishment in the BVI for the conduct of
nontransitory economic activity, i.e. a local place of business.”).
88.

The Liquidators respectfully submit that, at a minimum, their activities in the

Cayman Islands constitute non-transitory economic activity. Kennedy Declaration ¶ 49. The
Liquidators are continuing the remaining business of GTFF as part of the winding-up of GTFF’s
affairs from the Liquidators’ offices in the Cayman Islands. Id. at ¶ 43. There is no foreign or
domestic insolvency proceeding other than the Cayman Liquidation. Id. at ¶ 50.
89.

As such, there can be no dispute that the Cayman Liquidation is a legitimate

insolvency proceeding. Under the circumstances, and given that GTFF’s ongoing business
activities are being conducted from the Cayman Islands, at a minimum this Court should
recognize the Cayman Liquidation as a foreign nonmain proceedings pursuant to Chapter 15 and
further, to grant the Liquidators the discretionary relief requested.
D.

The Cayman Liquidation Meets All Other Requirements for Recognition
90.

In addition to being a foreign main (or nonmain) proceeding brought by duly

appointed foreign representatives, the Cayman Liquidation meets all other requirements for
recognition under section 1515 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Petition is accompanied by
certified copies of the Liquidation Order issued by the Grand Court, which evidences the
commencement of the Cayman Liquidation and the appointment of the Liquidators as joint
liquidators of GTFF. The Petition also is accompanied by a declaration that contains a statement
identifying all foreign proceedings with respect to GTFF that are known to the Liquidators. See
11 U.S.C. §§ 1515(b), (c); see also Kennedy Declaration ¶ 31.
91.

The Petition likewise is accompanied by a declaration containing the information

required by Bankruptcy Rule 1007, including the disclosures required by Bankruptcy Rule
7007.1, a statement indicating that there are no other persons or entities known to the Liquidators
ny-1820052
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that are authorized to administer foreign proceeding with respect to GTFF, and a list of all parties
to litigation with GTFF in the United States. See Kennedy Declaration ¶¶ 50-51, Exhibit H. All
documents supporting the Petition are in English. See 11 U.S.C. § 1515(d). For all of these
reasons, this Court can and should find that all of the requirements for recognition of the Cayman
Liquidation as a foreign main proceeding under Chapter 15 have been satisfied.

Dated: January 17, 2020
New York, New York
Respectfully submitted,
/s/ John A. Pintarelli
John A. Pintarelli
Erica J. Richards
MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP
250 W. 55th St.
New York, New York 10019
Telephone: (212) 468-8000
Facsimile: (212) 468-7900
Attorneys for Petitioners, Alexander Lawson and
Christopher Kennedy, in their capacities as Joint
Official Liquidators of IIG Global Trade Finance
Fund Ltd. (in Liquidation)

ny-1820052
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VERIFICATION
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, Christopher Barnett Kennedy declares as follows:
My colleague Alexander Lawson and I are duly appointed joint official liquidators
(“Petitioners” or Liquidators”) of IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd. (in Official Liquidation)
(“GTFF”), a fund in liquidation in the Cayman Islands (the “Cayman Liquidation”) by way of
the winding up order dated October 23, 2019 (cause no. FSD 160 of 2019 (RPJ)) (the
“Liquidation Order”) made by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands (the “Grand Court”),
which order was made pursuant to a petition for the winding up of GTFF presented under section
94 of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2018 Revision). I have full authority to verify
the foregoing Verified Petition for Order Recognizing Foreign Main Proceeding and Granting
Additional Relief and Memorandum of Law in Support Thereof (the “Verified Petition”). I have
read the Verified Petition, am informed, and believe that the allegations contained therein are
true and accurate to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief. I declare under penalty
of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed this 17th day of January, 2020, in Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands.

/s/ Christopher Kennedy
Christopher Kennedy
Joint Official Liquidator for IIG Global Trade
Finance Fund Ltd. (in Official Liquidation)
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
In re
IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd.,1
Debtor in a Foreign Proceeding.

:
:
:
:
:
:
:

Chapter 15

Case No. 20-10132 (MEW)

ORDER GRANTING RECOGNITION AND RELIEF IN AID OF A
FOREIGN MAIN PROCEEDING PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 1504,
1509, 1515, 1517, 1520 AND 1521 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE
Alexander Lawson and Christopher Kennedy, duly appointed joint official liquidators
(“Petitioners” or Liquidators”) of IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd. (in Official Liquidation)
(“GTFF”), a fund in liquidation in the Cayman Islands (the “Cayman Liquidation”) by way of the
winding up order dated October 23, 2019 (cause no. FSD 160 of 2019 (RPJ) (the “Liquidation
Order”) made by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands (the “Grand Court”), by its United
States counsel, Morrison & Foerster LLP, having filed the Official Form Petition and the Verified
Recognition of Foreign Insolvency Proceedings and Application for Additional Relief, Pursuant to
Sections 1504, 1509, 1515, 1517, 1520 and 1521 of the Bankruptcy Code (the “Verified Petition”2
and, together with the Official Form Petition, the “Petition”), and the accompanying Kennedy
Declaration, Bell Declaration, and Pintarelli Declaration, seeking relief pursuant to chapter 15 of the
Bankruptcy Code; and upon due consideration of the Petition, Kennedy Declaration, Bell
Declaration and the Pintarelli Declaration, together with all exhibits thereto, in support of the
Petition; and a hearing having been held on February 19, 2020 (the “Hearing”), at which the

1

The last four digits of the Debtor’s company number is (3124), The registered office of the Debtor is c/o Alvarez and
Marsal Cayman Islands Limited, Flagship Building, PO Box 2507, 2nd Floor, 70 Harbour Drive, George Town, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.
2

Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Verified
Petition.
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Kennedy Declaration, the Bell Declaration and the Pintarelli Declaration were received in evidence;
and appropriate and timely notice of the filing of the Petition and the Hearing thereon having been
given by the Liquidators, pursuant to section 1514 of the Bankruptcy Code; and such notice having
been adequate and sufficient for all purposes; and no other or further notice being necessary or
required; and no objections or other responses having been filed; and all interested parties having
had an opportunity to be heard at the Hearing; and after due deliberation and sufficient cause
appearing therefore, the Court makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:
A.

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334,

and 11 U.S.C. §§ 109 and 1501 and the Amended Standing Order of Reference from the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York dated February 1, 2012.
B.

Venue of this proceeding is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§ 1410 (2) because GTFF possesses assets within this district, and the Court may enter a final order
consistent with Article III of the United States Constitution.
C.

This is a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(P).

D.

The Liquidators are the “foreign representatives” of GTFF pursuant to 11 U.S.C.

§ 101(24).
E.

The chapter 15 case of GTFF was properly commenced pursuant to 11 U.S.C.

§§ 1504, 1509 and 1515.
F. The Liquidators have satisfied the requirements of 11 U.S.C. § 1515 and Rule
1007(a)(4) of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure.
G.

The Cayman Liquidation is a “foreign proceeding” pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 101(23).

H.

The Cayman Liquidation is entitled to recognition by this Court pursuant to 11

U.S.C. § 1517.
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I.

The Cayman Liquidation is pending in the Cayman Islands, the country where

GTFF’s center of main interests is located, and accordingly the Cayman Liquidation is a foreign
main proceeding pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1502(4), and is entitled to recognition as a foreign main
proceeding pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1517(b)(1).
J.

The Liquidators are entitled to all of the relief provided under 11 U.S.C. § 1520 and

the additional relief provided herein under 11 U.S.C. § 1521.
K.

The relief granted hereby is necessary and appropriate, in the interests of the public

and international comity, consistent with the public policy of the United States, and warranted
pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §§ 1507, 1517, 1520 and 1521.
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED:
1.

That the Petition is granted as set forth herein.

2.

The Cayman Liquidation is recognized as a foreign main proceeding pursuant to 11

U.S.C. §§ 1517(a) and (b)(1).
3.

The relief and protection afforded under 11 U.S.C. § 1520 is hereby granted,

including the application of the automatic stay under section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code to GTFF
and its property in the territorial jurisdiction of the United States; provided, that nothing herein
modifies or limits the exceptions to the automatic stay that are set forth in section 362 or elsewhere
in the Bankruptcy Code. Accordingly, extent to the extent permitted by section 362 or elsewhere in
the Bankruptcy Code, all persons and entities are stayed from:
(a)

executing against GTFF’s property or assets;

(b)

taking or continuing any act to obtain possession of, or exercise control over, the
Liquidators (with respect to GTFF), GTFF, or any of GTFF’s property or assets;
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(c)

taking or continuing any act to create, perfect or enforce a lien or other security
interest, set-off or other claim against the Liquidators (with respect to GTFF), GTFF,
or any of GTFF’s property or assets as of the date of the filing of the Petition, or
otherwise seeking the issuance of or issuing any restraining notice or other process or
encumbrance with respect to GTFF or any of GTFF’s property or assets; and

(d)

transferring, relinquishing or disposing of any property of the Funds to any person or
entity other than the Liquidators.

4.

The Liquidators or any third person acting pursuant to the Liquidators’ instructions

or agreement may transfer funds or property belonging to GTFF into or out of the United States of
America in accordance with their respective obligations to GTFF or under the Cayman Liquidation;
provided, however, that the Liquidators shall file and serve notice at least 14 calendar days prior to
a transfer of funds or property out of the United States (which notice shall describe the property
being transferred) to provide an opportunity for parties in interest to object to such a transfer or to
seek a stay of such a transfer if such parties in interest believe there are grounds for such relief.
Such notice shall be served on all parties who are generally entitled to receive notices in these
proceedings pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002 and, in addition, on any person who has or has
asserted an interest in such property.
5.

The Liquidators are hereby authorized to issue subpoenas in accordance with

applicable procedural rules for the examination of witnesses and/or the production of documents
within the territorial jurisdiction of the United States concerning the assets, affairs, rights,
obligations or liabilities of GTFF and (to the extent relevant) GTFF’s affiliates, including subpoenas
to intermediary banks that process U.S. dollar denominated wire transfers and maintain records of
such transfers; provided, that any subpoenas served pursuant to the authority set forth in this
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paragraph shall be without prejudice to the recipients’ rights to object in accordance with the
applicable procedural rules.
6.

The Liquidators are hereby authorized to take possession and to seek turnover of any

and all documents, records, filings, or other information, however stored, that belongs to GTFF and
that is found in the territorial jurisdiction of the United States.
7.

The Liquidators are authorized to operate the business of GTFF that is the subject of

the Cayman Liquidation and may exercise the powers of a trustee under and to the extent provided
by 11 U.S.C. §§ 1520 and 1521.
8.

The administration or realization of all or part of the assets of GTFF within the

territorial jurisdiction of the United States of America is hereby entrusted to the Liquidators and the
Liquidators are hereby established as the exclusive representatives of GTFF in the United States of
America.
9.

This Court retains jurisdiction with respect to the enforcement, amendment or

modification of this Order, any requests for additional relief or any adversary proceeding brought in
and through this chapter 15 case, and any request by an entity for relief from the provisions of this
Order, for cause shown, that is properly commenced and within the jurisdiction of this Court.
10.

Notwithstanding Bankruptcy Rule 7062, made applicable to this chapter 15 case by

Bankruptcy Rule 1018, the terms and conditions of this Order shall be immediately effective and
enforceable upon its entry, and upon its entry, this Order shall become final and appealable.
Dated: February 19, 2020
New York, New York

s/Michael E. Wiles
THE HONORABLE MICHAEL E. WILES
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE
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Exhibit J

Aaron Javian
Christopher P. Hoffman
Nicole Lech
REED SMITH LLP
599 Lexington Ave
New York, NY 10022
Tel: (212) 521-5400
Counsel to the Foreign Representative
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
In re:
IIG Trade Opportunities Fund N.V.1
Debtor in a Foreign Proceeding.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Chapter 15
Case No.

STATEMENT AND LISTS PURSUANT TO FED. R. BANKR. P
1007(a)(4), 7007.1 AND SECTION 1515(c) OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE
Ms. V. P. Maria LLM, in her capacity as court-appointed bankruptcy trustee of IIG Trade
Opportunities Fund N.V. (“IIG TOF” or the “Fund”), and foreign representative (the “Foreign
Representative” or the “Trustee”) of IIG TOF’s liquidation proceeding (the “Curaçao
Liquidation”) currently pending before the Court of First Instance of Curaçao (the “Curaçao
Court”) pursuant to the Faillissementsbesluit 1931 (as amended, the “Curaçao Bankruptcy
Act”), respectfully submits the information required by Rule 1007(a)(4) of the Federal Rules of
Bankruptcy Procedure.

1

The last four digits of IIG TOF’s company number are (5220). IIG TOF’s registered office is Blenchiweg 23,
Curaçao.

-2-
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Statement Required By Section 1515(c) of the Bankruptcy Code
To the best of my knowledge the only foreign proceedings (as such term is defined in

section 101(23) of the Bankruptcy Code) pending with respect to IIG TOF that is known to me is
the (i) Curaçao Liquidation and (ii) a recognition proceeding that I caused IIG TOF’s counsel in
Malta to commence in late February 2020, before the First Hall of the Civil Court in Malta, to
obtain recognition of the Curaçao Liquidation in Malta
II.

Names and Addresses of All Parties or Bodies
Authorized to Administer Foreign Proceedings of IIG TOF
The following individuals, with the corresponding business address, have been duly

appointed as bankruptcy trustee and foreign representative of IIG TOF:
Valerie P. Maria, LLM
VPM Law
Chuchubiweg 17, Curaçao
III.

Corporate Ownership Statement
The Foreign Representative hereby states that the following corporate entities own 10% or

more of the equity of IIG TOF:
Amigos de Montello, S.A.
Citco Global Custody (NA) NV
Ferd AS
IV.

Parties To Litigation Pending in the United States
The Foreign Representative hereby states that, to the best of her knowledge, the parties to

litigations involving IIG TOF in the United States are:
Party

Type

Plaintiff
IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd.
c/o Christopher Kennedy & Alexander Lawson
Alvarez & Marsal Cayman Islands Ltd.
Flagship Bldg.,
PO Box 2507, 2nd Fl., 70 Harbour Dr.
Cayman Islands KY1-1104

-3-

Pending Litigation
IIG Global Trade Finance Fund
Ltd., et al v. IIG Trade
Opportunities Fund, N.V., Index
No. 557724/2019 (N.Y. Sup.
N.Y. Cty.)
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With a copy to:
John Pintarelli
Morrison & Foerster, LLP
250 W. 55th Street
New York, NY 10019
IIG Structured Trade Finance Fund Ltd.
c/o Arthur Jakoby, Esq.
Herrick Feinstein LLP
Two Park Avenue
New York, NY 10016

Plaintiff

IIG Global Trade Finance Fund
Ltd., et al v. IIG Trade
Opportunities Fund, N.V., Index
No. 557724/2019 (N.Y. Sup.
N.Y. Cty.)

Girobank N.V.
c/o Constance M. Boland
Thompson Hine LLP
335 Madison Avenue, 12th Fl.
New York, NY 10017

Claimant

In the Matter of Girobank N.V.,
et al v. IIG Trade Opportunities
Fund, N.V., ICC Case No.
24098/JPA (Int’l Chamber of
Commerce)

Girobank International N.V.
c/o Constance M. Boland
Thompson Hine LLP
335 Madison Avenue, 12th Fl.
New York, NY 10017
TOF Cayman SPV
c/o Robin A. van Bokhorst
STVB
888 7th Avenue, 29th Fl.
New York, NY 10106

Claimant

In the Matter of Girobank N.V.,
et al v. IIG Trade Opportunities
Fund, N.V., ICC Case No.
24098/JPA (Int’l Chamber of
Commerce)
In the Matter of Girobank N.V.,
et al v. IIG Trade Opportunities
Fund, N.V., ICC Case No.
24098/JPA (Int’l Chamber of
Commerce)

Co-Respondent

Pieter Bekker
CMS (Nominees) Ltd.
Cannon Place
78 Cannon St.
London EC4N 6AF
David Hu
c/o Howard Schiffman & Jason T. Mitchell
Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP
901 Fifteenth St., NW Suite 800
Washington, D.C. 20005

Co-Respondent

-4-

In the Matter of Girobank N.V.,
et al v. IIG Trade Opportunities
Fund, N.V., ICC Case No.
24098/JPA (Int’l Chamber of
Commerce)

20-10666-mew

Doc 3-10

Filed 03/02/20 Entered 03/02/20 13:40:56
Pg 5 of 8

Exhibit J

Martin Silver
c/o Seth Taube & Andrew Behrman
Baker Botts LLP
30 Rockefeller Plaza
New York, NY 10112

Co-Respondent

In the Matter of Girobank N.V.,
et al v. IIG Trade Opportunities
Fund, N.V., ICC Case No.
24098/JPA (Int’l Chamber of
Commerce)

IIG Capital LLC
c/o David Gourevitch
Law Office of David Gourevitch, P.C.
950 Third Avenue, 32nd Fl.
New York, NY 10022

Co-Respondent

In the Matter of Girobank N.V.,
et al v. IIG Trade Opportunities
Fund, N.V., ICC Case No.
24098/JPA (Int’l Chamber of
Commerce)

The International Investment Group LLC
c/o David Gourevitch
Law Office of David Gourevitch, P.C.
950 Third Avenue, 32nd Fl.
New York, NY 10022

Co-Respondent

In the Matter of Girobank N.V.,
et al v. IIG Trade Opportunities
Fund, N.V., ICC Case No.
24098/JPA (Int’l Chamber of
Commerce)

IIG Capital LLC
c/o Derek Adler & Jennifer Suh
Hughes Hubbard & Reed LLP
One Battery Park Plaza
New York, NY 10004

Co-Defendant

Girobank N.V., et al v. IIG
Trade Opportunities Fund, N.V.,
Index No. 652135/2019 (N.Y.
Sup. N.Y. Cty.)

The International Investment Group LLC
c/o Derek Adler & Jennifer Suh
Hughes Hubbard & Reed LLP
One Battery Park Plaza
New York, NY 10004

Co-Defendant

Girobank N.V., et al v. IIG
Trade Opportunities Fund, N.V.,
Index No. 652135/2019 (N.Y.
Sup. N.Y. Cty.)

Securities & Exchange Commission
c/o Philip Andrew Fortino
U.S. Securities & Exchange Commission
200 Vesey Street, Room 400
New York, NY 10281
The International Investment Group LLC
c/o Hannah Miller
Hughes Hubbard & Reed LLP
One Battery Park Plaza
New York, NY 10004

Plaintiff

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)

Defendant

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)

LAM Enhanced Trade Finance Fund L.P.
c/o D. Farrington Yates
Kobre & Kim LLP
800 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10022

Movant

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)

-5-
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Martin Silver
c/o Seth Taube & Andrew Behrman
Baker Botts LLP
30 Rockefeller Plaza
New York, NY 10112

Intervenor
Defendant

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)

David Hu
c/o Barry Bohrer
Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP
901 Fifteenth St., NW Suite 800
Washington, D.C. 20005

Intervenor

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)

IIG Structured Trade Finance Fund Ltd.
c/o Arthur Jakoby, Esq.
Herrick Feinstein LLP
Two Park Avenue
New York, NY 10016
Girobank N.V.
c/o Constance M. Boland
Thompson Hine LLP
335 Madison Avenue, 12th Fl.
New York, NY 10017
Girobank International N.V.
c/o Constance M. Boland
Thompson Hine LLP
335 Madison Avenue, 12th Fl.
New York, NY 10017
TriLinc Global Impact Fund, LLC
c/o Joel Haims
Morrison Foerster
250 W. 55th Street
New York, NY 10019

Interested Party

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)

Interested Party

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)

Interested Party

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)

Interested Party

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)

Employees
c/o Adam C. Ford
Ford O’Brien LLP
575 Fifth Ave., 17th Fl.
New York, NY 10017
Employees #1 and #2
Baker & Hostetler LLP (NYC)
45 Rockefeller Plaza
New York, NY 10111

Intervenor
Defendant

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)

Intervenor
Defendant

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)
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Parties Against Which Provisional Relief Is Sought
The Foreign Representative hereby states that the parties to which provisional relief is

sought are:
Party

Type

Plaintiff
IIG Global Trade Finance Fund Ltd.
c/o Christopher Kennedy & Alexander Lawson
Alvarez & Marsal Cayman Islands Ltd.
Flagship Bldg.,
PO Box 2507, 2nd Fl., 70 Harbour Dr.
Cayman Islands KY1-1104

Pending Litigation
IIG Global Trade Finance Fund
Ltd., et al v. IIG Trade
Opportunities Fund, N.V., Index
No. 557724/2019 (N.Y. Sup.
N.Y. Cty.)

With a copy to:
John Pintarelli
Morrison & Foerster, LLP
250 W. 55th Street
New York, NY 10019
IIG Structured Trade Finance Fund Ltd.
c/o Arthur Jakoby, Esq.
Herrick Feinstein LLP
Two Park Avenue
New York, NY 10016

Plaintiff

IIG Global Trade Finance Fund
Ltd., et al v. IIG Trade
Opportunities Fund, N.V., Index
No. 557724/2019 (N.Y. Sup.
N.Y. Cty.)

Bank Leumi USA
c/o Jordan Derek Weinreich
Sherman Wells Sylvester & Stamelman LLP
1185 Avenue of the Americas, 3rd Floor
New York, NY 10036

Interested Party

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, Index No.
1:19-cv-10796 (Nov. 21, 2019
S.D.N.Y.)

Chaffetz Lindsey
c/o Peter Chaffetz
1700 Broadway, 33rd Floor
New York, NY 10019

Escrow Agent

Girobank N.V.
c/o Constance M. Boland
Thompson Hine LLP
335 Madison Avenue, 12th Fl.
New York, NY 10017

Plaintiff/Claimant

In the Matter of Girobank N.V.,
et al v. IIG Trade Opportunities
Fund, N.V., ICC Case No.
24098/JPA (Int’l Chamber of
Commerce)
Girobank N.V., et al v. IIG
Trade Opportunities Fund, N.V.,
Index No. 652135/2019 (N.Y.
Sup. N.Y. Cty.)
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Plaintiff/Claimant

Exhibit J

In the Matter of Girobank N.V.,
et al v. IIG Trade Opportunities
Fund, N.V., ICC Case No.
24098/JPA (Int’l Chamber of
Commerce)
Girobank N.V., et al v. IIG
Trade Opportunities Fund, N.V.,
Index No. 652135/2019 (N.Y.
Sup. N.Y. Cty.)

Martin Silver
c/o Seth Taube & Andrew Behrman
Baker Botts LLP
30 Rockefeller Plaza
New York, NY 10112

David Hu
c/o Barry Bohrer
Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP
901 Fifteenth St., NW Suite 800
Washington, D.C. 20005

Intervenor/CoDefendant

Intervenor/CoDefendant

Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)
Girobank N.V., et al v. IIG
Trade Opportunities Fund, N.V.,
Index No. 652135/2019 (N.Y.
Sup. N.Y. Cty.)
Securities & Exchange
Commission v. The International
Investment Group, No. 1:19-cv10796 (Nov. 21, 2019 S.D.N.Y.)
Girobank N.V., et al v. IIG
Trade Opportunities Fund, N.V.,
Index No. 652135/2019 (N.Y.
Sup. N.Y. Cty.)

I declare, under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America, that the
information set forth above is based on my current knowledge, information and belief after
reasonable inquiry, and in contemplation of and subject to supplementation, true and correct.
Dated: March 2, 2020
Willemstad, Curacao
/s/ Valerie Maria
Valerie P. Maria LLM
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